UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA AND UNIVERSITY PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES (UPTE) CWA, LOCAL 9119

AGREEMENT

RESEARCH SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS UNIT

July 1, 2008 — June 30, 2013 (Effective March 25, 2010)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>ARTICLE</u>	TITLE	PAGE
1	Access	1
2	Agreement	5
3	Arbitration Procedure	
4	University Benefits	
5	Campus/Laboratory Closure	
6	Compensation	
7	Corrective Action/Discipline and Dismissal	
8	Development and Training	
9	Duration of Agreement	
10	Grievance Procedure	
11	Health and Safety	
12	Holidays	
13	Hours of Work	
14	Indemnification	
15	Labor Management Meetings	
16	Layoff and Reduction in Time	
17	Leaves for Union Business	
18	Leaves of Absence	
19	Management Rights	
20	Medical Separation	
21	Military Leaves	
22	Moving Expenses	
23	Multiple Appointments	
24	No Strikes	
25	Non-discrimination in Employment	
26	Out of Class Pay / Temporary Assignment	
27	Parking	
28	Payroll Deduction	
29	Performance Evaluation	
30	Personnel Files	
31	Positions/Appointments	
32	Probationary Period	
33	Reasonable Accommodation	
34	Release Time for Bargaining	
35	Resignation / Job Abandonment	
36	Respectful and Fair Treatment	
30 37	Severability	
3 <i>1</i> 38	Shift Differential	
30 39		
	Sick Leave	
40	Subcontracting	
41	Transfer / Promotion / Reclassification	
42	Travel Reimbursement	
43	Vacation	
44	Waiver	
45	Work-Incurred Injury or Illness	
46	Work Rules	
47	Uniforms	110
Appendices:		
• •	Rates	
	LBNL Rates	
	Grievance Form	
Appendix D:	Enumeration of Benefits	137
Appendix E:	Parking	140
Appendix F:	2009 Health Plans Employee Contibutions	155

Sideletters:

Removal of Term "Non-Grievable, non-Arbitrable"	157
Campus Resolution Committee	158
University Benefits	159
Local Equity Except LBNL	
Side Letter of Understanding: Article 4-University Benefits	
Agreement-Bargaining Related Requests for Information	162
Settlement Agreement-Unfair Labor Practice Charges	163
Layoff and Reemployment Labor Management Committee	
Memorandum of Negotiators	165
Contract Execution	

ARTICLE 1 ACCESS

A. **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- 1. The parties acknowledge that it is in the union's interest that it be granted access to University facilities for the purposes of ascertaining whether the terms of this Agreement are being met; engaging in the investigation, preparation, and adjustment of grievances; conducting union meetings; explaining to bargaining unit members their rights and responsibilities under the Agreement; and informing bargaining unit employees of union activities. In the interest of facilitating these purposes, and in accordance with local campus/hospital/LBNL procedures, the parties agree to this Article.
- 2. The University has the right to enforce reasonable access rules and regulations as promulgated at each campus/hospital/LBNL.

B. ACCESS BY THE UNION/UNION REPRESENTATIVES - GENERAL PROVISIONS

- Designated union representatives who are not University employees, or who are not employed at the facility visited, may visit the facility at reasonable times and upon notice to discuss with the University or bargaining unit members' matters pertaining to this Agreement. In the case of visits for the purpose of conducting unscheduled meetings with bargaining unit members, the union representative shall give notice upon arrival in accordance with local campus/hospital/LBNL procedures.
- UPTE will furnish the University with a written list of all UPTE representatives, UPTE designated employee representatives and officers who are authorized by the union to conduct union business. This list shall be maintained in a timely manner by UPTE and any changes, additions or deletions to the list must be made in writing to the University.
- Such internal union business as membership recruitment, campaigning for union office, hand billing or other distribution of literature, and all other union activities shall take place during non-work time. Employee rest and meal periods are nonwork time for the purposes of this Article.

4. Patient Care Areas

Union representatives shall have access to patient care areas only as necessary for travel to and from union business. UPTE representatives shall not contact employees in, linger in, or use patient care areas when conducting union business. When the designated campus/hospital/LBNL official and the union representative mutually agree that a visit to a patient care area is necessary to adjust grievances, and contract related issues, access to patient care areas will be granted. "Patient care area" includes:

- a. Chart rooms and rooms that function as or are in the nature of chart rooms;
- b. Nursing stations;
- c. Patient and/or visitor lounges including patient conference rooms, sitting rooms, and solaria;
- d. Libraries or study areas located within patient care areas;
- e. Patient floor and operating room area corridors; and
- f. Patient rooms, operating rooms, laboratories, clinics, and other treatment and patient care areas.

C. **EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES**

1. The University shall recognize UPTE designated employee representatives who are members of the bargaining unit. The function of the UPTE designated employee representative shall be to inform employees of their rights under this

Agreement, to ascertain that the terms and conditions of this Agreement are being observed, and to investigate and assist in the processing of grievances.

- 2. For the purposes of receiving paid release time as provided in this section, UPTE may designate four (4) unit employees as "UPTE designated employee representatives" at each campus/hospital/LBNL Additionally, in the event a campus/hospital/ laboratory has more than two-hundred (200) employees, UPTE may designate one (1) additional UPTE-designated employee representative for each additional one hundred (100) bargaining unit members thereafter, up to a maximum of seven (7) UPTE designated employee representatives. UPTE shall not designate more than one (1) UPTE designated employee representative per department of 100 employees or less. For each additional one-hundred (100) employees, or fraction thereof, in a department UPTE shall be allowed one (1) additional representative in that department.
 - a. The total cumulative use of paid release time for the UPTE designated employee representative shall be limited to ten (10) hours in any one (1) month. University-convened meetings pursuant to Article 10 Grievance Procedure, shall not be deducted from this block of time.
 - b. The use of the maximum of ten (10) hours shall be for health and safety or grievance-related activities such as:
 - 1) Review and discussion with employees and management regarding health and safety issues;
 - 2) the initial hand-delivered filing of a grievance and the retrieval of University documents provided pursuant to a written request for information related to a grievance;
 - one-on-one meetings with a grievant concerning a filed grievance, or an alleged violation of this Agreement which is at the Informal Review stage of Article 10 - Grievance Procedure;
 - 4) meetings with the University representative to whom written grievances are presented or to whom documents related to filed grievance(s) are presented/signed or with whom time limit agreements are achieved;
 - Informal Review meetings held pursuant to Section E. of Article 10Grievance Procedure;
 - c. A request for release time will be made to the UPTE designated employee representative's supervisor prior to the activity. Such approval shall be granted solely on the basis of operational needs and shall not be denied unreasonably.
 - d. At its sole discretion, the University may authorize use of release time for more than ten (10) hours in a month per department. The exercise of this discretion and/or the enforcement by the University of the ten (10) hour maximum shall under no circumstances establish a precedent for the UPTE designated employee representative or department involved nor shall the allowance of greater than ten (10) hours in a month for a UPTE designated employee representative have any effect or bearing on the ability of the University to enforce the ten (10) hour maximum on any other UPTE designated employee representative.
 - e. Should a question of possible abuse of these release time provisions arise, the University will so notify UPTE, and the parties will attempt to resolve the matter. If a question remains, the University may take corrective action when warranted.
 - f. In the event that release time granted under Section C.2.a. above is not sufficient for the representative's duties and additional time is not granted under Section C.2.d. above, the employee representative may elect to use vacation time in accordance with Article 43 Vacation, or leave without pay in accordance with Article 17 Leaves for Union Business.

D. MEETING ROOMS AND BULLETIN BOARDS

- UPTE shall be granted use of general purpose meeting rooms. Such use shall be arranged in accordance with the usual practice for employee organizations and will not be unreasonably denied. Where the usual practice involves providing advance notice to a designated campus/hospital/LBNL, UPTE shall observe such practice. Except for LBNL, room reservations shall not be canceled by the University except where unforeseen circumstances require the room to be used for purposes such as teaching, or patient care-related purposes or staff conferences. If a reserved room is canceled, the University will attempt to provide a comparable alternative.
- 2. UPTE shall have access to general purpose bulletin boards and shall have the use of those bulletin boards subject to campus custom, usage and practice. Any materials posted must be dated and initialed by the union representative responsible for the posting and a copy of all materials posted must be provided to the appropriate University representative at the location at the time of posting. At those locations where the University is responsible for posting material on bulletin boards, the University will post copies of the UPTE-provided material within one (1) business day.

E. MAIL DELIVERY

United States mail which is received by the University bearing an employee name and accurate address will be placed in the employee mailboxes in the normal manner. In departments where employee mailboxes exist, the union shall have reasonable use of them. In departments where individual mailboxes are in a restricted work area, UPTE may make arrangements with the responsible University official in the restricted work area to have the UPTE mail placed in the employee mailboxes. Where mailboxes do not exist for employees, the University will distribute UPTE mail to employees by the normal method.

F. ACCESS TO EMPLOYEE HOME ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBERS

- 1. On a monthly basis, the University shall provide UPTE with an electronic list via File Transfer Protocol (FTP) of all employees in the bargaining unit. The list will include the following: name, title, title code, date of hire, annual salary rate, percentage appointment, appointment type, campus mailing address and hiring unit. In addition, the list will include the home address and telephone number of bargaining unit members unless the employee has specifically requested that the home information not be released. The University will provide UPTE a weekly list of changes (e.g. new hire, corrections, transfers, salary changes) via FTP that have occurred within the bargaining unit.
- 2. The Union will inform bargaining unit employees of their right to designate their home address and telephone number as confidential. Such notice will be provided when the union provides its "Hudson" notice to employees.
- 3. The University will delete from bargaining-unit employees' employment forms the option of withholding home addresses and phone numbers from the Union.
- 4. Upon written request by UPTE, the University will provide the undisclosed home addresses to a mutually agreed-upon mailing service firm through which UPTE can correspond with said individuals. The mailing service shall keep confidential the home address of the employees who have requested that the home information not be released. UPTE will bear all costs associated with this service.
- 5. Employee work and home addresses and telephone numbers shall be maintained as confidential by the Union. The Union shall take all reasonable steps to ensure the confidentiality of all information provided to it under this Article.
- 6. The Union agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the University of California (including its subdivisions and employees) from any claim, suit or liability of any nature arising from (a) a challenge to this Section F.; or (b) any action of the Union taken pursuant to, or in violation of, this Section F. The

Regents will give the Union prompt written notice of any claim, suit or liability which it contends is subject to this provision.

7. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL)

The Laboratory shall continue to provide its monthly list and change list on a weekly basis.

G. PRINTING AND DISTRIBUTION OF AGREEMENT

- 1. A copy of this Agreement shall be given by the University to each employee in the Bargaining Unit. The University and UPTE shall split the cost of printing contracts for unit members. In addition, the parties shall each pay for the number of copies they need for administrative and other purposes.
- 2. The University shall provide UPTE a copy of the tentative agreement language in digital format within fourteen (14) calendar days of reaching tentative agreement. A camera-ready copy will be provided to UPTE within thirty (30) calendar days from the parties' agreement of the final text. Within twenty (20) calendar days of UPTE's receipt of the camera-ready copy, UPTE shall confirm the final copy or meet with the University to review corrections. The University shall then deliver the agreed upon camera-ready copy. Within twenty (20) calendar days of receipt of the "blue line", the University shall notify UPTE to meet and review the "blue line". At that time, UPTE shall pay the University one-half (1/2) of the estimated cost of the agreement for the unit members. Upon receipt of full payment from UPTE, each location shall distribute the agreement to members of the unit within ninety (90) calendar days.

H. TELEPHONE

Employee representatives may use University telephones for the purpose of conducting union business which is specifically authorized by Article 10 - Grievance Procedure. Employees are responsible for paying any costs associated with such telephone usage in accordance with the departmental procedures in effect at the time. The frequency and duration of permitted phone calls shall not be such as to interfere with or disrupt the employee's completion of work assignments, nor impair the efficiency of University operations. The University may audit employee representatives' use of the telephone system to the same extent as it may audit other employees' use of such equipment.

I. E-MAIL USE

UPTE designated employee representatives may use their University e-mail account for the purpose of conducting union business which is specifically authorized by Article 10 - Grievance Procedure. The use of email accounts shall be protected as outlined in the University's Electronic Communication Policy or RPM 9.01 Computing and Networking as of May 2001 at LBNL. Such use shall also conform to and be in accordance with applicable University policy regarding electronic mail/electronic communications.

J. CAMPUS-WIDE NEW EMPLOYEE ORIENTATION

- 1. The University shall notify UPTE in advance of scheduled new employee orientations, if any, upon request of the local UPTE representative.
- 2. At the University's new employee orientations, if any, packets of information supplied by UPTE, which may include information about the time and location of the UPTE meeting, shall be made available. Employees may attend UPTE's meeting on non-work time, such as lunch or break times.
- 3. UPTE shall be permitted to meet with the new bargaining unit employees according to campus/hospital/LBNL timetables and practices immediately after new employee orientation sessions, if any, for the purpose of sharing information with new bargaining unit employees.
- 4. The University and UPTE agree to meet and discuss on a campus/hospital/LBNL basis over arrangements to accomplish the goals of this section.

ARTICLE 2 AGREEMENT

This Agreement, effective March 25, 2010, is entered into between The Regents of the University of California, a corporation (hereinafter referred to as the "University", or "management", or "employer"), represented by the Office of the President of the University of California system, and University Professional and Technical Employees - Communications Workers of America Local 9119 union, (hereinafter referred to as "UPTE" or the "union"), pursuant to the provisions of the Higher Education Employer-Employee Relations Act (HEERA).

A. PURPOSE

- It is the intent and purpose of the parties that this Agreement constitutes an implementation of the provisions of HEERA, and provides for orderly and constructive employment relations in the public interest, in the interests of the employees represented by UPTE, and in the interests of the University.
- 2. The parties hereby acknowledge that this Agreement represents an amicable understanding reached by the parties as a result of the unlimited right and opportunity of the parties to make any and all demands with respect to employer-employee relationship that exists between them relative to the scope of bargaining.

B. EXCLUSIVE REPRESENTATIVE

The University recognizes UPTE-CWA 9119, which was certified by the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) on April 15, 1996 in SF-PC-1051-H as the sole and exclusive representative for the purposes of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment for all employees, excluding employees defined by HEERA as managerial, supervisory and/or confidential and all student employees whose employment is contingent upon their status as students, in the bargaining unit.

C. EMPLOYEE DEFINED

The term "employee" as used in this Agreement shall refer to employees of the University of California, including Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL), in the unit except for those excluded pursuant to B., above.

The classifications and title codes included in the unit are listed in Appendix A.

D. CREATION OF NEW CLASSIFICATIONS

- 1. UPTE recognizes that the University has the exclusive right to establish new title codes and titles for any individual, position, or title included in or excluded from the bargaining unit, as defined in Section B. of this Article. The University shall advise UPTE of any such new title/title code.
- 2. When the University creates a new classification and title within the bargaining unit, the University shall provide a notice to UPTE of the classification's bargaining unit assignment at least sixty (60) calendar days before the proposed date of implementation. The notice to the union shall include a statement of reason(s) for the creation of the new classification. UPTE shall have thirty (30) calendar days after mailing of such notice to contest the University's assignment of the newly created classification/title to the bargaining unit. Employees shall not be placed in the new classification/title until the thirty (30) day notice period is complete. If UPTE does not contest the bargaining unit assignment of the newly created position within the thirty (30) calendar day notice period, the unit assignment of the new classification shall be deemed agreeable to the parties and employees shall be assigned to the newly created classification.
 - a. If the new classification is in the bargaining unit in accordance with the provisions of Section D.1. above, the University and UPTE shall meet and confer regarding the salary range and ancillary pay practices for that new classification, except that the salary rate for a newly established Per Diem position shall be in accordance with the provisions of Article 31 Positions/Appointments.

- b. If UPTE contests the bargaining unit assignment of the newly created classification/title within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the University's notice was mailed, the University and UPTE shall meet and confer in an effort to reach agreement on the bargaining unit assignment for the classification. If the parties are unable to reach agreement regarding the bargaining unit assignment of the title/classification, the dispute shall be submitted to PERB for resolution.
- c. No employees shall be assigned to the newly established classification or title until the bargaining unit assignment is either agreed to or resolved by PERB, although the duties associated with the position may be assigned to the affected employees.
- 3. When the University creates a new classification and title outside the bargaining unit the University shall mail a notice to UPTE of the classification's bargaining unit assignment, if any. UPTE shall notify the University within thirty (30) calendar days of the mailing of the notice if UPTE intends to challenge the University's bargaining unit assignment of the new title and classification. The parties will meet to discuss UPTE's concerns. Following the discussions, any unresolved disputes may be submitted to PERB for resolution.

E. RECLASSIFICATION FROM UNIT TO NON-UNIT POSITIONS

In the event the University determines that a position or title should be reclassified or designated for exclusion from the unit, or the University intends to replace the major portion of a bargaining unit position with a position in a classification outside of the unit, the University shall notify UPTE in writing at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the proposed implementation. If UPTE determines to challenge the University's proposed action, it shall notify the University in writing within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the University's notice was mailed, and the proposed effective date will be extended by thirty (30) calendar days. During such an extension, the parties will meet and discuss the University's proposed action. If the parties are unable to reach agreement regarding the University's proposed action, the University may commence PERB unit modification procedures, as outlined under PERB regulations. Until the bargaining unit assignment is either agreed to by the parties or finally resolved through the PERB unit modification procedures:

- 1. the affected position(s) or title(s) shall remain in the unit and shall remain covered by all provisions of this agreement
- 2. the University may, in compliance with Article 6 Compensation, Section G. Other Increases of this Agreement, increase compensation for the affected position(s) or title(s), and
- 3. the duties associated with the proposed reclassification may be assigned to the affected employee(s).

F. ABOLITION OF CLASSIFICATIONS

The University shall inform UPTE when classifications are abolished. The University will provide UPTE with sixty (60) calendar days notice of its intent to abolish a classification. The notice to the Union shall include a statement of the reason(s) for the abolition. In the event employees will be affected by the abolition of a classification, the University and UPTE shall, following the request of UPTE, meet and confer about such effects at least thirty (30) days before the intended date of implementation unless the parties agree otherwise. The University shall not abolish the classification unless the parties have reached agreement through the meet and confer process over effects of the decision, or conclusion of the impasse process.

ARTICLE 3 ARBITRATION

A. GENERAL CONDITIONS

- 1. An appeal to arbitration may be made only by the union and only after the timely exhaustion of Article 10 Grievance Procedure. The appeal to arbitration must be signed by the President of UPTE-CWA Local 9119 or his/her designee, and filed with the Office of Labor Relations, Office of the President.
 - a. When hand delivered, proof of service must accompany the appeal to arbitration. The date of receipt will be used to determine the date of the appeal for hand-delivered appeals.
 - b. When mailed, the appeal must arrive in an envelope with a U.S. Postal Service Postmark. The U.S. Postal Service Postmark will be used to determine the date of the appeal for mailed appeals.
- 2. For the purposes of this Article, time limits are calculated in calendar days, and deadlines which fall on a day which is not a University/campus business day will automatically be extended to the next business day. All time limits may be extended by written agreement of the parties in advance of the expiration of the time limit. The union's failure to meet any time limit, or extension to a time limit, will render the Appeal to Arbitration ineligible for further processing and the University's Step 3 answer will be considered final.
- 3. If the appeal to arbitration is withdrawn or an arbitration hearing otherwise does not take place, the University's Step 3 answer will be considered final.
- 4. The decision of the arbitrator on any issue properly before her/him shall be final and binding.
- 5. An appeal to arbitration shall not prohibit efforts by the University and UPTE to resolve the grievance during the time the appeal is pending and until such time that an arbitrator has rendered her/his decision.
- 6. UPTE shall have full authority to settle, withdraw or otherwise dispose of any grievance brought on behalf of the union and/or on the behalf of employees. An agreement by the parties to settle, withdraw, or otherwise dispose of a grievance appealed to arbitration shall be binding upon the grievant(s).
- 7. Where two (2) or more grievances are appealed to arbitration, all grievances by or related to the same employee(s), or grievances which relate to the same incident, issue or course of action, may be consolidated by agreement of the parties.

8. Time Limits

a. Initial Filing

An appeal to arbitration must be filed within thirty (30) calendar days of the issuance of the University's Step 3 decision to the union. Appeals which do not contain the appropriate union signature will be considered ineligible for appeal to arbitration.

b. University Acknowledgment of Receipt

Within fifteen (15) calendar days of the postmark or, in the case of hand delivery the date of receipt, of the union's appeal to arbitration, the University shall mail to the union an acknowledgment of the receipt of the appeal and the identity of the location to which all relevant correspondence should be directed.

c. Scheduling of the Hearing Date

Within ninety (90) calendar days from the date the grievance was originally appealed to arbitration, the parties shall select an arbitrator and

schedule an arbitration date. Should the parties be unable to agree to a hearing date, the authority to schedule the hearing rests with the arbitrator. The parties may extend the ninety (90) day limit for scheduling the arbitration by mutual written agreement in advance of the expiration of the time limit. In such cases the arbitrator shall be provided with a copy of the written agreement.

d. UPTE Request that a Grievance Be Placed in Abeyance

Should UPTE make a request that the grievance be placed in abeyance for any reason, the period of abeyance shall not exceed ninety (90) days, except in cases of sexual harassment where it shall be one-hundred-eighty (180) days. The provisions of Section H.1. shall apply to grievances placed in abeyance by UPTE. Failure by UPTE to reactivate the grievance within the ninety (90) or one-hundred-eighty (180) day time limit following agreement by the parties that it be held in abeyance will render the grievance ineligible for arbitration and the last preceding University written answer shall become final.

9. An appeal of an expedited grievance to arbitration may be made only by UPTE in accordance with this section. Requests for arbitration under the expedited grievance, Article 10 - Grievance Procedure, Section F.2.e. must include a copy of the completed grievance form.

B. **DEFINITIONS**

For the purposes of this Article, the terms:

- 1. **"Grievant"** means any employee covered by this contract who has a grievance or complaint (as defined by this Article);
- 2. **"Witness"**, for the purposes of release time, means any employee covered by this contract who is serving as a witness in a grievance proceeding;
- 3. **"Employee Representative"** means any employee covered by this contract who is a designated union representative of UPTE, in accordance with the provisions of Article 1 Access; and
- 4. **"UPTE Representative"** means any person who is a non-university employee acting in the interest of or on behalf of UPTE.
- 5. "The Parties" means the University and
 - a. the grievant; and/or
 - b. the "UPTE representative" or the "employee representative" serving as the grievant's representative.

C. EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATION

Union representation at the arbitration hearing may consist of up to two (2) representatives, with only one (1) of the two (2) representatives being eligible for without-loss-of-straight-time-pay status. Only one (1) of these individuals may be designated as the employee advocate for the course of the hearing.

D. SELECTION OF ARBITRATOR

Within forty-five (45) calendar days of the date of the appeal to arbitration, the arbitrator shall be selected using the following permanent panel procedures:

- 1. On a case by case basis, the parties may agree to the selection of any qualified and available person to serve as an arbitrator. Absent such agreement, the parties may agree to the selection of an arbitrator from their respective panel.
- 2. In the event the parties cannot agree to an arbitrator, the parties shall select the names of seven (7) arbitrators from the appropriate panel, as provided in Section L.6. below, by blind lot. The parties shall then alternately strike one (1) name

- each from the seven names. The first strike will be determined by a flip of a coin, and the last name remaining shall be the arbitrator.
- 3. If both parties disagree with the arbitrator who has been selected, the process shall be repeated once in its entirety.
- 4. A separate arbitrator shall be selected for each grievance appealed to arbitration, unless the parties agree otherwise in writing.
- 5. The parties may agree in writing to extend the forty-five (45) day limit for selecting the arbitrator. Failure to select the arbitrator within forty-five (45) calendar days, or to achieve a written extension of the time period, will render the appeal to arbitration ineligible for further processing and the University's Step 3 answer will be considered final.
- 6. If UPTE initiates the selection process in writing to the University with a preferred arbitrator from the arbitration panel and there is no written University response by the deadline for selection of the arbitrator (forty-five [45] days from UPTE's appeal to arbitration), then the UPTE choice shall be final unless UPTE initiates the selection process within fifteen (15) business days of the deadline for selection of the arbitrator. In such case, the University shall have fifteen (15) business days to respond to UPTE's choice of an arbitrator and the period for scheduling the arbitration hearing shall be extended by ten (10) business days.
- 7. All arbitrability disputes, substantive or procedural, shall be subject to arbitration under this Article 3 including disputes arising from University claims that UPTE has lost the right to pursue arbitration of a pending grievance because of untimely processing or that the grievance is ineligible for further processing.
- 8. The process set forth herein to pursue an arbitrability hearing when the University claims that UPTE has failed to select an arbitrator in a timely manner shall be the exclusive process for such purpose, superceding and/or replacing any other claimed process.
- 9. When the University refuses to proceed to arbitration on a grievance on the grounds that UPTE has failed to participate in the selection of arbitrators in a timely manner as required by Article 3, Section D.5. of the contract, only UPTE will make a demand for arbitration of that issue in writing to the Office of the President within thirty (30) days of the postmark of the campus notification to the union that the case is ineligible for further processing.

E. SCOPE OF ARBITRATION

- 1. Unless there is an agreement by both parties to modify the scope of the hearing, the issue(s) to be heard by the arbitrator shall solely and in its entirety be restricted to the issue(s) stated by Step 3. Issues or allegations which were known or should have been known to either party but not introduced by the Step 3 process shall not be introduced by either party at the arbitration hearing, except as provided in Section E.2. below.
- When practicable, the University shall inform UPTE in writing of its intent to 2. assert the issue of arbitrability prior to the selection of the arbitrator in its Acknowledgement of receipt, according to Section A.8.b. above. The issue(s) of arbitrability shall be resolved in a hearing prior to and separate from the hearing (if any) about the substantive facts and/or allegations in dispute, except as provided in Section E.3. below. In such case, the parties shall use the selection process described in Section D. above to select two arbitrators. arbitrator will be selected to hear the issues of arbitrability, and the second arbitrator will be selected to decide the merits of the case if the issues are determined to be arbitrable. Unless either party requests a full and complete arbitration proceeding on the arbitrability issue, the first arbitrator shall issue either a bench decision, or upon either party's request, a written decision within seven (7) calendar days of the completion of the arbitrability hearing. In the event that the first arbitrator, as a result of the hearing referenced above determines a matter to be arbitrable, the first arbitrator shall have no authority to decide the issues pursuant to the merits of the case. A hearing on the merits of the case will be scheduled with the second arbitrator, unless the parties agree otherwise.

- 3. If, following the University's acknowledgement of UPTE's appeal to arbitration in Section A.8.b. the University raises for the first time issue(s) of arbitrability a single hearing on the issue of arbitrability and the substantive facts will be held, unless the parties agree otherwise. If the arbitrator finds the grievance to be not arbitrable, the substantive facts of the case need not be heard and the grievance shall be denied. If the arbitrator finds in favor of arbitrability, the hearing shall proceed to the substantive issues raised.
- 4. Section E.1. and Section E.2. above shall not prevent the parties from agreeing in writing to combine the arbitrability hearing with the hearing on the merits of the case.
- 5. If the union requests a postponement of the scheduled arbitration hearing following the University's raising issue(s) of arbitrability, the hearings on arbitrability and facts, if any, shall be separate, and the provisions of Section E.3. above, shall apply.

F. ARBITRATION PROCEEDING

- 1. The parties will attempt to agree on a location for the arbitration hearing.
- 2. The arbitration hearing shall be closed to anyone other than the participants in the arbitration hearing, unless the parties otherwise agree in writing.
- 3. The arbitration hearing shall provide an opportunity for UPTE and the University to examine and cross-examine witnesses under oath or affirmation, and to submit relevant evidence.
- 4. Settlement offers made any time during the Grievance and/or Arbitration Procedure shall not be introduced as evidence in the arbitration hearing.
- 5. Either or both parties may, at their discretion, file briefs with the arbitrator. The order and time limits of briefing shall, on a case-by-case basis, be as agreed upon by the parties or as specified by the arbitrator. Briefing time limits shall be extended by the Arbitrator upon the agreement of both parties.
- 6. The arbitrator shall consider the evidence presented and render a written decision within thirty (30) calendar days of the close of the record of the hearing.
- 7. In all cases appealed to arbitration pursuant to the terms of this Article and this Agreement, UPTE has the burden of initiating the steps in the procedure. With the exception of those cases in which the issue is that of actions taken by the University pursuant to Article 7 Corrective Action / Discipline and Dismissal, UPTE shall have the burden of proof. The burden of proof in cases in which the issue is that of actions taken by the University pursuant to Article 7 Corrective Action / Discipline and Dismissal, shall be the University's.
- 8. Prior to the hearing, the parties may endeavor to exchange the names of known witnesses and relevant materials to be introduced at the hearing.

G. AUTHORITY OF THE ARBITRATOR

- 1. The arbitrator's authority shall be limited to determining whether the University has violated the provision(s) of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall not have jurisdiction or authority to add to, amend, modify, nullify or ignore in any way the provisions of this Agreement and shall not make any award which would, in effect, grant UPTE or the employee(s) any terms which were not obtained in the negotiation process.
- 2. The arbitrator shall have the authority to subpoen documents and to require the attendance of witnesses upon the reasonable request of either party but not upon his/her own motion.
- 3. The expense of service and appearance fees, if any, shall be borne entirely by the party requesting the subpoena of witnesses and each party shall, in advance of the hearing date, inform the other party of the identity of witnesses it subpoenaed.

4. The arbitrator shall have the obligation of assuring that all necessary facts and considerations are brought before her or him by the representatives of the parties at the hearing. In all respects s/he shall assure that the hearing is a fair one. The arbitrator shall be the sole judge of the relevancy and materiality of the evidence and testimony offered. The arbitrator may receive and consider evidence but shall give appropriate weight to any objections made. All documents to be considered by the arbitrator shall be filed at the hearing, or within the post-hearing time lines agreed to by the parties during the hearing.

H. ARBITRATION REMEDIES

- 1. No remedy by an arbitrator with respect to any grievance which shall be submitted to her/him shall in any case be made retroactive to a date earlier than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the filing of the Step 1 grievance, except for the correction of mathematical, calculation, recording or accounting errors relating to the payment of wages. For grievances involving the correction of mathematical, calculation, recording or accounting errors relating to the payment of wages, an award of an arbitrator shall not in any case be made retroactive to a date earlier than three (3) years prior to the initiation of the written grievance in Step 1 of the Grievance Procedure. Additionally, no remedy shall be provided for any period of time during the grievance and/or arbitration procedure for which an extension of time limits has been granted at the request of UPTE; any period of time between the date a hearing was originally scheduled to be held, and due to a request from UPTE to postpone or change the scheduled hearing, the rescheduled date of the hearing; or any time an employee was on strike.
- 2. In any decision of a grievance appealed to arbitration involving retroactive payments, the appropriate University and UPTE representatives shall expeditiously determine the identity of the payees and the specific amount owed each payee. Such amount of payment shall be final and no employee or group of employees may subsequently grieve the amounts owed.
- 3. Remedies involving monetary payment and/or credit shall be limited in their calculation to the utilization of the employee's actual and appropriate wage or benefit amount at the time of the violation and shall not include the awarding of interest or any other payment/credit unrelated to a University benefit amount or the employee's hourly wage.
- 4. Upon the motion of either party, or at his or her own discretion, an arbitrator may retain jurisdiction in cases involving an award of retroactive monetary payment and/or credit.
- 5. If the grievance is sustained in whole or in part, the remedy shall not exceed restoring to the employee the pay, benefits or rights lost less any compensation from any source, including but not limited to Workers' Compensation, Unemployment Compensation or other employment.

I. COST OF ARBITRATION

- 1. The cost of the arbitrator and expenses of the hearing will be shared equally by the University and UPTE. If either party requests that a stenographic record of the hearing be made and/or transcripts of the stenographic record or a taped record be provided, the parties shall equally share the entire cost of such service and the cost of the provision of a transcript to each party and the arbitrator.
- 2. In the event either party requests the cancellation or postponement of a scheduled arbitration proceeding which causes an arbitrator to impose a cancellation or postponement fee, the party requesting such cancellation or postponement shall bear the full cost of the cancellation/postponement fee. In the event the parties agree to settle or postpone the arbitration during the period of time in which the arbitrator will charge a cancellation/postponement fee, the parties will equally bear the cost of the fee, unless the parties agree otherwise.

J. PAY STATUS

- 1. The grievant, as defined in Article 10 Grievance Procedure, Section A.4.a, (one (1) grievant in a group grievance) shall be in a without-loss-of-straight-time-pay status at the arbitration hearing.
- 2. The University and UPTE shall establish a reasonable schedule for witness(es)' testimony at the arbitration proceeding. Employee witnesses who appear at the arbitration hearing at the request of UPTE shall be in a without-loss-of-straight-time-pay status for the time spent actually giving testimony or waiting to testify in accordance with the established schedule. Every effort shall be made by UPTE to avoid the presentation of repetitive witnesses.
- 3. Total release time for the grievant, employee representative and witness(es) for travel to/from the hearing and for participation in the hearing shall not exceed either their normally scheduled hours of work for the day(s) of the hearing or their actual participation in the hearing. Participants shall travel to/from the hearing via the most reasonable method of transportation available.
- 4. Not more than one (1) employee representative will be released in without-loss-of-straight-time-pay status for attendance at any one (1) arbitration hearing.
- 5. The University shall not be responsible for any lodging, travel expenses or other expenses incurred by grievants, witnesses, employee or UPTE representatives with regard to the union's presentation in the arbitration hearing.

K. EXPEDITED ARBITRATION

The parties may agree to use an expedited form of arbitration, to be agreed to by the parties and the arbitrator.

L. ARBITRATION PANEL

- 1. The parties will make an attempt to agree on the panel of thirty (30) arbitrators, with fifteen (15) on a Northern Panel, and fifteen (15) on a Southern Panel. Nothing shall preclude the parties from including an arbitrator on both the Northern and Southern lists. If agreement cannot be reached on the names of the arbitrators on each list, the remaining number of arbitrators needed to complete a panel will be selected alternately by the parties. The party selecting first shall be determined by a flip of a coin.
- 2. After one (1) year from the date the panel members were initially selected, and annually thereafter, each party shall have the right to eliminate up to one (1) arbitrator from the panel. A party exercising this right shall notify the other party in writing of the name of the arbitrator to be stricken from the panel.
- 3. In replacing arbitrators who were eliminated from the panel, the procedure in Section L.1. shall be used again, but any arbitrator eliminated in Section L.2. above, may not be placed back on the panel until at least one (1) year from the date on which such arbitrator was stricken.
- 4. In the event one (1) vacancy in the panel of arbitrators occurs, other than the elimination of an Arbitrator by the parties pursuant to Section L.3. above, such vacancy may be filled by the parties within thirty (30) calendar days, using the procedures in Section L.1. and 2. above, if the parties agree that a replacement is necessary. In the event more than one vacancy in the panel of arbitrators occurs, such vacancy shall be filled by the parties within thirty (30) calendar days by using the procedures in Section L.1. and 2. above, unless both parties agree that no replacement is necessary prior to the annual panel review.
- 5. The Northern list of arbitrators shall be used for arbitrations arising at the Davis, the Office of the President, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, San Francisco, Santa Cruz and Merced locations unless the parties agree to use an arbitrator from the Southern panel. The Southern list of arbitrators shall be used for arbitrations arising at the Santa Barbara, Los Angeles, Irvine, Riverside, and San Diego locations, unless the parties agree to use an arbitrator from the Northern panel.

6. The Lists of Arbitrators are:

a. Northern List of Arbitrators:	b. Southern List of Arbitrators:		
Charles Askin			
	Howard Block		
31 Loma Vista	Wellington Plaza Suite G		
Walnut Creek, CA 94597	505 East First Street		
Ph (925) 934-1929 Fax (925) 472-0408	Tustin, CA 92780		
D . D	(714) 544-3323 - Telephone & Fax		
Bonnie Bogue	Joseph Gentile		
3020 El Cerrito Plaza, #411	P. O. Box 7418		
El Cerrito, CA 94530	Thousand Oaks, CA 91359-7418		
Ph (510) 527-7205 Fax (510) 527-7205	Ph (805) 499-4282 Fax (805) 499-0018		
Luella Nelson	R. Douglas Collins		
4096 Piedmont Avenue, #159	Post Office Box 4399		
Piedmont, CA 94611	West Hills, CA 91308-4399		
Ph (510) 658-4959 Fax (510) 658-9423	(818)716-8969 - Telephone & Fax		
Paul Staudohar	Louis Zigman		
1140 Brown Avenue	473 South Holt Avenue		
Lafayette, CA 94549	Los Angeles, CA 90048		
Ph (510) 885-3080 Fax (510) 885-4796	Ph (310) 556-3748 Fax (310) 550-8439		
John Kagel	Kenneth A. Perea		
P.O. Box 50787	P.O. Box 2788		
Palo Alto, CA 94303	Del Mar, CA 92014-2788		
Ph (650) 325-0389 Fax (650) 325-4394	Ph (619) 481-5191 Fax (619) 481-0149		
Gerald Mc Kay	Fred Horowitz		
P.O. Box 406	P.O. Box 3613		
Burlingame, CA 94011-0406	Santa Monica, CA 90408-3613		
Ph (650) 588-6655 Fax (650) 340-1511	Ph (310) 829-6064 Fax (310) 449-1049		
Frank Silver	Bonnie Bogue		
385 Grand Avenue, Suite 201	3020 El Cerrito Plaza, #411		
Oakland, CA 94610	El Cerrito, CA 94530		
Ph (510) 839-8525 Fax (510) 444-3604	Ph (510) 527-7205 Fax (510) 527-7205		
Kathleen Kelly	Ed Edelman		
400 Capital Mall, 27 th Floor	516 Warner Avenue		
Sacramento, CA 95814	Los Angeles, CA 90024		
Ph (916) 321-4500	Ph (310) 474-3794 Fax (310) 475-8782		
Alexander Cohn	George Marshall		
P. O. Box 4006	854 Pico Boulevard		
Napa, CA 94558	Santa Monica, CA 90405		
Ph (707) 226-7096 Fax (707) 252-4067	Ph (310) 463-7002 Fax (310) 234-8247		
Phil Tamoush	Luella Nelson		
P.O. Box 1128	4096 Piedmont Avenue #159		
Torrance, CA 90505	Oakland, CA 94611		
Ph (800) 747-9245 Fax (800) 903-4266	Ph (510) 658-4959 Fax (510) 658-9423		
(310) 540-4978 – Home			
Neil Herring	David Hart		
503 Sandretto Dr.	1350 Front Street, Room 4060		
Sebastopol, CA 95472	San Diego, CA 92101		
Ph (707) 823-9418	Ph (619) 525-4231		
Barry Winograd	Barry Winograd		
Lake Merritt Plaza	Lake Merritt Plaza		
1999 Harrison Street, Suite 1400	1999 Harrison Street, Suite 1400		
Oakland, CA 94612	Oakland, CA 94612		
Ph (510) 475-5000 Fax (510) 273-8746	Ph (510) 475-5000 Fax (510) 273-8746		
Fred Horowitz	Bonnie Castrey		
	P.O. Box 5007		
P.O. Box 3613			
Santa Monica, CA 90408-3613	Huntington Beach, CA 92615		
Santa Monica, CA 90408-3613 Ph (310) 829-6064 Fax (310) 449-1049	Huntington Beach, CA 92615 Ph (714) 963-7114 Fax (714) 963-2395		
Santa Monica, CA 90408-3613 Ph (310) 829-6064 Fax (310) 449-1049 Robin Matt	Huntington Beach, CA 92615 Ph (714) 963-7114 Fax (714) 963-2395 Robin Matt		
Santa Monica, CA 90408-3613 Ph (310) 829-6064 Fax (310) 449-1049 Robin Matt 1575 Spinnaker Drive, Suite 105B #152	Huntington Beach, CA 92615 Ph (714) 963-7114 Fax (714) 963-2395 Robin Matt 1575 Spinnaker Drive, Suite 105B #152		
Santa Monica, CA 90408-3613 Ph (310) 829-6064 Fax (310) 449-1049 Robin Matt 1575 Spinnaker Drive, Suite 105B #152 Ventura, CA 93001	Huntington Beach, CA 92615 Ph (714) 963-7114 Fax (714) 963-2395 Robin Matt 1575 Spinnaker Drive, Suite 105B #152 Ventura, CA 93001		
Santa Monica, CA 90408-3613 Ph (310) 829-6064 Fax (310) 449-1049 Robin Matt 1575 Spinnaker Drive, Suite 105B #152 Ventura, CA 93001 Ph (805) 650-1729	Huntington Beach, CA 92615 Ph (714) 963-7114 Fax (714) 963-2395 Robin Matt 1575 Spinnaker Drive, Suite 105B #152 Ventura, CA 93001 Ph (805) 650-1729		
Santa Monica, CA 90408-3613 Ph (310) 829-6064 Fax (310) 449-1049 Robin Matt 1575 Spinnaker Drive, Suite 105B #152 Ventura, CA 93001 Ph (805) 650-1729 Norman Brand	Huntington Beach, CA 92615 Ph (714) 963-7114 Fax (714) 963-2395 Robin Matt 1575 Spinnaker Drive, Suite 105B #152 Ventura, CA 93001 Ph (805) 650-1729 Norman Brand		
Santa Monica, CA 90408-3613 Ph (310) 829-6064 Fax (310) 449-1049 Robin Matt 1575 Spinnaker Drive, Suite 105B #152 Ventura, CA 93001 Ph (805) 650-1729	Huntington Beach, CA 92615 Ph (714) 963-7114 Fax (714) 963-2395 Robin Matt 1575 Spinnaker Drive, Suite 105B #152 Ventura, CA 93001 Ph (805) 650-1729		

a. Northern List of Arbitrators:	b. Southern List of Arbitrators:
San Francisco, CA 94111	San Francisco, CA 94111
Ph (415) 982-7172 Fax (415) 982-8021	Ph (415) 982-7172 Fax (415) 982-8021

ARTICLE 4 UNIVERSITY BENEFITS

A. HEALTH AND WELFARE GENERAL CONDITIONS – Part I

- Eligible employees may participate in a number of benefits programs generally 1. available to other eligible staff employees of the University and non-represented employees at LBNL. The University health and welfare plans provide an annual open enrollment period during which eligible employees may elect to change Open enrollment provides an opportunity for plan or coverage options. employees to choose among plans due to changes in circumstances of the employees, changes in the coverage and costs of each plan, and changes in plan availability which may change from year to year. The University may, at its option, alter its health and welfare programs. Such alterations include, but are not limited to altering eligibility criteria, establishing new coverage, altering or deleting current coverage, altering employee and University rates of contribution, changing the carrier for established plans or programs, or changing the administrator of such plans. In the event the University makes such alterations, the changes will apply to employees eligible for benefits within the unit in the same manner as they apply to other eligible staff employees at the same campus or non-represented employees at LBNL. The sole exceptions to the above shall be 1) any alterations proposed by the University which affect only bargaining unit employees, and 2) if at any point in the course of calendar years 2011, 2012, 2013, the aggregate amount of increases to the employee's portion of premium cost is proposed to increase more than eighteen percent (18%) for any one of the categories in Payband 1 (one), (See Section A.4. below), for either Kaiser or Health Net, in such case, the University agrees to meet and confer with respect to the proposed change(s) in accordance with specific provisions outlined in the Duration Article addressing conditional re-opener negotiations.
- 2. Costs that exceed University contributions, and employee costs for plans to which the University does not contribute, are to be paid by bargaining unit members, normally through payroll deduction.
- 3. The University and the employees shall pay the amount appropriate to the employee's pay band and the employee's selected coverage category (single, adult +child[ren], two adults, or family) and medical plan.
- 4. Payband placement for any year is based on the employee's January 1 full-time annualized salary as of the previous year. For example, for the 2010 calendar year, the placement is based on the employee's January 1, 2009 full-time annualized salary. Such salary includes stipends paid on January 1, but does not include shift differentials or other ancillary pay.
- 5. Appendix F contains the monthly contributions to be paid in the calendar year 2010 by employees in the bargaining unit depending upon the medical plan they have selected, their coverage category and their applicable payband.

B. EFFECT OF ABSENCES FROM WORK ON BENEFITS

1. Temporary Layoff/Temporary Reduction In Time/Furlough

Health plan contributions by the University will be provided for unit employees, in accordance with Section A.3. above, when the employee is affected by the following conditions lasting up to (four) 4 months: a temporary layoff; a temporary reduction in time below the hours required to be eligible for health benefits; or a furlough. For health benefits to remain in force, employees on temporary layoff or furlough must comply with the terms of the applicable benefit documents, rules and/or regulations.

2. Military Leave

An eligible employee on military leave with pay for emergency National Guard duty or Military Reserve Training Leave shall receive those benefits related to employment that are granted in the University's Military Leave policy and its related documents.

3. Leaves Of Absence Without Pay

- a. Approved leave without pay shall not be considered a break in service and, except as provided in Section 3.c. below, shall not determine eligibility for benefits.
- b. Except as provided in Section 3.c. below, an eligible employee on approved leave without pay may, in accordance with the benefit documents, rules and regulations, elect to continue University-sponsored benefits for the period of time specified in the benefit documents, rules and regulations.
- c. An employee on an approved Family Care and/or Medical Leave shall be entitled, if eligible, to continue participation in health benefit coverage (medical, dental, and vision) as if on pay status for a period of up to twelve (12) workweeks in any twelve (12) month period. However, an employee who exhausts her entitlement to health benefit coverage while on an approved Pregnancy Disability Leave that runs concurrently with federal Family and Medical Leave shall not be entitled to an additional twelve (12) workweeks of health benefit coverage under the California Family rights Act. Other group insurance coverage shall be continued in accordance with the provisions of the applicable group insurance regulations.

C. ENUMERATION OF UNIVERSITY BENEFITS

For informational purposes only, a brief outline of benefits in effect on the date the Agreement is signed is found in Appendix D. UPTE understands and agrees that the descriptions contained in Appendix C do not completely describe the coverage or eligibility requirements for each plan, the details of which have been independently communicated to UPTE.

Specific eligibility and benefits under each of the various plans are governed entirely by the terms of the applicable Plan Documents, custodial agreements, University of California Group Insurance Regulations, group insurance contracts, and state and federal laws. Employees in an ineligible classification are excluded from coverage, regardless of appointment percent and average regular paid time. For details on specific eligibility for each program, see the applicable documents, agreements, regulations, or contracts.

D. JOINT BENEFITS COMMITTEE

The University and UPTE will establish a Joint Benefits Committee that will meet at least four times annually to discuss employee benefits. The Joint Benefits Committee will review benefits plans prior to their finalization with benefits providers.

- 1. The University will provide information on specifications, cost, usage, surveys and evaluations of benefits plans.
- 2. UPTE will provide responses, identify problems and issues and any union evaluations or surveys of benefits plans.
- 3. The University will grant release time for up to four (4) career employees, not more than one (1) per campus/hospital/LBNL to participate in this committee. Release time is without loss of straight-time-pay and will allow for reasonable travel time.

E. REDUCED FEE ENROLLMENTS

An employee who has retired within four (4) months of the date of separation from University service and who is an annuitant of a retirement system to which the University contributes, and who meets the admission requirements of the University, is eligible for two-thirds (2/3) reduction of both the University registration fee and the University educational fee as described below. An individual so registered is ineligible for the services and facilities of the counseling centers, gymnasia, or student health services, other than those to which the retired employee may be otherwise entitled.

- 1. For an employee on the quarter system, the reduced fee limit is nine (9) units or three (3) regular session University courses per quarter, whichever is greater.
- 2. For an employee on the semester system, the reduced fee limit is six units or two regular session University courses, whichever is greater.

F. RETIREMENT BENEFITS GENERAL CONDITIONS – Part II

The University maintains several retirement and savings plans for eligible University employees. Currently, such plans include the UC Retirement Plan (UCRP), Tax-Deferred 403(b) Plan, Defined Contribution Plan (DC Plan) and 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan, which collectively constitute the University of California Retirement System (UCRS). Eligible employees may participate in a number of retirement plans generally available to other eligible staff employees of the University. The University may, at its option, alter the existing UCRS plans and establish new retirement and/or savings plans for the UCRS. Such alterations include, but are not limited to altering the eligibility criteria, altering or deleting current benefits, ending the re-direction to the DCP of member contribution to the UCRP, altering employee and University rates of contribution, or changing the carrier or administrator of the UCRP for established plans or programs. In the event the University makes such alterations, the changes will apply to employees eligible for retirement benefits within the unit in the same manner as they apply to other eligible staff employees at the same campus/LBNL. The sole exceptions to the above shall be 1) any alterations proposed by the University which affect only bargaining unit employees, and 2) any alterations proposed by the University which reduce the UCRS retirement benefits of bargaining unit employees, except as provided in this Section A. General Conditions - Part II above, and described in Sections G.1 through G.3. In such cases, the University agrees to meet and confer with respect to the proposed change(s) in accordance with the specific provisions outlined in the Duration Article addressing additional reopener negotiations.

G. CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA RETIREMENT PLAN (UCRP)

- On or about April 15, 2010, the University shall resume employee member contributions to the UCRP. The initial amount of the employee member contribution shall be the same as the current rates for employee contributions that are being redirected to the Defined Contribution Plan (DCP). The redirection to the DCP of the member UCRP contributions will be terminated at that time.
- 2. When the University resumes the employee member contributions to the UCRP and ends the redirected contribution amount to the DCP, the University's contribution rate to the UCRP shall be at least four percent (4%).
- 3. Additional employee contributions to the UCRP after termination of the redirected DCP contributions shall be subject to Regental Approval and shall at least match the contribution amounts made by eligible staff employees of the University, up to (and including) one percent (1%), without a requirement to meet and confer. Additional contributions, which are beyond one percent (1%) each year, are subject to meeting and conferring. In such cases, the University agrees to meet and confer with respect to the proposed increase in accordance with the specific provisions outlined in the Duration Article addressing additional reopener negotiations.

H. EFFECTS OF ABSENCES FROM WORK

1. Leaves Of Absence Without Pay

- a. Approved leave without pay shall not be considered a break in service. The provisions of the applicable retirement plan regulations determine the effects of such leave without pay on retirement benefits.
- b. Family and Medical Leave Retirement benefits shall be continued in accordance with the provisions of the applicable retirement plan regulations.

I. ENUMERATION OF UNIVERSITY BENEFITS

For informational purposes only, a brief outline of the UCRS in effect on the date the Agreement is signed is found in Appendix D. UPTE understands and agrees that the descriptions contained in Appendix D do not completely describe the coverage or eligibility requirements for each plan, the details of which have been independently communicated to UPTE.

Specific eligibility and benefits under each of the various plans are governed entirely by the terms of the applicable Plan Documents and regulations, and state and federal laws. Employees in an ineligible classification are excluded from coverage, regardless of appointment percent and average regular paid time. For details on specific eligibility for each plan, refer to the applicable documents, agreements, regulations, or contracts.

ARTICLE 5 CAMPUS/LABORATORY CLOSURE

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Consistent with the University's management rights, including its right to determine the orderly, effective and efficient operation of the University, the University may elect at one (1) or more of its locations including the Laboratory, to curtail or shut down some or all of its activities, on a location-by-location basis, for periods of specific duration. By way of example and not limitation, such periods may represent: opportunities for energy/cost savings; adjustments to reduce levels of work activity due to transition periods in the academic calendar; "seasonal" or "holiday" influences on scheduled work activities; the occurrence at or on University facilities of major public events; and/or the occurrence of emergency or "forces of nature" situations adversely affecting normal University operations. When feasible, the University shall provide UPTE and affected members of the bargaining unit with forty-five (45) calendar days advance notice of a closure. In the event an alleged violation of the notice is grieved/arbitrated, any remedy or arbitrator's award or decision acknowledging improper notice shall be limited to an amount of back pay and/or reinstatement of benefits which would make the employee whole for the number of days the notice was deficient.

B. PAY STATUS

During a total or partial closure or curtailment of operations described in Section A. above, whether or not the University is able to anticipate such event, one or a combination of the following pay-status options shall apply to affected employees.

- 1. Employees may elect to use accumulated vacation leave during the closure period. Newly- employed unit members will be allowed to use accrued vacation even if the required six (6) continuous months or quadri-weekly cycles on pay status have not been completed. Employees without sufficient accrued vacation time will be allowed to use up to three (3) days vacation leave prior to actual accrual.
- 2. Employees may elect to use accrued compensatory time to cover the scheduled time off or to offset the use of vacation time.
- 3. Employees who do not use vacation or compensatory time off may elect to take a leave without pay during the closure. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 43

- Vacation, and Article 39 - Sick Leave, if an employee is in leave-without-pay status due to a location closure which is three (3) consecutive days or less in duration, such a full-time or part-time employee shall continue to accrue vacation and sick leave at her/his normal rate.

C. UNPAID STATUS

Employees who do not select from Section B.1., 2., or 3., above or who do not qualify for Section B1., 2., or 3., above, shall, for the period of time necessary, be placed in a leave-without-pay status. The hourly accrual provisions in Section B.3. above, related to location closure(s) shall also apply to employees who are placed in leave-without-pay status.

ARTICLE 6 COMPENSATION

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1. **Effective date of salary increases** Salary increases shall be effective on the first day of the payroll period nearest the first day of the month in which the increase occurs. In the event the first day of the payroll periods are equidistant from the first day of a month, the earlier payroll period shall be used.
- 2. **Appendix A** The applicable salaries are reflected in Appendix A. The parties recognize that the actual salary rates paid to employees may slightly vary from those reflected in Appendix A due to rounding.
- 3. Unless otherwise specified, pay increases (regardless of type) shall be base-building only up to the maximum of the applicable salary range. The campus or Medical Center's normal pay practices shall be followed in implementing pay increases.

4. Range Adjustments

a. Ranges with Steps

- 1) When applying a range adjustment to ranges with steps, the adjustment shall apply equally to all steps within the range. The resultant step salary shall apply to all employees on the step.
- 2) Employees whose pay exceeded the salary range maximum before the rate increase was applied to the range are eligible for an increase only up to the new salary range maximum.
- 3) Employees whose pay equals or exceeds the salary range maximum after the range adjustment is applied are not eligible for a salary increase.

b. Ranges without Steps

- 1) When applying a range adjustment to ranges without steps, the adjustment shall apply to the minimum and the maximum of the range, only.
- 2) In addition, each employee within the salary range shall receive the same percentage increase to their salary as applied to the minimum and the maximum of the salary range.
- 3) Employees whose pay exceeded the salary range maximum before the range adjustment was applied to the maximum are eligible for an increase only up to the new salary range maximum.

4) Employees whose pay exceeds the salary range maximum after the range adjustment is applied to the maximum are not eligible for an increase.

5. Merit Increases

- a. Merit increases will be provided in accordance with the campus or hospital merit program guidelines, and
- b. A non-probationary employee is eligible for a merit increase when
 - 1) her/his salary is within the salary range, and
 - 2) s/he has received an overall performance rating of satisfactory or above. Employees who are not provided a performance evaluation shall be deemed "satisfactory", and
- c. Employees shall receive a step increase.
- 6. **Order of Increases** If more than one salary adjustment takes place on the same date, actions occur in the following order:
 - a. Salary Range adjustment
 - b. Merit increase
 - c. Equity Increase
 - d. Increase resulting from promotion or reclassification

B. FISCAL YEAR 2010-2011 (except LBNL)

- 1. Settlement Payment of \$1,000 See Side Letter "Settlement Agreement ULP"
- 2. Effective October 2010, the University will increase all salary ranges in the unit by two and a half percent (2.5%), by applying the provisions of §A.4., above.
- 3. Effective January 2011, eligible employees in the RX bargaining unit receive a merit increase, in accordance with the provisions of §A.5., above.

C. FISCAL YEAR 2011-2012 (except LBNL)

- 1. Effective October 2011, the University will increase all salary ranges in the unit by three percent (3%), by applying the provisions of §A.4., above.
- 2. Effective January 2012, eligible employees in the RX bargaining unit receive a merit increase, in accordance with the provisions of §A.5., above.

D. FISCAL YEAR 2012-2013 (except LBNL)

- 1. Effective October 2012, the University will increase all salary ranges in the unit by three percent (3%), by applying the provisions of §A.4., above.
- 2. Effective January 2013, eligible employees in the RX bargaining unit receive a merit increase, in accordance with the provisions of §A.5., above.

E. LAWRENCE BERKELEY NATIONAL LABORATORY (LBNL)

1. Fiscal Year 2009 (October 1, 2008) individual increases for Research Professional Unit employees will be from a merit pool of three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the September 30, 2008 payroll base. The merit pool will be distributed in the Lab's customary merit-based manner using a FY09 matrix to be provided to UPTE. The minimum increases identified on the matrix will utilize approximately sixty percent (60%) of the available allocation. Each eligible employee will receive at least a one percent (1.0%) salary increase. In order to be eligible for the FY 2009 salary increase of October 1, 2008, an employee must be in the RX bargaining unit on September 30, 2008, eligible for an annual performance evaluation, and continue to be in the bargaining unit on the date payroll distribution is processed in HRIS. Salary ranges will be increased by at least one percent (1%). Any salary range increase beyond one percent (1%) will be at the Laboratory's sole discretion.

- 2. Fiscal Year 2010 (October 1, 2009) individual increases for Research Professional Unit employees will be from a merit pool of three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the September 30, 2009 payroll base. The merit pool will be distributed in the Lab's customary merit-based manner using a FY10 matrix that will provided to UPTE no later than September 15, 2009. The minimum increases identified on the matrix will utilize approximately sixty percent (60%) of the available allocation. In order to be eligible for the FY 2010 salary increase of October 1, 2009, an employee must be in the RX bargaining unit on September 30, 2009, eligible for an annual performance evaluation, and continue to be in the bargaining unit on the date payroll distribution is processed in HRIS.
- 3. Fiscal Year 2011 (October 1, 2010) individual increases for Research Professional Unit employees will be from a merit pool of three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the September 30, 2010 payroll base. The merit pool will be distributed in the Lab's normal merit-based manner using an FY11 matrix that will be provided to UPTE no later than September 15, 2010. The minimum increases identified on the matrix will utilize approximately sixty percent (60%) of the available allocation. In order to be eligible for the FY 2011 salary increase of October 1, 2010, an employee must be in the RX bargaining unit on September 30, 2010, eligible for an annual performance evaluation, and continue to be in the bargaining unit on the date payroll distribution is processed in HRIS.
- 4. Fiscal Year 2012 and 2013 individual increases are subject to reopener bargaining at the local level. Negotiations between LBNL and UPTE Local #184 will begin no later than April 1, 2011 and April 1, 2012, respectively.
- 5. Disputes arising from Research Professional employees receiving increases less than the matrix minimum for the appropriate quartile and performance rating are subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of the agreement between the University of California and University Professional and Technical Employees, with the following exceptions:
 - a. Employees who have received increases within the preceding six (6) months.
 - b. Employees who have reached the maximum of their ranges.
 - c. Employees who are red-circled.
- 6. If more than one salary action takes place on the same date, the order of salary actions will be as follows:
 - a. Salary range adjustment.
 - b. Merit adjustment.
 - c. Equity adjustment.
 - d. Promotion/Reclassification.
 - e. Bottom of the range adjustment for employees below the minimum of the salary range.

Employees who have reached the maximum of their ranges or who are "red-circled" will be eligible to receive increases in the form of a non base-building lump sum payment.

- 7. The following types of employees are not eligible for merit increases:
 - a. Limited employees.
 - b. Rehired retirees.
 - c. Probationary employees.
- 8. The Laboratory will provide to UPTE information concerning the merit pool distribution within sixty (60) days following the end of the fiscal year. Such information will include employee name, employee number, job code, job title and wage increase amount. This information will be provided electronically in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet to UPTE Local 184 and to the UPTE systemwide office. In the same manner as in previous fiscal years, any undistributed amount of the above merit increases will then be distributed across-the-board to all employees who received a wage increase based on the above eligibility requirements.
- 9. Salary ranges may be increased at the Laboratory's sole discretion during fiscal years 2010 and 2011. The Laboratory shall provide UPTE with thirty (30) days advance notice regarding whether the salary ranges will be increased, and if so,

- the amount of the increase. Upon UPTE's request, the Laboratory will schedule a meeting to discuss the union's concerns relative to the basis for such decisions.
- 10. Employee wage increases for promotions, reclassifications and individual equity adjustments shall be at the Laboratory's sole discretion, based upon business need. The Laboratory will provide to UPTE information concerning such wage adjustments within sixty (60) days following the end of each fiscal year. Such information will include employee name, employee number, job code, job title, wage increase amount and reason for adjustment. This information will be provided electronically in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet to UPTE Local 184 and to the UPTE Systemwide office.
- 11. For non-exempt (hourly paid) employees, all hourly rates will be rounded to the nearest penny. For exempt (monthly paid) employees, all monthly rates will be rounded to the nearest dollar.
- 12. For the purpose of determining merit increases, the matrix that will be provided to UPTE each fiscal year per 1-3 above will group employee performance appraisal ratings into four categories:
 - a. Outstanding/Excellent
 - b. Very Good/Good
 - c. Acceptable
 - d. Marginal/Unsatisfactory
- 13. When an annual wage increase per 1-3 above brings an employee's salary to the maximum of the salary range, the employee's position shall be reviewed for possible reclassification to the next higher level, if any, within the same job family. If a reclassification is deemed appropriate by management based on the actual job duties performed by the employee, the employee will be reclassified in accordance with Article 41 of this agreement.
- 14. Retroactive pay increases for Fiscal Year 2009 will be implemented within one hundred twenty (120) days of wage agreement ratification and will be subject to the eligibility criteria described in 1 above. No separate paychecks will be issued.
- 15. If this wage agreement is ratified later than June 15, 2009, pay increases for Fiscal Year 2010 will be implemented within one hundred twenty (120) days after Fiscal Year 2009 payroll distribution is processed in HRIS. Fiscal Year 2010 pay increases will be retroactive to October 1, 2009.

F. LOCATION SPECIFIC SALARY RANGE ADJUSTMENTS

The University retains the right to propose additional location-specific salary and range adjustments.

G. OTHER INCREASES

By mutual agreement, the University may increase, during the term of this Agreement, salary rates or ranges, shift differentials, on-call rates and or extend the coverage of such rates, for selected individuals and/or classifications at selected locations.

H. REMOTE LOCATION / SEA PAY

Where remote location and sea pay provisions currently exist, they shall remain in force throughout the life of this Agreement.

I. EMPLOYEES AWARD PROGRAMS

The University retains the right to continue, modify or abolish campus/hospital/LBNL employee award programs. Employee award programs, for members of the bargaining unit may be implemented according to local procedures. Employee award programs are available, if any, to employees in the unit according to the University's notice to UPTE and resulting meeting and discussing, if requested by UPTE.

J. The range and rate adjustments, base or non-base, if any, provided in this Article shall not be subject to Article 10 - Grievance Procedure, or Article 3 - Arbitration Procedure, of this Agreement.

RX FY09 Salary Increase Matrix

Performance appraisal rating	1 st quartile Minimum increase	2 nd quartile Minimum increase	3 rd quartile Minimum increase	4 th quartile Minimum increase
Outstanding/Excellent	3.7%	3.2%	2.7%	2.2%
Very Good/Good	3.2%	2.7%	2.2%	1.7%
Acceptable	2.7%	2.2%	1.7%	1.2%

ARTICLE 7 CORRECTIVE ACTION / DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1. The University shall have the authority to discipline or to dismiss a non-probationary career employee for just cause. For purposes of illustration but not limitation, such actions may be taken for misconduct or failure to perform satisfactorily.
- 2. A non-probationary career employee who alleges that discipline and/or dismissal is not based on just cause may appeal such action pursuant to the provisions of Article 10 Grievance Procedure.

B. TYPE OF DISCIPLINE

- 1. The University may discipline an employee by written warning, suspension without pay, disciplinary demotion, salary decrease, or dismissal. A disciplinary salary decrease shall be limited to a maximum of ten percent (10%) of an employee's salary and to a maximum length of thirty (30) calendar days.
- 2. At least one written warning shall precede any other corrective action except when corrective action is the result of performance or conduct, that an employee knows or reasonably should have known, was unsatisfactory. Such performance or conduct may include but is not limited to dishonesty, theft or misappropriation of University property, fighting on the job, insubordination, acts endangering others, or other serious misconduct.
- 3. For exempt employees, suspension without pay may be imposed only in increments of one workweek. However, suspension without pay in increments of less than a workweek may be permitted when the infraction is a violation of a significant safety rule relating to prevention of serious danger to the workplace or other employees.
- 4. A performance evaluation or a counseling memo is not in and of itself discipline.

C. INVESTIGATORY LEAVE

- 1. The University may place an employee on paid investigatory leave without prior notice in order to review or investigate allegations of employee misconduct which warrant relieving the employee immediately from all work duties and removing the employee from the premises.
- 2. The investigatory leave must be confirmed in writing to the employee and UPTE normally not later than three (3) working days after the leave is effective. The

confirmation must include the reason(s) for and the expected duration of the leave.

3. On conclusion of the investigation, the employee and UPTE shall be informed in writing of the disciplinary action, if any, to be taken. If a disciplinary suspension is imposed, up to fifteen (15) work days of the investigatory leave may be converted to an unpaid disciplinary suspension provided the notice and employee responses provision of this Article have been followed before the final decision is made.

D. NOTICE

1. Written notice of intent to suspend, demote, or dismiss shall be given to the employee, either by delivery of the notice to the employee in person or by placing the notice of intent in the U.S. mail, first class postage paid, in an envelope addressed to the employee at the employee's last known home address. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to inform the University in writing of any change in their address. The notice of intent shall be accompanied by Proof of Service indicating the date on which the notice of intent was personally delivered or mailed, and this shall constitute the "date of issuance" of the notice of intent. A copy of the Notice of Intent shall be sent to UPTE.

2. The notice of intent shall:

- a. inform the employee of the disciplinary action which the University intends to take, the reason for the disciplinary action, and the effective date of the disciplinary action;
- b. inform the employee that he or she has a right to respond either orally or in writing, within ten (10) work days of the date of the issuance of the notice of intent in accordance with Section E. below; and to whom to respond:
- c. include a copy of the charge and material upon which the charge is based.

E. EMPLOYEE RESPONSE

The employee shall be entitled to respond, orally or in writing, to the notice of intent described above. The response must be received within ten (10) work days from the date of issuance of such notice of intent in accordance with instructions given by the University in the written notice of intent sent to the employee. A request for an extension of the ten (10) work days shall not be unreasonably denied. If the employee chooses to respond orally, the employee may have present a Union representative, provided the representative is not a University employee who has been designated as supervisory, managerial, or confidential.

F. UNIVERSITY RESPONSE

After review of the employee's timely response, if any, the University shall notify the employee of any action to be taken. The action may not include discipline more severe than that described in the notice of intent; however, the University may reduce the discipline without the issuance of a further notice of intent.

ARTICLE 8 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

A. GENERAL CONDITIONS

- 1. Employees may participate in career-related or position-related development programs, subject to approval by the University. Unless the University determines the proposed training/development is not position- or career-related, or denies release time based on operational considerations, employees shall be granted flexible or alternate work scheduling, leave without pay, leave at full or part pay, full or part payment of fees and expenses, and/or temporary or part-time reassignment in another department, provided that:
 - a. the employee has completed her/his probationary period; and
 - b. the employee's performance is satisfactory or better; and
 - c. participation in education or training programs during scheduled work hours is approved in advance by the University.
- When the University requires attendance at an educational or training program, the University will pay the fees and related costs for materials, travel and per diem, and the employee's attendance at the actual program shall be considered time worked. However, when an individual is hired with the understanding that specific additional training is to be obtained or completed, that individual may be required to participate in such training on off-duty time, without expense to the University.
 - a. Education or training which is suggested or recommended, but not required, is not "required" within the meaning of this Article.
 - b. Education or training for the acquisition or maintenance of a license shall not qualify as "required" within the meaning of this Article.
- Employees attending University courses or seminars shall be eligible for fee reductions applicable to other staff employees at their campus/hospital/LBNL. Employees attending University courses or seminars shall not be eligible for the services or facilities of counseling centers, gymnasia, or student health services incidental to such reduced-fee registration.
- 4. Non-probationary career employees who are residents of the State of California are eligible to enroll in regular session courses for up to nine (9) units or three (3) courses per quarter or semester, upon payment of one-third of the University Registration Fee (URF) and one-third of the University Educational Fee (UEF). In the event the University provides additional URF and UEF reductions to other eligible staff employees, the employees in this unit shall receive such fee reductions, to the same degree that other staff employees are so eligible.
- 5. Eligibility for discounts for other University of California courses and programs, including University Extension courses, are at the sole discretion of the University.
- 6. Campus/hospital/LBNL staff training programs shall be available to employees covered by this Agreement to the same extent they are provided to all other staff employees.
- 7. Nothing contained in this Agreement will preclude the University from granting additional training and career development opportunities.
- 8. In the event the University establishes new training programs open to all staff employees, bargaining unit employees shall be eligible to participate in such programs to the same degree as other staff employees.

B. RELEASE TIME AND SCHEDULING

1. An employee who has completed the probationary period who wishes to participate in a development program during work time shall request advance

approval in accordance with departmental procedures. On completion of the program, the employee may be required to submit verification of successful completion of the program and attendance at the program. Participation in educational or training programs during scheduled work hours must be approved by the University in advance. Such leaves must not interfere with staffing requirements.

2. A non-probationary employee is eligible for up to forty (40) hours of paid release time for job-related training per calendar year, prorated based on appointment rate. Except as described below, such paid release time may not be accumulated or carried over from year to year, and must be scheduled according to staffing requirements. Training courses provided by the University shall be included in the forty (40) hours. Time spent, if any, in career-related training programs shall count against the forty (40) hours.

No later than November 1 of any year, an employee may submit a written request in accordance with departmental procedures to carry over paid release time for job-related training. Such requests will be considered on a case by case basis and shall not be unreasonably denied. Any hours approved for carry over must be used within one (1) calendar year.

- 3. The provisions of Section B. do not apply to home study courses.
- 4. Development Leave Hours may be used for the time spent taking the American Association of Laboratory Animal Science (AALAS) certification exam.

C. PILOT PROGRAM

The University may establish, on a campus by campus basis, a pilot program for the professional training and development of bargaining unit employees.

D. **DISPUTES**

Disputes arising from this Article may be appealed to the department head in writing within thirty (30) days of the denial. The department head, or his/her designee, shall respond in writing within ten (10) days stating reasons the appeal is denied. If the department head fails to provide the required response within ten (10) days, the employee may file a grievance in accordance with Article 10 – Grievance Procedure only through Step Two of the grievance procedure. In no circumstances shall such grievances be eligible for appeal to Step 3 of Article 10 – Grievance Procedure, or Article 3 – Arbitration Procedure. The remedy for grievances alleging a violation of this Development article shall be limited to providing the written reasons for the denial of training.

E. LAWRENCE BERKELEY NATIONAL LABORATORY

- 1. Position-related programs are directly related to the work assignments or conditions of the employee's current position. In improving performance or mastering responsibilities in the present job, the supervisor takes the lead by identifying development objectives along with corresponding action plans. This is done in conjunction with the employee performance evaluation process. All career employees are eligible for position-related programs. Employees in non-career appointments are eligible for position-related programs only when such training is specifically necessary for such employees to perform their respective assignments.
- Career-related programs are related to the development of skills, knowledge, and other qualifications that prepare an employee for other positions within the Laboratory for] which an employee (as evaluated by the supervisor, department head, and Human Resources Operations Manager or designee) might be an effective competitor. In career planning and development, the employee takes the lead by self-assessing skills, values, career interests, and choices. After completion of the self-assessment, the employee discusses with the supervisor areas of interest to be developed. The supervisor is encouraged to act as the coach and advisor to the employee, helping to map out agreed-on developmental objectives along with corresponding action plans. All career employees are eligible for career-related programs. Employees in non-career appointments are not eligible for career-related programs.

- 3. Educational enrichment programs are related to an employee's personal or career interests outside the Laboratory that are not related to Laboratory positions for which an employee might be an effective competitor. For example, a course such as music would be considered an educational enrichment program. Educational enrichment programs are the employee's responsibility and are not eligible for benefits under this policy.
- 4. Attendance at all courses, seminars, and conferences of an instructional nature given by accredited universities and colleges, institutes, professional associations, and commercial training organizations is considered part of the Laboratory's education and training activities and may be part of a formal employee development plan. For administrative purposes, attendance at scientific meetings, professional society meetings, research conferences, and industrial conventions and shows is considered a work assignment and is not necessarily part of a development plan.
- 5. Every career employee is eligible to request a formal development plan. A formal development plan is developed by the employee and his/her supervisor and should be realistic and state job or career goals that are attainable within the Laboratory's job classification structure. Plans should be structured so that completion of the development program should result in greater employee capability. Formal plans often include a time frame longer than one year. When an employee takes three or more Laboratory-supported courses or training programs in a fiscal year, the development plan must be formalized by using the Employee Development Plan form. At a minimum, the plan should include developmental objectives and corresponding action plans for improving or mastering performance in the current position, qualifying for other Laboratory positions, or obtaining a specific degree or specialty certificate of value to the Laboratory's mission.

6. **On-Site Training:**

A division director or department head is responsible for arranging specialized training with a department or division. Assistance or advice in any phase of a desired program may be obtained from the Training Administrator in the Human Resources Department. Various organizational units within the Laboratory, including the Environment, Health and Safety Division, Computing Sciences Directorate, and Human Resources Department, are responsible for developing and/or providing training programs to Laboratory employees in their areas of expertise and that are required by law or will enhance employee performance. Procedures for attending interdepartmental training may be found on the Employee Self Service Web site. The Workforce Diversity Office is responsible for administering apprenticeship training programs, other special skills training, and internships.

7. Off-Site Training:

With the approval of his or her supervisor and department head or division director, an employee may attend off-site training (e.g., outside seminars and workshops) that will be of direct benefit to the employee's assignment. The division director or department head will approve attendance at off-site training only when the benefits to the Laboratory will, in his or her judgment, more than offset the costs involved, when the required skill or knowledge is not readily available through Laboratory training resources, and when the employee's time away from the Laboratory will not adversely impact current work demands. The division will pay course fees, travel, and all other expenses as necessary.

8. College Degrees, Specialty Certificates, and College Level Courses:

Career employees who have passed probation may take college-level, specialty certificate, and continuing education courses as described below. Satisfactory job performance is a prerequisite to participation in these Tier 1 and Tier 2 programs. The employee must have an Employee Development Plan approved by his or her supervisor, division director, or the Operations Department Head, and the Human Resources Operations Manager or designee. Approval is based on:

Relevance to the Laboratory's mission.

- Mutual benefit to the employee's career and the long-term interests of the Laboratory.
- Whether there is a reasonable expectation that the employee shall remain in the employ of the Laboratory for a sufficient period of time to provide a fair return for the training costs.
- Whether the proposed curriculum and timetable are realistic.
- Whether the department/division's work needs can be met during any employee absences due to attending class.

Employees may be reimbursed as noted below for tuition, laboratory fees, educational fees, and other fees required for registration when the employee submits proof of successful course completion and receipts for payment of fees to the Training Administrator in the Human Resources Department. Nonresident tuition is not reimbursable. Successful completion is receipt of a grade of at least a "C" for undergraduate work or "B" for graduate work if the institution uses the "A-F" system of grading. If there is a choice between receiving a letter grade or a "Pass/Fail" evaluation, the employee must take the letter grade. Reimbursement is also allowed when an employee is forced to withdraw from a course because of work requirements, provided he/she submits evidence from the instructor that the employee's work in the course was satisfactory at the time of forced withdrawal. When necessary, the Human Resources Operations Manager or designee may advance payment of the costs provided the employee agrees to return the payment if the employee is unable to provide evidence of satisfactory completion. Employees who are eligible for the University of California Reduced-Fee Enrollment Benefit must take advantage of that benefit. Employees who terminate employment before the end of the quarter or semester are not eligible for reimbursement of fees unless the termination is due to an involuntary layoff and when the employee was notified of layoff after the beginning of the class. Employees whose fees have been paid through an advance agreement must repay the advance at termination.

Time off with pay may be granted when the employee's absence will not adversely affect progress of work, in accordance with the following provisions:

- The employee must remain in career status during the entire quarter or semester.
- The course or courses must be listed on the Employee Development Plan and approved before registration for each academic quarter or semester.
- Time off to attend and register for approved courses may be allowed only when such courses cannot reasonably be taken outside the employee's scheduled working hours.
- Time off with pay may not exceed six hours per week, including time for travel and registration. Time off with pay is not allowed for study, library, or faculty consultation time. Additional time required must be accounted for by an adjusted work schedule or by use of vacation credit.
- Time off with pay to take Web/Internet based courses is not allowed.

a. Tier 1:

College-level courses leading to an academic degree (A.A., B.S., Ph.D., etc.) or a specialty certificate (Certified Compensation Professional, Certified Cisco Network Technician, Integrated Circuit Engineering, etc.). Degree courses must be offered by an accredited college or university. Specialty certificate courses must be offered by an accredited college or university, university extension program, or recognized professional society. Continuing education units (CEUs) may be reimbursed under Tier 1 when they are part of an approved degree or specialty certificate program. These may be either position- or career-related programs. The employee must exhibit satisfactory progress towards attainment of the degree or certificate for continued eligibility under Tier 1, with the understanding that unanticipated department/division work needs may affect that progress. Employees may be reimbursed 100% for tuition, laboratory fees, educational fees, and other fees required for registration when the employee submits proof of successful course completion and receipts for payment of fees to the Training Administrator in the Human Resources Department.

b. **Tier 2**:

Career-related academic programs not leading to an academic degree or a specialty certificate. Courses must be offered by an accredited college or university. Continuing education units (CEUs) may be reimbursed under Tier 2 only when offered by a university or college continuing education program. Employees may be reimbursed two-thirds for tuition, laboratory fees, educational fees, and other fees required for registration when the employee submits proof of successful course completion and receipts for payment of fees to the Training Administrator in the Human Resources Department.

9. Government Licensing and/or Professional Certification:

For the purposes of this section, government licenses and/or professional certifications are those licenses and certifications required by the employee to hold his or her current position as documented in the position description. Continuing education credit (CEU) courses required for the maintenance of a professional license or certification as noted above are considered position-related courses. The course must be approved by the licensing or certifying agency. The request for course fee reimbursement is the same as for all other position-related training. Fees for license or certifications renewals as defined above are an allowable expenditure. The request is made in writing to the Financial Services Department and must include:

- Request for Issuance of Check form with valid project ID and approval;
- Endorsement by the cognizant division director that the cost is allowable as cited; and
- Copy of the license renewal or issuance documentation.

10. Professional Research or Teaching Leave

a. To promote the continuing professional growth and competence of senior administrative and scientific staff members, the Laboratory Director may, with prior written approval of DOE, grant Professional Research or Teaching Leave to a limited number of employees. Approval and recommendation from the division director are obtained before submitting the request to the Laboratory Director. DOE approval for such leave will be based on evidence that the Laboratory will benefit from the proposed work and that the candidate will continue employment with the Berkeley Lab or another DOE-funded employer for a reasonable period following the leave. The leave may be spent at appropriate institutions either within or outside the United States.

b. Qualifications:

The candidate must have outstanding professional ability and propose a firm plan of study, teaching, or research that is clearly relevant to the interests of the Laboratory and within the individual's competence. The candidate must also have been continuously employed by the Laboratory for four (4) years or more.

ARTICLE 9 DURATION OF AGREEMENT

A. The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect commencing on March 25, 2010, and shall terminate at 11:59 p.m. on June 30, 2013, unless the University and UPTE agree to extend any or all of the terms and conditions.

B. **CONDITIONAL RE-OPENER NEGOTIATIONS**

The parties will engage in re-opener bargaining if the circumstances outlined in Article 4 – University Benefits, Section A.1. are satisfied. Obligations to meet and confer shall be made in accordance with the following:

UPTE shall, no later than thirty (30) calendar days from receiving written notice of the circumstances triggering the conditional re-openers above, serve upon the Office of the President, Director of Labor Relations written notice of its intent to negotiate those triggered sections of the Agreement.

C. FULL CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS

In order to facilitate the negotiations of a successor to this Agreement or this Agreement as amended, UPTE and the University shall each present its written proposals for a successor Agreement to each other no later than February 1, 2013. Negotiations shall commence on or about March 1, 2013, unless otherwise mutually agreed to by the parties.

- D. Unless mutually agreed otherwise, up to nine (9) UPTE representatives (no more than one [1] from each campus) shall receive five (5) days of paid release time in order to provide the University with a comprehensive set of initial proposals for the beginning of bargaining. UPTE shall notify the University two (2) weeks prior to the dates requested for meetings pursuant to this Section and shall designate the UPTE representatives for purposes of this Section.
- E. Except for Compensation, if either party fails to submit an article in its comprehensive set of successor proposals in the agreed upon form by the prescribed dates, that party will be deemed to propose current contract language for such article. With respect to Article 6 Compensation, if UPTE fails to present its compensation proposal as part of its comprehensive set of successor proposals by February 1, 2013, UPTE will be deemed to have waived its right to meet and confer over the Compensation Article for the 2013-14 fiscal year.

ARTICLE 10 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

A. GENERAL CONDITIONS

- 1. A grievance is a written complaint by an individual employee, a group of employees, or UPTE that the University has violated a specific provision of this Agreement. The University shall not have the right to use the grievance procedure.
- 2. No employee shall be subject to reprisal for using or participating in the grievance procedure of this Agreement.

3. **Filing**

a. All grievances must be filed with the campus/hospital/LBNL Labor Relations office at the campus that employs the grievant within the time frames specified in this Article, on a form agreed to by the parties (see Appendix C). If the grievance is for more than one (1) employee, all individuals adversely affected will be identified on the grievance form by UPTE to the extent UPTE knows who the affected employees are at the time of filing.

- b. The grievance form must be signed and dated by the employee(s) or the employee's representative upon submission to the University. Union grievances must be signed by the UPTE President or designee. UPTE will identify designee(s) in writing to the University.
- c. The grievance form (see Appendix C) shall be furnished to the employee by either UPTE or the University designee, although failure of a University Representative to provide a grievance form upon request shall not constitute cause for an extension of the time lines for filing, nor shall the employee or UPTE be able to grieve the University's failure to provide a grievance form.
 - 1) Only one subject matter shall be covered in any one grievance. A formal grievance must:
 - a) identify the specific Article(s) and Section(s) of this Agreement alleged to have been violated;
 - b) describe the action(s) which allegedly violated the identified Article(s) and Section(s);
 - c) identify the date(s) of the action(s);
 - d) list the affected individual(s) known at the time of filing; and
 - e) describe the remedy requested.
 - 2) Receipt of the grievance shall be acknowledged in writing by the University as soon as practicable following receipt, and sent to the non work address listed on the grievance form. If the grievance is incomplete or does not identify the information required in Section A.3.c.1). above, the University will advise the representative to complete the information within seven (7) days of the date of the acknowledgement. The provision of information does not in any way extend the original thirty (30) days to file the grievance.
 - For the initial filing of a grievance, the date filed shall be the date received. However, if the grievance is mailed, the date of the US Postal Service postmark shall be considered the date filed. For grievance appeals and responses, the date of issuance shall be the date hand-delivered, or the date of the US Postal Service postmark, if mailed. Additionally, a grievance may be filed by facsimile if a signed hard copy is received by the University within five (5) business days. The date and the time registered by the University's facsimile machine shall constitute the official date of receipt. If the registered date on the facsimile falls outside the campus's business hours, the following business day shall constitute the official date of receipt.
- d. No remedy shall exceed restoring to the grievant the pay, benefits or rights lost as a result of the violation of the contract, less any income earned from any other source including, but not limited to, workers' compensation, or any other employment.

4. TERMS / DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Article, the terms:

- a. **"Grievant"** means any eligible employee covered by this contract who has a grievance or complaint (as defined by this Agreement);
- b. **"Other Grievance Representative"** means any person representing an employee covered by this contract, other than an UPTE-designated employee representative or an UPTE representative, in the resolution of her/his grievance other than a person who has been designated as supervisory, managerial, or confidential;

- c. "UPTE-designated Employee Representative" means any employee covered by this contract who is a designated union representative of UPTE, in accordance with the provisions of Article 1 Access, Section C.;
- d. **"UPTE Representative"** means any person who is a non-university employee designated by UPTE to act in the interest of or on behalf of UPTE:
- e. "The Parties" means the University and
 - the "grievant(s)", when the grievant(s) is self-represented or is represented by an individual, as defined in Section A.4.b. above; or
 - 2) the "UPTE representative" or the "UPTE-designated employee representative" when the grievant(s) is represented by an individual, as defined in Section A.4.d. or Section A.4.c. above; or
 - 3) UPTE, when UPTE is itself the grievant.
- f. "witness" means any employee who is serving as a witness in a grievance proceeding; for the purposes of release time, said employee must be covered by this contract.

B. EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATION

A grievant shall have the right to be represented at all steps of the grievance procedure by an UPTE representative or an UPTE-designated employee representative, or any other one (1) person of the grievant's choice other than a University employee who has been designated as supervisory, managerial, or confidential.

C. TIME LIMITS

- 1. Other than the time limits for the initial Step 1 filing of a grievance, the time limits as specified in this article may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties. Extensions must be in writing and must be signed by the parties in advance. The parties may mutually agree to skip any steps of the grievance procedure. Such an agreement must be in writing and must be signed by the parties.
- 2. Deadlines that fall on a day that is not a regular business day will automatically be extended to the next business day.
- 3. If a grievance is not appealed to the next step of the procedure within applicable time limits, and an extension has not been agreed to in advance, the grievance will be considered resolved on the basis of the last University response to the grievance and shall be considered ineligible for further appeal.
- 4. REQUEST THAT A GRIEVANCE BE PLACED IN ABEYANCE Should the grievant and/or UPTE make a request that the grievance be placed in abeyance for any reason, the period of abeyance shall not exceed ninety (90) days, except in cases of sexual harassment where it shall be one-hundred-eighty (180) days. Failure by UPTE to reactivate the grievance within the ninety (90) day time limit (except in the case of sexual harassment where it shall be one-hundred-eighty (180) days) following agreement by the parties that it be held in abeyance will render the grievance ineligible for arbitration and the last preceding University written answer shall become final.

D. GRIEVANTS WHO HAVE RESIGNED

Grievants who voluntarily resign or retire their employment with the University shall have their pending grievances immediately withdrawn and will not benefit by any subsequent settlement or disposition of any individual, union, or group grievance.

However, if the group or union grievance is related to the implementation of a compensation provision negotiated in a UC/UPTE Agreement, the grievance may be continued if it has moved to Step 2 before the date of the employees' resignation or retirement. The foregoing provision shall not apply to LBNL.

E. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE - INFORMAL REVIEW

Before commencing the formal grievance procedure, an individual employee, or group of employees, with or without their representative, may first attempt to resolve informally the grievance with the immediate supervisor.

F. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE - FORMAL REVIEW

1. **Step 1:**

- a. All grievances (individual, group, or union) must be filed either by U.S. mail or hand delivery, and received by the Labor Relations Office at the campus/hospital/LBNL which employs the grievant(s) within thirty (30) calendar days after the date on which the employee or UPTE knew or could be expected to know of the event or action giving rise to the grievance. Informal attempts of settlement to resolve shall not extend time limits including the initial thirty (30) day filing limit.
- b. Grievances received after the filing deadline will be processed solely for the purposes of determining whether the grievance was untimely. Any formal grievance which is not received in accordance with Section F.1. or this section, shall be reviewed only in accordance with the review procedures in Section Q.

c. University Review:

- 1) The University's written response will be issued to the grievant and the representative, if any, within fifteen (15) calendar days after the formal grievance is filed. If the response is not issued within this time limit, or if the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the grievance may proceed to Step 2.
- 2) Resolution of the grievance at Step 1 or earlier, although final, shall not be precedent-setting.

d. Sexual Harassment Complaint Resolution Procedures:

- An employee alleging sexual harassment may elect to substitute a campus/hospital/LBNL Sexual Harassment Complaint Resolution Procedure for Step 1 of the Grievance Procedure. An employee who elects to use the Sexual Harassment Complaint Resolution Procedure may return to the grievance procedure only if they filed a grievance within the thirty (30) day time limit for filing. An employee who elects to resume the regular grievance procedure in place of the Sexual Harassment Complaint Resolution Procedure shall do so by sending written notice to the University. The University's Step 1 Grievance response will be issued within fifteen (15) calendar days after the notice is received by the designated University official. If the second step of the grievance is not invoked by the grievant or UPTE, the University will hold the grievance in abeyance for up to one-hundred-eighty (180) days.
- 2) Grievances that allege a violation involving sexual harassment may, at the grievant's option, enter the grievance procedure at Step 2.
- If no report issues from the sexual harassment process or the employee elects to use the sexual harassment process and for any reason the grievance is in abeyance for more than onehundred-eighty (180) days, the case will be considered withdrawn by the grievant, unless expressly confirmed in writing to be in abeyance. Any request for extension of the abeyance will be subject to new deadlines pursuant to this Section.

2. Step 2

- a. If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the grievant or the Union may proceed to Step 2 by filing a written appeal with the Labor Relations Office within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date the written response is issued or, if not issued, is due.
- b. Unless the parties agree otherwise, the designated University local official shall convene a meeting with the grievant(s) and the grievant's representative, if any, to attempt to resolve the grievance. The meeting shall be convened no later than fifteen (15) calendar days following receipt of the appeal to Step 2. During the Step 2 meeting, the parties shall discuss information and contentions relative to the grievance.
- c. During the Step 2 process, the parties may agree in writing to amend the alleged violations stated in the original grievance.
- d. If requested by the grievant, a second UPTE representative may participate in the Step 2 meeting. In the event a second UPTE representative attends, only one representative may actively participate in the grievance meeting, and the University shall pay release time for only one representative.
- e. If a grievance that alleges a violation of Article 7 Corrective Action/Discipline and Dismissal only is not satisfactorily resolved at Step 2, UPTE may appeal directly to arbitration in accordance with Article 3 Arbitration Procedure.
- f. A written decision shall be issued within fifteen (15) calendar days following the Step 2 meeting, or receipt of the Step 2 appeal if it is agreed that no meeting will be held.

3. **Step 3**

- a. All grievances that are not satisfactorily resolved at Step 2 may be appealed to Step 3. The appeal must be filed with the Director of Labor Relations in the Office of the President within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date the University's Step 2 written answer was issued or, if no University answer was issued, within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date the University's answer was due.
- b. The Step 3 appeal shall identify all unresolved issues, alleged violations and remedies and shall be signed and dated by the grievant or their representative. The subject of the grievance as stated at Step 2 shall constitute the sole and entire subject matter of the appeal to Step 3.
- c. The Office of the President Office of Labor Relations official shall issue the University's written answer to a Step 3 appeal within thirty (30) calendar days of the receipt of the appeal. The answer will be issued to the grievant when self-represented, or to the employee's representative.
- d. By mutual agreement between the University and UPTE, Step 3 may also be the first step in the Grievance Procedure when UPTE is filing a grievance on behalf of employees at more than one location. Such a grievance must be filed within thirty (30) calendar days of the action that gave rise to the grievance and follow all other requirements of Section A.3. Filing, above.

4. Appeals to Arbitration

If an appeal to arbitration is not postmarked or hand delivered within thirty (30) calendar days of the issuance of the University's Step 3 answer, Section C. of this Article shall apply.

G. UNION GRIEVANCES

UPTE shall have the right to present grievances under this procedure on behalf of an individual employee, on behalf of a group of employees, or on behalf of itself. It shall be the Union's responsibility to inform an employee that it is bringing a grievance.

H. GROUP GRIEVANCE

A group grievance is defined as a grievance that covers more than one employee, and that involves like circumstances and facts. A group grievance must be so identified on the grievance form at Step 1. If an employee wishes to withdraw from a group grievance represented by UPTE, the employee shall notify UPTE. UPTE shall in turn notify the University in writing if the employee is to be withdrawn.

I. CONSOLIDATION OF GRIEVANCES

Grievances of two or more employees, as well as multiple grievances by or related to the same employee, or which relate to the same incident, issue, alleged violation, facts, or course of conduct, may be consolidated. Consolidation or severance of grievances shall occur by mutual written agreement.

J. OFFERS OF SETTLEMENT

Settlement offers made at any stage of this procedure, including informal resolution, shall not be introduced as evidence in subsequent steps, and shall not be precedent setting.

K. RETROACTIVITY

Settlement of grievances may or may not be retroactive as equities of a particular case may demand. In any case where it is determined that the settlement shall be applied retroactively, except for the correction of mathematical, calculation, recording or accounting errors relating to the payment of wages, the maximum period of retroactivity allowed shall not in any case be made retroactive to a date earlier than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the initiation of the written grievance in Step 1.

L. EXCLUSIVE PROCEDURE

The Grievance Procedure set out in this Article shall be exclusive and shall replace any other grievance procedure for adjustment of any disputes arising from the alleged violation of this Agreement. Unless otherwise indicated within this Agreement, any previous grievance procedure or other procedure in existence or adopted by the University shall not apply to employees covered by this Agreement for any purposes whatsoever.

M. RELEASE TIME AND PAY STATUS FOR GRIEVANTS, EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES AND/OR WITNESSES

1. University-Convened Meetings

- a. If the University convenes a meeting involving the parties to a grievance for the purposes of resolving the grievance and/or completing the steps of the Grievance Procedure, the grievant(s), witness(es), if any, and UPTE-designated employee representatives eligible to attend such meeting pursuant to this article and Article 1 Access, Section C. shall be in without-loss-of-straight-time-pay status during the meeting provided:
 - such meeting occurs during the regularly scheduled hours of work of the grievant(s), UPTE-designated employee representative, and/or witness(es); and
 - 2) advance request is made and approval is received from the supervisor of the grievant(s), the witness(es), and/or the UPTEdesignated employee representative. Approval to attend shall be

made on an operational needs basis and shall not be unreasonably denied.

- b. A grievant or the representative may request the availability of bargaining unit employee witnesses for University-convened grievance meetings. The availability of bargaining unit employee witnesses shall be determined by their immediate supervisor(s) on the basis of operational needs, and such requests shall not be denied unreasonably. Witnesses shall be in a without-loss-of-straight-time-pay status if the information they provide pertains to the subject of the grievance and the criteria enumerated above (Section M.1.a.1. and Section M.1.a.2.) are met. Grievants and UPTE agree that every effort shall be made to avoid the presentation of repetitive witnesses and the absence of any or all witnesses shall not require the meeting to be recessed or postponed.
- c. The University is not responsible for any travel or lodging expenses or any other expenses incurred by the representative, grievant or union witnesses.
- d. Paid release time for UPTE designated employee representatives for purposes other than University convened meetings shall be provided in accordance with Article 1 Access.

N. EXCLUSION OF LIMITED APPOINTMENT EMPLOYEES AND PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES

The retention or release of limited appointment employees and probationary employees, or the non-scheduling of per diem employees, if applicable, is at the sole discretion of the University, and shall not be subject to Article 10 – Grievance Procedure or Article 3 – Arbitration Procedure of this Agreement.

O. OTHER REPRESENTATION

Grievants may choose a representative other than an UPTE representative for purposes of grievance representation and adjustment. In the event the University is involved in the resolution of a grievance from a grievant or group of grievants who are self-represented or represented by someone other than an UPTE representative:

- 1. The University shall provide UPTE with a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution, indicating the grievant or grievants have chosen a representative other than UPTE.
- 2. UPTE shall have ten (10) calendar days from the date the University provides the material referenced above in which to comment in writing on the proposed resolution.
- 3. The University shall not implement the proposed resolution of the grievance until timely receipt and review of UPTE's written comments, if any.
- 4. The resolution of grievances presented by someone other than an UPTE representative shall be consistent with the terms of this Agreement.

P. GRIEVANCE FILE

Records involving the processing of an employee's grievance, such as the grievance form, step appeals/responses, and settlement documents, will be kept in a file separate from the employee's personnel file. It is not the intent of this section to exclude from the employee's personnel file final disciplinary action documents, including those that result from a settlement agreement.

Q. REVIEW OF GRIEVANCES CLOSED FOR PROCEDURAL DEFECTS

When the University determines a grievance is ineligible for further processing due to procedural defects, including but not limited to timeliness, UPTE may make a written appeal to the Office of the President Labor Relations within thirty (30) days of the postmark of the notification to the grievant(s). This appeal is solely limited to a review of the procedural issue(s). If the Office of the President denies this appeal UPTE may

appeal the issue of the closure of the grievance directly to arbitration per Article 3 - Arbitration, within thirty (30) calendar days of the issuance of the denial of the appeal.

ARTICLE 11 HEALTH AND SAFETY

A. UNIVERSITY AND EMPLOYEE COMMITMENT TO HEALTH AND SAFETY

- 1. The University of California is committed to providing all employees a safe work environment.
- 2. The University shall make reasonable attempts to furnish and maintain in safe working condition the workplace and equipment required to carry out assigned duties. The University shall manage its operations in compliance with established campus/hospital/LBNL health and safety policies and procedures.
- 3. No employee shall be retaliated against for identifying and/or expressing concern about any safety-related issue.
- 4. A critical component of the University's health and safety program is employees following safe work practices and working safely. All employees shall comply with the University's established campus/hospital/LBNL health and safety policies and procedures and this article.

B. **ASSIGNMENT**

- 1. Employees shall receive health and safety education and/or training applicable to their job functions.
- 2. Prior to working with hazardous materials or in a hazardous environment, such as employees working with animals with contagious diseases and/or in laboratories using hazardous chemicals, employees will receive information and training pertaining to the health and safety protocols in the employee's department, an explanation of the health and safety rights and responsibilities of both the employer and the employee, instructions concerning known specific hazards of the employee's job, and the procedures available to employees to abate or report any unsafe or unhealthy working conditions. When assigned duties include an imminent risk to life and health, as determined by a University health and safety professional the University shall provide training and information to the employee prior to the employees assuming such duties.
- 3. Abnormally hazardous or dangerous tasks shall be defined as those tasks having dangers or hazards which are objectively identifiable as constituting a clear and imminent life-threatening danger, and/or dangers or hazards substantially greater than the dangers or hazards inherent to the usual scope of a given job and for which the employee has not been trained and equipped.
- 4. An employee shall not be assigned to any abnormally dangerous or hazardous task at the employee's place of employment.
- 5. All employees must notify their immediate supervisor as soon as they consider an assigned task to be abnormally hazardous or dangerous. The employee shall then identify the components of the assignment that they allege to be abnormally hazardous or dangerous.
 - a. In attempting to resolve the employee's claim, the supervisor, at his or her sole discretion, may attempt to make workplace task performance and/or task assignment changes consistent with health and safety considerations and the availability of additional or alternate personnel.
 - b. If the supervisor does not make assignment changes, he or she shall have the employee's claim assessed by a health and safety professional person responsible, in accordance with campus/hospital/LBNL procedures, for the assessment of abnormally hazardous or dangerous conditions.

- 1) If, in the assessment of the University, the assignment is abnormally hazardous or dangerous, the supervisor shall follow campus/hospital/LBNL procedures to remedy the abnormally hazardous or dangerous situation prior to assigning the work to the employee. Once the modifications which remedy the abnormally hazardous or dangerous situation are made, the employee may be required to perform the work.
- If, in the assessment of the University, the assignment is not abnormally hazardous or dangerous, the supervisor may order the employee to perform the assignment or, at the supervisor's sole discretion, assign the affected employee to other available work consistent with the work usually performed by the employee or may assign another qualified employee to perform the assignment.
- 6. If the employee refuses to perform tasks assigned in accordance with Section B.5.b. and Section B.5.b. above, he or she may be subject to discipline.

C. **INFORMATION AND TESTS**

- 1. The University, upon receiving any chemical or substance containing hazardous material, will obtain the Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS) from the vendor, unless the latest version of the MSDS is already on hand and available. The-MSDS shall be made available to the employee or UPTE on request. The University shall maintain such information, including maintenance in electronic form, if the employee has ready access to a computer.
- When an MSDS provides that certain safety equipment (for example, but not limited, to rubber gloves, face masks, etc.) is required for safe handling of a hazardous substance, the required safety equipment shall be reasonably accessible to the employees who are required, as part of their job duties, to use that hazardous substance. The University shall provide employees who may come in contact with hazardous substances (within then-current definitions under applicable law) with adequate information or training regarding the proper handling of said substances, to the extent appropriate and related to their jobs.
- 3. In compliance with State and Federal law, the University shall provide to affected employee(s) access to data regarding toxic chemicals, seismic safety and asbestos reports. Such existing data shall be readily available and provided to the union or employee within fifteen (15) calendar days following a request.
- 4. In the case of a suspected outbreak of a communicable disease or nuclear, biological, or chemical contamination and when the University requires testing for such communicable disease or contamination of patients and/or employees the University shall offer such tests for bargaining unit employees within the appropriate affected work areas at no cost to the employees.
- 5. Pursuant to State and Federal law, upon written request, UPTE shall receive any health and safety information subject to public disclosure, within the time frame specified by applicable law.

D. **PROTECTIVE CLOTHING**

1. General Provisions

Protective work clothing is attire worn over or in place of regular clothing to protect the employee's clothing from damage or abnormal soiling or to maintain a sanitary environment and includes laboratory coats, shop coats, aprons, scrubs, and surgical gowns. Protective work clothing is provided by the University. Safety equipment protects the employee and includes head covers, gloves, goggles, prescription safety glasses, and safety shoes. At the reasonable request of the employee, the University shall provide safety equipment.

2. Replacement

Protective work clothing and safety equipment, except prescription lenses and sized safety shoes, which were provided to an employee by the University for

use on the job, shall be returned upon completion of the assignment. University-provided items damaged or worn out in the performance of duties shall be repaired or replaced by the University. An employee required to wear prescription safety glasses will pay for the medical eye examinations. The University shall supply the safety lenses and frames selected by the University.

E. TOOLS AND EQUIPMENT

- 1. The University shall furnish and make reasonable attempt to maintain in safe working conditions the workplace tools and equipment required for employees to carry out the duties of their positions.
- 2. The University shall have no responsibility to provide, maintain and/or reimburse employees for tools and/or equipment which are not the property of the University. Additionally, the University is not required to provide equipment different than that which is determined by the University to be necessary for the safe conduct of University business.

F. COMPLAINTS, DISPUTES, AND GRIEVANCES

- 1. If an employee believes he or she is exposed to, or aware of an unsafe work environment, that employee has a responsibility to immediately report the issue to his or her supervisor, without reprisal.
- 2. Employees have the right to report health and safety complaints or violations to the Office of Environmental Health & Safety, University Risk Services, University Safety Committees, and or to the appropriate regulatory agency.
- 3. In the event an employee believes he or she is performing a hazardous job with insufficient training, the employee shall immediately inform his or her supervisor. After such consultation, the employee may contact the Environmental Health and Safety Department (EH&S) to request additional health and safety review of the matter. In such instances, a staff member from the EH&S department shall respond to the employee as soon as practicable.
- 4. Specific and/or general campus/hospital/LBNL health and safety concerns may be raised in the labor/management meetings as defined in Article 15 Labor/Management Meetings. When the union identifies Health and Safety as an agenda item, a Health and Safety professional will attend the Labor/Management meeting.
- If, as a result of a grievance or arbitration decision or as the result of an agreement between the University and UPTE, it is determined that an abnormally hazardous and dangerous assignment was made, the University shall attempt to correct such situation within a reasonable time and utilizing such funds as may be specifically budgeted for the particular efforts with either administrative or engineering controls. If, as a result of the filling of a grievance relative to the provision of information and training prior to the assumption of duties which include an imminent risk to life and health, the University and UPTE agree as to the failure to provide such information and training, the University shall attempt to correct such situation within a reasonable time and utilizing such funds as may be specifically budgeted for the particular efforts.
- 6. This Article does not cover mental or emotional reactions to or perceptions of the work environment, or physical reactions arising from mental or emotional reactions to or perceptions of the work environment.

G. **COMPLIANCE**

The University and UPTE acknowledge that the University's ability to comply with the provisions of this Article is subject to the availability of specifically budgeted funds for the particular efforts which may be necessary in order for the University to meet its obligations under this Article and/or pursuant to any settlement, and/or award rendered pursuant to a grievance related to the provisions of this Agreement and Article. The University and UPTE agree that the availability of such specifically budgeted and available funds shall be a contingency upon which the University's compliance with a settlement, award and/or order of enforcement of such decision relative to a grievance related to this Article shall be dependent.

ARTICLE 12 HOLIDAYS

A. UNIVERSITY HOLIDAYS

The University shall observe the following days as administrative holidays:

- New Year's Day
- Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
- Third Monday in February (or announced equivalent)
- Cesar Chavez Day (Last Friday in March or announced equivalent) (Also see Section G.3. for LBNL)
- · Last Monday in May
- Fourth of July
- Labor Day
- •Veterans' Day (November 11th) (including Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory if approved by the DOE) (Also see Section G.3 for LBNL)
- Thanksgiving Day
- Friday following Thanksgiving Day (or announced equivalent)
- December 24 (or announced equivalent)
- December 25
- December 31 (or announced equivalent)

Unless an alternate day is designated by the University, when a holiday falls on Saturday, the preceding Friday is observed as the holiday, and when the holiday falls on Sunday the following Monday is observed as the holiday.

B. ELIGIBILITY

- 1. An employee is eligible for holiday pay if the employee is in pay status at least fifty percent (50%) of the hours in the month or quadri-weekly cycle, excluding holiday hours.
- 2. An employee on pay status on the employee's last scheduled work day before the holiday and first scheduled work day after the holiday shall be eligible to receive holiday compensation as provided in Section C., below. No employee shall be eligible for compensation for any holiday which is immediately preceded by or followed by an unauthorized unpaid absence or a disciplinary suspension.
- 3. New and rehired employees shall be eligible to receive pay or compensatory time off for holidays preceding their first day of work provided the holiday is the first working day(s) of the month or quadri-weekly cycle. A terminating employee shall be eligible to receive pay for holidays immediately following the employee's last day of work provided the holiday is the last working day(s) of the month or quadri-weekly cycle.
- 4. An eligible employee who is on approved leave without pay or temporary layoff for a period of not more than twenty (20) calendar days, including holidays, shall be eligible to receive pay for any holiday occurring during that period.

C. HOLIDAY TIME/PAY

1. Compensation For Holidays Not Worked

- a. An eligible full-time employee shall receive eight (8) hours of holiday pay, regardless of the number of hours in her/his shift, and regardless of whether or not it was worked, except as provided in Section B. 2. above.
- b. An eligible part-time employee shall receive proportionate holiday pay, up to the maximum of eight (8) hours per holiday, as provided in Section B.2. above. Such holiday pay is calculated on the number of hours in pay status in the month or quadri-weekly cycle in which the holiday falls, excluding holiday hours.
- c. A full-time employee on an alternate work schedule who is normally scheduled to work more than eight (8) hours on the day on which the

holiday is observed shall be allowed to make up the difference between the eight (8) hours of holiday pay and the employee's normally scheduled hours by one of the following methods, in the workweek in which the holiday falls:

- 1) use of vacation time, subject to the provisions of Article 43 Vacation;
- use of compensatory time, subject to the provisions of Article 13 -Hours of Work; or
- 3) working additional straight time hours scheduled at the sole discretion of the University.

2. Compensation For Holidays Worked

- a. With the exception of the provisions in Section C.2.b., below, an employee required to work on a holiday listed above shall be paid at the employee's regular straight-time rate of pay for the hours actually worked. In addition, an eligible employee shall receive either compensatory time off or holiday pay at the option of the University at the regular straight-time rate, including any shift differential.
- b. A non-exempt employee shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half times (1 1/2) regular pay for hours actually worked on Fourth of July, Labor Day, Memorial Day, December 25th, Thanksgiving Day, and New Years Day, and no alternate dates may be designated by the University.
- c. A full time employee may be required to actually work her/his normally scheduled number of work days, excluding the holiday(s), at the straight time rate during weeks in which a holiday(s) occurs. In the event an employee is required to work her/his scheduled number of days on four (4) or more such weeks in a calendar year, the holiday hours in the fourth (4th) holiday week and beyond shall be counted as hours worked. This provision does not apply to employees who are employed to cover only weekend or only holiday schedules.

D. RELIGIOUS OBSERVANCE

By charging time off to vacation, compensatory time off, or leave without pay, an employee may observe a special or religious holiday if the University determines that work schedules permit. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

E. RESTRICTIONS

- 1. In the administration of the provisions of this Article there shall be no duplication, pyramiding, or compounding of any premium wage payments provided herein with any other wage payments provided in any other provision of the Agreement.
- 2. Holiday pay shall not count as time worked for the purpose of calculating overtime, except as provided in Section C.2. above.

F. MAJOR HOLIDAYS

Major holidays are designated for scheduling purposes, only. Major holidays are defined as the two (2) day holiday period for Thanksgiving, December 25 and January 1. The University will guarantee each member of the bargaining unit the opportunity to take one (1) of those two-day periods off regardless of the dates on which the University celebrates those holidays. Operational needs permitting, the University will endeavor to grant one (1) additional two (2) day period off. Straight time holiday pay eligibility shall be determined by the official University holiday schedule. This provision does not apply to employees who are employed to cover only weekend or only holiday schedules.

G. LAWRENCE BERKELEY NATIONAL LABORATORY (LBNL)

1. A new full-time employee will be paid for any holiday immediately preceding his or her first day of work if the holiday is the first working day(s) of a pay period. This rule does not apply to part-time employees.

- 2. A terminating full-time employee shall receive pay for any holiday immediately following his or her last day of work if the holiday is the last working day(s) of a pay period. This rule does not apply to part-time employees.
- 2. In lieu of using the Administrative Holiday during the winter shut-down, it may be used as a floating holiday, with supervisory approval, on Cesar Chavez Day (the last Friday in March) or Veteran's Day (November 11). The Laboratory will be open on both Cesar Chavez Day and Veteran's Day and closed during the winter shut-down. Employees electing to use the floating holiday on either Cesar Chavez Day or Veteran's Day will be required to use an additional vacation day or leave-without-pay day during the winter shut-down. The floating holiday must be taken during the calendar year and cannot be accrued for future use. Nonexempt employees working on Cesar Chavez Day and Veteran's Day will be paid for hours worked only. They will not receive additional holiday pay.

ARTICLE 13 HOURS OF WORK

A. **EXEMPT EMPLOYEES**

1. A workweek for full-time exempt employees is normally considered to be forty (40) hours, and for part-time employees the proportion of forty (40) hours equivalent to the appointment percentage; however, greater emphasis is placed on meeting the responsibilities assigned to the position rather than on working a specified number of hours. Exempt employees do not receive overtime compensation or compensatory time off. After extended periods of additional time worked or an unusually heavy workload, supervisors may approve employees' requests for a temporary reduction in work schedule with no loss in pay.

B. **NON-EXEMPT EMPLOYEES**

1. Standard Workweek

A workweek is a period of time consisting of seven (7) consecutive days. A standard workweek is from Monday morning (12:01 a.m.) to midnight the following Sunday. Alternate workweeks (beginning and ending on a day other than the above) may be scheduled by the University.

2. Standard Work Schedule

A work schedule is the normal hours of work for an employee within a workweek. The standard work schedule for full-time employees shall be eight (8) hours per day on five (5) consecutive days excluding meal periods.

3. Schedules

Employees will be made aware of their work schedule in the following manner:

- 1. When practicable, the University will provide an employee with at least five-work days' notice prior to changing the employee's work schedule for a period of less than four workweeks duration.
- 2. When practicable, the University will provide an employee with at least fifteen (15) work days' notice prior to changing the employee's work schedule for a period of at least four workweeks duration.
- 3. Employees who do not have fixed work schedules will be made aware of their work schedule when feasible.
- 4. Employees may request and the University may, at its sole non-grievable discretion, grant employee requests for flexible working hours.
- 4. **Alternate Work Schedules** may be established by the University to ensure adequate staffing and coverage to meet operational requirements. An employee may request an alternate work schedule. In the event the University decides to

abolish, establish or change alternate work schedules in work areas, the University shall inform affected employees and UPTE at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to taking such action.

5. **Meal Periods**

A meal period of at least one-half hour is provided for any work period of six (6) continuous hours or more. Meal periods are neither time worked nor time on pay status. Whenever an employee is required to perform work or is not substantially relieved of work-related duties during a meal period, the meal period shall be considered time worked. The University may reschedule an employee's meal period during the work day when operational needs preclude relieving the employee of work-related duties during the originally scheduled meal period; however, regularly scheduled meal periods shall normally be provided.

6. Rest Periods

- Two rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes shall normally be granted during an eight (8) hour or a ten (10) hour work period. Three rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes shall normally be granted during a twelve (12) hour shift. A part-time employee shall normally be granted one fifteen (15) minute rest period for each work period of three continuous hours or more, not to exceed two (2) rest periods per day.
- 2. Operational requirements may restrict the granting of rest breaks.
- 3. Rest periods shall not be taken at the beginning or end of a work period or accumulated for use at a later time. The combining of rest periods with meal periods for some, any or all employees of a department/division shall be at the discretion of the University.

7. Changing And Clean-Up Time

The University shall determine when clean-up time is required. When the University requires that the employees must change into or out of protective clothing, or must engage in special washing or cleaning procedures, the time spent in such activities shall be considered as time worked.

8. **Assignment Of Overtime**

- The University shall decide when overtime is needed. Overtime must be approved in advance by the University. As soon as practicable after the need for overtime is determined, the University shall notify the employee that overtime must be worked. Employees are expected to work overtime when such work is assigned.
- 2. The University will assign overtime work by rotation based on departmental seniority of those employees on the same shift who normally perform the work involved. For purposes of this Article, rotation means that the last employee to work overtime will be the last considered for new overtime assignments. For the purposes of this Article, departmental seniority may be defined by each department at the campus/hospital/LBNL. Such seniority is applied in the following manner:
 - 1) When there are employees volunteering to work the overtime, assignment of that overtime shall be based on greatest seniority, provided the employee(s) have the required skills, knowledge and ability to do the job.
 - 2) When no employee volunteers to work the overtime, assignment of that overtime shall be based on inverse order of seniority, provided the least senior employee has the skills, knowledge and ability necessary to perform the job.
- 3. The University shall assign overtime to employees irrespective of their place on the seniority or rotation list(s) when the necessary skills, knowledge or abilities are not possessed by the employee who would otherwise be assigned in accordance with the above provisions.

9. Overtime Definition

Overtime is time actually worked that exceeds forty (40) hours in a workweek. For the purposes of calculating overtime, actual work does not include time in non-work status such as sick leave pay, vacation pay, holiday pay, military leave, compensatory time off and administrative leave with pay. Overtime hours do not count toward accumulation of sick leave, vacation, holiday or retirement system credit. Overtime hours are not compensated at one and one-half times the straight time rate unless the conditions described in Section B.10. below, are met.

10. Overtime Compensation

At the option of the University, overtime shall be compensated at the appropriate rate either by pay or by compensatory time off, if the department offers a compensatory time program, in accordance with this section.

- Unless the employee and the University agree otherwise, overtime will be paid. An employee may, upon hire and thereafter during the month of June, file a written indication of preference for either compensatory time off or pay with his or her immediate supervisor. The University shall grant the preference indicated. If no preference is indicated to the department in the annual June period for changes, the employee's previous election shall continue.
- 2. Compensatory time shall be paid or scheduled by the University in accordance with departmental needs. Accumulation of compensatory time is limited to a maximum of two hundred forty (240) hours. An employee shall be paid for hours of overtime which exceed this limit in accordance with location practice. An employee may request to schedule the use of compensatory time. An employee's request for the scheduling of compensatory time shall be granted subject to the needs of the University and shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 3. Employees in classes designated as non-exempt in Appendices A. and B. of this Agreement are eligible for overtime at one and one-half times the straight-time rate (OT(P)) Code (N) shall be compensated at the straight-time rate for hours of overtime not exceeding forty (40) hours of actual work in a workweek and shall be compensated at one and one-half times the straight-time rate only for those overtime hours which exceed forty (40) hours of actual work in a workweek.
- 4. When an employee is employed at more than one rate of pay, overtime earned at the time-and-one-half rate may be calculated based on the employee's average hourly rate or based on the rate in effect when the overtime is worked, at the option of the University.

11. Call-Back

When an employee is called back to work after completing a work day and leaving the premises, the employee shall be paid for the time actually worked upon return or a minimum of three (3) hours, whichever is greater. Call-back time, whether worked or not, is considered time worked for the purpose of calculating hours of overtime.

12. On-Call

The University retains the right to determine the need for, and the assignment of, on-call time. An employee is not considered in on-call status unless assigned on-call by the University. Employees in on-call status are required to inform the employer how they can be reached or to carry a pager in order to receive a call to work. An employee in on-call status is not eligible for minimum call-back payments. An employee in on-call status who is called to perform work or to return to the work site will be paid at the regular rate of pay for the time worked. Payment for on-call time paid at the on-call rate is included as part of compensation in calculating the regular rate when determining premium overtime pay.

- 1. Unrestricted on-call is time during which an employee is free to engage in activities for their own purposes but is required to be available for work or timely return to the work site when called to work. Time in unrestricted on-call status is not counted as hours worked or time on regular pay status when employees are not required to be at the work location or to actually perform work from a location other than the work location. Unrestricted on-call will be compensated at the on-call rate, as listed in Appendix A.
- 2. Restricted on-call is time during which the employee is required to restrict personal activities so that time cannot be effectively used for their own purposes. Restricted on-call will be considered hours worked and will be paid at the employee's normal pay rate (or overtime if appropriate).
- 3. If the University proposes to establish an on-call rate for a title in the unit at a location where no rate is listed, the University shall meet and confer with UPTE. When employees in this unit at the location are assigned to work on-call, they shall be paid according to Appendix A. Current on-call rates where established will remain the same for the duration of this contract

13. Travel Time

Travel between an employee's home and the workplace is not considered time worked. Travel on University business during an employee's normal working hours (including travel during those hours on the employee's day off) is considered time worked. Travel outside normal working hours is considered time worked when it occurs on a scheduled day of work and is to or from a work location outside the normal commuting area of the assigned workplace.

C. **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- 1. This Article shall not be construed as a guarantee of or limitation on the number of hours per workday or workweek.
- 2. There shall be no duplication, pyramiding, or compounding of any premium wage payments in this Agreement.
- 3. The University will provide notice to UPTE (at UCSD) after the research ships return if any bargaining unit members were required to work more than twelve (12) hours consecutively in a twenty-four (24) hour period.

D. LAWRENCE BERKELEY NATIONAL LABORATORY (LBNL)

Policies and procedures, definitions, qualifications, calculations, covered hours and rates relative to Hours of Work at the Laboratory shall remain in effect for employees at the Laboratory and shall supersede the provisions of this Article in Section A. through B. above.

LBNL Hours of Work/Advanced Light Source Side Letter: LBNL and UPTE agree that unless and until changed pursuant to the terms of this Side Letter agreement or the overall UPTE-UC contract covering the employees covered by this Side Letter, LBNL's Advanced Light Source will continue to schedule and compensate covered employees in accordance with its current (i.e. effective on June 20, 1997) work schedules, which provide for employee work twenty four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week, consecutive days off, and no rotation involving the owl shift.

1. Changes In Work Shifts

During the life of this Agreement, the Employer may institute new work shifts, which includes elimination of one or more shifts and/or changes in workweeks. Any changed work shift will be first offered to employees in the order of their classification seniority. If an insufficient number of employees select the new shifts/weeks, the Employer will assign employees to it in the inverse order of classification seniority. However, in all cases, all employees going to the new shift/week must, in the Employer's judgment, currently have the requisite knowledge, skill and efficiency to perform the work. The Employer's judgment

must be exercised in good faith and is subject to the Grievance-Arbitration procedures.

2. Changes In Shift Assignments

Changes in regular shifts must be posted at least thirty (30) calendar days in advance except in cases of emergency or except where the employee involved agrees in writing to waive the period of notice. In this event, a copy of the written waiver shall be furnished to the Union. No employee shall be compelled to enter into any such waiver. Where the proper thirty (30) days of notification is not given, except in bona fide emergency situations, the first day of the shift change shall be paid for at the overtime rate of time and one-half (1-1/2). The Employer may make temporary shift changes for business reasons, which do not include discipline. The affected employees shall be notified of the expected duration of the shift change. Temporary shift changes must be posted at least thirty (30) calendar days in advance except in cases of emergency or except where the employee involved agrees in writing to waive the period of notice. In this event, a copy of the written waiver shall be furnished to the Union. No employee shall be compelled to enter into any such waiver. Where the proper thirty (30) days of notification is not given, except in bona fide emergency situations, the first day of the shift change shall be paid for at the overtime rate of time and one-half (1-1/2). The Employer may make temporary shift changes for business reasons, which do not include discipline. The affected employees shall be notified of the expected duration of the shift change. Temporary shift changes must be posted at least thirty (30) calendar days in advance except in cases of emergency or except where the employee involved agrees in writing to waive the period of notice. In this event, a copy of the written waiver shall be furnished to the Union. No employee shall be compelled to enter into any such waiver. Where the proper thirty (30) days of notification is not given, except in bona fide emergency situations, the first day of the shift change shall be paid for at the overtime rate of time and one-half (1-1/2). Pairs of employees can request shift changes which shall be granted if, in the Employer's judgment, the employees currently have the requisite knowledge, skill and efficiency to perform the work. The Employer's judgement must be exercised in good faith and is subject to the Grievance-Arbitration procedures.

3. The ALS 7-3-7-4 Alternate Work Schedule

The ALS 7-3-7-4 alternate work schedule is as follows: Seven (7) consecutive days of work, followed by three (3) consecutive days off, followed by another seven (7) consecutive days of work, and then four (4) consecutive days off. At the end of this 7-3-7-4 cycle, the pattern repeats. Employees working the ALS 7-3-7-4 alternate work schedule are not subject to the Consecutive Days of Work provisions included in Article 13 - Hours of Work.

In each seven-workday (7-workday) series, the first day is a nine-hour (9-hour) shift with one (1) hour scheduled overtime. Each subsequent workday (days two [2] through seven [7]) in the series is an 8.5-hour shift with a half-hour (1/2-hour) scheduled overtime. Only employees assigned to work on the ALS 7-3-7-4 alternate work schedule are entitled to this scheduled overtime.

For example:

i di champie:						
Friday	Saturday	Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday
Workday	Workday	Workday	Workday	Workday	Workday #6	Workday
#1 9 hours	#2 8.5	#3 8.5	#4 8.5	#5 8.5	8.5 hours	#7 8.5
	hours	hours	hours	hours		hours
Day off	Day off	Day off	Day off	Workday	Workday #2	Workday
				#1 9 hours	8.5 hours	#3 8.5
						hours
Workday	Workday	Workday	Workday	Day off	Day off	Day off
#4 8.5	#5 8.5	#6 8.5	#7 8.5			
hours	hours	hours	hours			

This Provision agreement supersedes any conflicting or different LBNL RPM provisions. However, the RPM's "Hours of Work" and "Reduction in Force" provisions shall remain in effect, except to the extent, if any, to which they are changed by the "Big Table" negotiations for the overall UPTE-UC contract. The

Side Letter agreement shall be in effect for two (2) years or the life of the overall UPTE-UC contract covering LBNL ALS employees, whichever is longer. This Side Letter does not change any RPM provisions other than those addressed herein.

4. The "ALS Shift Assignment" side letter dated June 20, 1997 shall be applicable to Genomic operations with the following supplemental notations:

1. Workweek

The workweek shall commence at 12:01 a.m. Sunday to and including 12 midnight the following Saturday. The workweek shall be five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days or four (4) consecutive ten (10) hour days excluding the meal period.

2. Shifts

1. Initial Shift Assignments:

Any newly available work shift will be first offered to employees in the appropriate classification in order of seniority. If an insufficient number of employees select the new shifts/weeks/starting times, the employer will assign employees to it in the inverse order of seniority. However, in all cases, all employees going to the new shift/week/start time must, in the employer's judgment, currently have the requisite knowledge, skill and efficiency to perform the work. The employer's judgment must be exercised in good faith and is subject to the Grievance and Arbitration procedures.

2. For those employees on shifts or when operational needs require the efficient use of resources, within a work week, an employee shall have the same start time each day of the week.

3. Day Shift:

Shall correspond to work hours and flex time allowance hours as set forth in the RPM dated January 1, 2006.

4. Evening Shift:

Shift start times shall commence between the hours from 3:00 p.m. to and including 6:00 p.m. Shifts may start on the hour, or any quarter (1/4) hour or half-hour (1/2-hour). Shift premium under these circumstances shall be paid biweekly or monthly at the rate of seven (7) and one-half (1/2) percent of the base pay calculated on a weekly basis.

5. Owl Shift:

Shift start times shall commence between the hours from 10:00 p.m. to and including 12:00 midnight. Shifts may start on the hour and any quarter hour or half-hour. Shift premium under these circumstances shall be paid biweekly or monthly at the rate of fifteen percent (15%) of the base pay calculated on a weekly basis.

6. Meal Periods:

Meal periods shall be one (1) hour in length, except that the employer may, upon request, grant a one-half (1/2-hour) hour meal period. Meal periods shall generally be scheduled at the midpoint of the employee's workday.

7. Rest Periods:

Employees shall be granted two (2) fifteen (15) minute rest periods during the regular work day. Rest times shall not be taken at the start

- or end of the workday or be combined with each other or the meal period.
- 8. If less than thirty (30) days notice of a shift change is given to an exempt employee, the employee shall be paid the equivalent of one-half (1/2) of one (1) day's pay.

c. Overtime:

- 1. Overtime is applicable to employees classified as non-exempt.
- 2. When computing premium pay for time worked over the normal forty-hour (40-hour) workweek, paid holiday leave is considered as time worked. Sick leave, vacation, military leave, court leave, and any other leave with or without pay is not considered as time worked.
- 3. Employees must receive prior authorization for overtime.
- 4. Compensatory time off with pay, as such, is not granted to any employee. However, an employee who consistently works more than a standard forty-hour (40-hour) workweek may request Authorized Leave with Pay in recognition of their extra effort. Management shall endeavor to grant such request. Authorized Leave with Pay shall not be used to balance extra work above an employee's basic work period on an hour-for-hour basis.

ARTICLE 14 INDEMNIFICATION

Pursuant to and as regulated by the terms, limitations and qualifications of California Government Code 995 et seq., the University of California shall provide the defense and indemnification for University employees within the unit covered by this Agreement who are sued on account of acts or omissions arising from the course and scope of their employment with the University. The provisions of and applications of the Indemnification provision are not subject to Article 10 - Grievance Procedure or Article 3 - Arbitration Procedure of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 15 LABOR- MANAGEMENT MEETINGS

A. LOCAL LABOR-MANAGEMENT MEETINGS

The University and UPTE agree to meet, following UPTE's written request, up to four (4) times per year unless the parties mutually agree otherwise. Each party shall designate a chair, who shall have responsibility to make arrangements for scheduling the labor-management meeting and for drawing up the agenda. Non-employee UPTE representative(s) may attend the meetings.

- 1. Up to two (2) bargaining unit employees shall be released in a without-loss-of-straight-time pay status to attend each scheduled meeting, provided UPTE has given the University at least seven (7) calendar days' notice of her/his selection. The parties may agree to allow additional unit employees to attend the meetings and may, by mutual agreement, agree to place those attendees in a without-loss-of-straight-time status while in attendance at the meeting(s).
- 2. Items to be included and discussed at the meetings are to be submitted at least seven (7) calendar days prior to the scheduled date of the meeting. Items not so submitted need not be responded to at the meeting. Appropriate agenda items for such meetings include:
 - a. administration of the Agreement;
 - b. dissemination of general information of interest to the parties;

- c. health and safety matters regarding bargaining unit employees;
- d. general nondiscrimination-related issues, not pertaining to the facts of an individual employee's complaint(s);
- e. information regarding personnel transactions and vacancies;
- f. giving representatives an opportunity to express their views, or to make suggestions on subjects of interest to employees of the bargaining unit;
- g. subcontracting issues; and
- h. additional items mutually agreed to by the parties for placement on the agenda.

B. UNIVERSITY-WIDE LABOR-MANAGEMENT MEETINGS

- 1. The University (Office of the President Office of Employee & Labor Relations) and UPTE agree to meet, following UPTE's written request, at least once per year to discuss items such as the administration of this Agreement. Additionally, the University and UPTE agree to meet at least once per year, following UPTE's written request, to discuss the fringe benefit plans, coverages, benefit schedules, carriers, providers, premium rates, eligibility criteria and the amounts, if any, of University and/or employee contributions. The agenda of the meeting(s) shall be determined by mutual agreement of the parties at least seven (7) calendar days prior to the scheduled meeting date.
- 2. UPTE may request release time for up to a total of eleven (11) bargaining unit employees (but no more than one from each campus/hospital or Laboratory). Such representatives will be released from work in a without-loss-of-straight-time status to attend the scheduled meeting(s), provided UPTE has given the University at least seven (7) calendar days notice of her/his selection. The parties may mutually agree to allow additional unit employees to attend the meetings and may, by mutual agreement, agree to place those attendees in a without-loss-of-straight-time status while in attendance at the meeting(s).

C. **RELEASE TIME**

- 1. Release time provided shall be in accordance with the provisions of Section A.1., Section B.2., and Section C.2., of this Article.
- 2. Without-loss-of-pay-status release time will be provided for the duration of the meeting, and for reasonable travel time to and from the meeting. Up to a total of eight (8) hours in one day release time may be provided for attendance at a university-wide labor/management meeting. Any travel and subsistence incurred by the employee(s) attending the meeting(s) shall be the responsibility of the employees or UPTE.

ARTICLE 16 LAYOFF AND REDUCTION IN TIME

A. GENERAL CONDITIONS

- 1. Layoffs may be temporary or indefinite and may occur because of budgetary reasons, curtailment of operations, lack of work, reorganization, or redefinition of the University's or department's needs.
- 2. The University shall have the sole right to determine:
 - a. when temporary or indefinite layoffs in career positions shall occur, the units of layoff, and the unit in which the layoffs shall occur, and
 - b. which classification and/or positions are to be subject to layoff.
- 3. If the University determines that a layoff is necessary, it will be accomplished in accordance with the provisions of this Article.
- 4. When the University determines that there is to be a change in a layoff unit within the bargaining unit, it shall give UPTE advance notice of at least thirty (30) calendar days, if feasible, and upon request shall meet and discuss such proposed changes. Changes to a layoff unit shall not occur more frequently than each one-hundred twenty (120) calendar days.
- 5. The terms of this Article shall not apply to probationary or non-career employees, except as specifically provided in this Article.
- 6. The procedures for fulfilling the terms of this Article may vary by campus. However, campus procedures must be consistent with the provisions of this Article.

B. **DEFINITIONS**

- 1. A layoff is an involuntary:
 - a. separation of an employee from employment as implemented in accordance with the provisions of this Article, or
 - b. transfer of a career employee to a non-career position, or
 - c. reduction in the appointment rate of an individual employee, or
 - d. reassignment of an employee in a full-time career position to a partial- year career position, to a limited appointment position, or to a part-time position at a fixed or variable percentage of time.
- 2. A temporary layoff is one for which the University specifies an affected employee's date for return to work of not more than one-hundred twenty (120) calendar days from the effective date of the layoff.
- 3. An indefinite layoff is one for which the affected employee receives no date for return to work, or no date of restoration to her/his former appointment rate.

C. TEMPORARY LAYOFF

If the University determines that a temporary layoff of one-hundred twenty (120) calendar days or less is imminent, it shall be implemented in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

1. Notice

When the University identifies particular employee(s) to be affected by a temporary layoff, it shall give the individual employee written notice of the expected beginning and ending dates of the temporary layoff as follows:

- a. The University shall give, if feasible, fifteen (15) calendar days notice of the expected beginning and ending dates of the layoff to the affected employee(s).
- b. If less than fifteen (15) calendar days notice is granted for temporary layoff, the affected employee(s) may receive straight time pay in lieu of notice for each additional day the employee(s) would have been on pay status had the employee(s) been given fifteen (15) calendar days notice. Pay in lieu of notice is provided for reductions in appointment rate only for the difference between the two rates.
- c. If the ending date of the temporary layoff is changed and the total duration of the temporary layoff is less than one-hundred twenty (120) calendar days, the University shall give the affected employee fourteen (14) calendar days notice of the date to return to work. The employee shall return to work on the date provided in the notice, unless the employee and the University agree otherwise.
 - 1) The employee shall return to work on the date provided in Section C.1., Notice, above, and shall notify the University in advance if he/she is unable to do so. The University and the employee shall attempt to establish a mutually agreeable return date. If, due to operational considerations, the University cannot accommodate the employee's request for an alternate return date, he/she will be considered to have resigned effective on the date provided in the notice in Section C.1., above.
 - 2) Notice of a change in temporary layoff dates does not invoke the pay in lieu of notice provisions of this Article.

2. Conversion Of Temporary To Indefinite Layoff

For conversion from temporary layoff to indefinite layoff, the University shall give thirty (30) calendar days notice, if feasible. If less than thirty (30) calendar days notice is given, the employee will receive fifteen (15) calendar days pay in lieu of notice.

3. The University may institute the State of California Work Sharing Unemployment Insurance Program on each campus/hospital/LBNL where applicable.

D. INDEFINITE LAYOFF

The University shall effectuate indefinite layoffs as follows.

1. Alternatives To Layoff

In order to avoid a layoff, the University may reassign an employee to a position for which the employee is qualified at the same or greater percentage of time and at the same or higher rate of pay. Such action will nullify the layoff.

2. Selection For Layoff

- a. The order of indefinite layoff of employees in the same classification within the unit of layoff shall be in inverse order of seniority. In the event all employees in a unit of layoff are equally affected by layoff of ten percent (10%) or less, seniority provisions do not apply.
- b. "Seniority" is calculated by full-time-equivalent months (or hours) of University service. Employment prior to a break in service shall not be counted. When employees have the same number of full-time-equivalent months (or hours), the employee with the most recent date of appointment shall be considered the less senior employee.
- c. The University may retain employees irrespective of seniority who possess special knowledge, skills, or abilities which are not possessed by other employees in the same classification in the layoff unit and which are necessary to perform the ongoing functions of the department. If an employee with less seniority is to be retained, the University shall notify

the union in advance of the layoff date and in writing of the special knowledge, skills and abilities which support the retention of the less senior employee.

- d. The department head shall select employees for layoff, but shall minimize indefinite layoffs from career positions by first reviewing the necessity for existing limited appointment and casual/restricted positions within the department.
- e. Where electronic job placement bulletin boards are in use, the University shall provide bargaining unit members access to such placement bulletin boards to the same degree as such bulletin boards are made available to other staff employees. Employees who are laid off will be provided information about other University locations job placement bulletin boards according to local procedures.

3. Notice

- a. When the University identifies particular employees to be affected by an indefinite layoff, it shall give individual written notice of the effective date of the layoff to each affected employee and the union. Advance notice will be provided as follows:
 - 1) For indefinite layoff, the University shall give sixty (60) calendar days notice, if feasible. The University may pay up to thirty (30) days of the sixty (60) days notice period in lieu of notice. In no event shall an employee receive less than thirty (30) days notice of indefinite layoff or pay in lieu of notice. For conversion from temporary to indefinite layoff, the University shall give thirty (30) calendar days notice, if feasible.
- b. An employee shall be provided all rights under Sections D.4. and D.5., below, beginning at the time of notification of his/her indefinite layoff.
- c. An employee shall receive at the time of layoff, information on how to activate preference and recall rights according to local campus/hospital/LBNL procedures. Eligible employees must indicate an interest in and eligibility for the specific preference and/or recall rights. If the employee requests information about preference, recall and active vacant openings, the University will provide the information about how to access related job opening information. The University will, upon the employee's employment application, confirm the eligibility for preference or recall and will assess the employee's qualifications.

4. Recall

- a. Career employees who are indefinitely laid off shall have a right to be recalled in order of seniority of those employees applying for recall to an active, vacant career position for which the employee is qualified in the same classification and department from which they were laid off. An active career position is a position which the University, in its sole discretion, determines to fill. The eligible employee shall file a timely application for recall and self-identify that they are eligible for recall.
- b. Career employees who are eligible for recall shall retain recall eligibility based on the amount of University service at the time the layoff occurs as follows:
 - 1) for one (1) year for up to five (5) years University service,
 - 2) for two (2) years for up to ten (10) years University service,
 - 3) for three (3) years for more than ten (10) years University service.
- c. Employees recalled from layoff status who are not returned to their same job and who fail to perform satisfactorily, as determined by the University, may at any time during the six (6) months following such recall be

returned to layoff status with restoration of the unused portion of their recall rights.

d. The right to recall terminates at the end of the eligibility period.

5. **Preferential Rehire**

- a. A non-probationary career employee who is indefinitely laid off shall have preferential rehire status for an active vacant career position. An active career position is a position which the University, in its sole discretion, determines to fill. The eligible employee shall file a timely application for preference and self-identify that they are eligible for rehire preference according to this Section.
- b. Such employees are rehired provided:
 - the active, vacant career position is in the same bargaining unit and at the same campus/hospital/LBNL as the position from which the employee was laid off; and
 - 2) the active, vacant career position is in a class with the same or lower salary range maximum as the class from which the employee was laid off; and
 - 3) the active, vacant career position is at the same or lesser percentage of time as the position from which the employee was laid off, except as provided in Section D.6.
- c. The laid off non-probationary career employee will, along with any other qualified laid off University employees, be given preferential consideration for an active vacant career position which is being filled by the campus/hospital/LBNL, provided the conditions in Sections D.5.b.1-3. above are met. Qualified laid off University employees will be interviewed for the position. In order to be placed in such a position, the employee must be fully qualified to perform the duties of the position.
- d. Employees who are eligible for preferential rehire status with less than five (5) years of seniority at the time the layoff occurs shall retain preferential rehire status eligibility for one year. Employees who are eligible for preferential rehire status with five (5) years, but less than ten (10) years seniority at the time the layoff occurs shall retain preferential rehire status eligibility for two (2) years. Employees who are eligible for preferential rehire status with ten (10) years or more seniority shall retain preferential rehire status eligibility for three (3) years. An employee may exercise her/his rights to preferential rehire immediately after the employee receives written notification of layoff and meets with the campus/hospital/LBNL representative designated in the layoff notice.
- e. Employees preferentially rehired from layoff status who fail to perform satisfactorily may, at any time during the six (6) months following such return, be returned to layoff status with restoration of full preferential rehire status. In addition, an employee, at her/his option, may request to be returned to layoff status within sixty (60) calendar days of rehire. The time on job status will not be counted as part of preferential rehire eligibility time.
- f. According to local procedures, employees who are on layoff status and who indicate an interest in University-offered training classes will be offered classes when there are spaces available after the location's deadline for active employees to sign up.
- g. Preferential Rehire Termination

The preferential consideration described above shall terminate at the end of the period of eligibility described in Section D.5.d. above, or if an employee:

- 1) refuses an offer to return, at the same or greater percentage of time, to that department/division and class from which laid off; or
- 2) accepts any career position; or
- 3) refuses two (2) offers of employment for a career position at the same or higher salary level and the same percentage of time as the position held by the employee at the time of layoff.
- 6. If an employee voluntarily reduces her/his time due to budgetary reasons, curtailment of operations, lack of work, reorganization, or redefinition of the University's or department's needs within one (1) year prior to her/his layoff, the employee is entitled to recall/rehire rights to a percentage appointment equal to that from which the employee voluntarily stepped down. In order to be eligible for such increased recall/rehire rights, the employee must submit to her/his supervisor a written statement confirming the offer for the voluntary reduction in time when the voluntary reduction in time occurs and her/his supervisor must approve the voluntary reduction in time.
- 7. Severance Effective through June 30, 2013, career employees who receive their notice of indefinite layoff may elect severance pay either a) or b) below within fourteen (14) calendar days as follows: If the employee does not timely elect either a) or b), and notify the University according to local procedures, the employee will be determined to have elected b).
 - a. A career employee who has received her/his notice of indefinite layoff may elect, in writing to receive severance pay in lieu of preferential rehire and recall rights with reduced severance, within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of the notice of layoff. Election is irrevocable. Each campus department shall, in each instance of layoff, not reduction in time, offer severance in lieu of preferential rehire and recall rights with reduced severance to all employees in the department affected by the layoff. Employees who are reduced in time may elect only severance pay (proportional to their reduction in time) in lieu of preferential rehire and recall rights. Severance pay shall be in accordance with the following:
 - 1) Employees who elect severance pay in lieu of preference/recall with reduced severance shall be paid a lump sum amount of one week (five (5) workdays, based on eight-hour (8-hour) days) of salary for each full year of service from the most recent break in service, up to a maximum of sixteen (16) weeks of base pay.
 - 2) Employees who are laid off following a reduction in time that occurred within sixty (60) calendar days of the layoff notice shall be eligible for severance, or reduced severance, on the basis of their percentage of appointment just prior to their reduction in time
 - 3) This section shall not apply to temporary layoff (except as provided in Sections D.7.a. and D.7.a.2. above).

b. Reduced Severance (with Preference and Recall)

- A career employee who has received her/his notice of indefinite layoff may elect, in writing, to receive preferential rehire and recall rights with reduced severance, as an alternative to severance (Section 7.a. above) within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of the notice of layoff. Election is irrevocable. Each campus department shall, in each instance of layoff, not reduction in time, offer severance in lieu of preferential rehire and recall rights with reduced severance to all employees in the department affected by the layoff. Reduced severance pay shall be in accordance with the following:
 - a) Employees with less than five (5) years of service receive no reduced severance.

- b) Employees with five (5) or more years of service receive four (4) weeks or twenty (20) work days, based on eighthour (8-hour) days, reduced severance.
- c) Employees with thirteen (13) or more years of service receive eight (8) weeks or forty (40) work days, based on eight-hour (8-hour) days, reduced severance.
- 2) Employees who are laid off following a reduction in time that occurred within sixty (60) calendar days of the layoff notice shall be eligible for reduced severance on the basis of their percentage of appointment just prior to their reduction in time.
- 3) This Section shall not apply to temporary layoff (except as provided in Sections D.7.a. and D.7.a.2. above).
- c. UPTE will be notified if an employee has been provided severance or reduced severance. Should, as a result of a grievance, arbitration, or settlement agreement an employee be returned to work, the severance or reduced severance received will be deducted from the back pay award, if any, or credited as an advance on earnings, if proportional severance is to be returned. An employee cannot be returned to work without first repaying the severance or reduced severance or signing a severance repayment agreement. The employee's failure to complete her/his severance repayment obligation shall not increase the University's back pay liability, if applicable.
- d. When an employee is rehired to a career position before the expiration of the number of weeks for which the employee has received severance payments, he or she will be required to pay back the remaining severance amounts as a condition of employment. The repayment will be on a proportional basis if the rehired position is a different percentage than the original appointment.

If a career employee is rehired after previous layoff and severance payment and then subsequently laid off again, he/she may be eligible for additional severance based on employee's election in Section D.7 for the severance-eligible layoff. The employee's previous layoff election of severance or preference and recall with reduced severance will remain the same for any additional layoff action that occurs and the employee may be eligible for additional severance based on the following:

- 1) Option 1 (break in service upon original layoff) employee is eligible only for severance based on service credit earned after break in service.
- Option 2 (no break in service) employee is eligible for severance repaid by employee plus severance based on additional service credit.

E. CONTINUITY OF SERVICE UPON REEMPLOYMENT

- 1. A layoff of one-hundred twenty (120) calendar days or less does not create a break in service.
- 2. Reemployment in a career position within the period of right to recall or preferential rehire does not create a break in service.
- 3. Seniority accrues, and benefit accruals are accumulated, only when an employee is on pay status.

F. LAWRENCE BERKELEY NATIONAL LABORATORY (LBNL)

 Career employees (excluding term appointees) who are eligible for vacation and sick-leave credits and are laid off from employment for an indefinite period due to lack of work or lack of funds are eligible for severance payments in accordance with the following provisions. Career employees who are on temporary layoff status, temporary reduction in time, or permanently reduced in time are not eligible for severance payments.

- 2. The following definitions apply for purposes of severance payments:
 - a. Service is continuous if an employee is on pay status each month without a break in service. A break in service occurs when there is a separation from Laboratory employment status.
 - 1. Periods on an approved leave without pay for military service; illness or injury compensable by workers' compensation; assignment to another research organization at the direction of the Laboratory; or an approved leave without pay for any period of thirty (30) calendar days or less are counted as periods of continuous service for the purposes of severance pay, as are periods on pay status before and after any other approved leave without pay.
 - 2. Periods of employment before a break in service are not counted as periods of continuous service for purposes of severance pay.
 - Periods of employment as a student assistant, graduate student research assistant (GSRA), or other trainee positions are not counted as periods of continuous service for purposes of severance pay.
 - 4. Periods of employment on variable time (once called indeterminate time) are not counted as periods of continuous service for the purposes of severance pay.
 - 5. Time spent as a postdoctoral fellow is counted toward calculating severance payment if the postdoctoral fellow continued their employment in a career appointment without a break in service.
 - 6. When a limited appointment has been designated as a career appointment after attaining one thousand (1,000) hours of qualifying service in any twelve (12) consecutive months without a break in service of at least one hundred twenty (120) consecutive calendar days, these hours on pay status will be counted for purposes of severance pay. Qualifying service includes all time on pay status in one or more limited appointments at the University. However, only those hours worked at the Laboratory will be counted toward calculation of the severance payment.
 - 7. Continuous service is reestablished when an employee is rehired from recall or preferential rehire status from the Laboratory.
 - b. An equivalent job is any career position with the Laboratory or the University at a beginning salary at least equal to the salary paid the employee in the job from which that employee was laid off, regardless of salary range.
 - c. One (1) week's pay for nonexempt hourly rated employees is defined as the basic hourly rate (excluding shift differential and overtime) times forty (40) hours or the specifically approved work week. One (1) week's pay for full time exempt employees is defined as the hourly equivalent of the monthly rate times forty (40) hours (or, for part time exempt employees, times the percentage time equivalent).

3. Severance Payment Calculations and Methods of Payment

a. The severance payment will be made in an amount equal to one (1) week's pay for each year of continuous full-time-equivalent Laboratory service (including service at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory and Los Alamos National Laboratory while these labs were managed by the University of California). A fractional year of full-time service of six (6) months or more is counted as one (1) year of service. The severance payment is not to exceed a total of 26 weeks' pay.

b. Severance will be paid in a lump sum at time of termination.

4. Limitations

- a. Severance payments will not extend the period of employment beyond the date of termination due to layoff.
- b. Severance payments made to an employee will not include payment for any period of service for which the employee has previously received such payment.
- c. Severance payments will not be made to any employee who terminates for any reason other than layoff, with the following exceptions:
 - 1. An employee who resigns after receiving formal notification of layoff but before the effective date of layoff may be provided severance payments with the approval of the Chief Operating Officer (COO) or designee.
 - 2. An employee who resigns in lieu of another employee who would have been laid off may be provided severance payments with the approval of the Chief Operating Officer (COO) or designee. Normally, such approval will be given only if the resignation will not have a detrimental effect on work in progress and if the employee concerned had not announced plans to resign or retire before the announcement of a layoff within the employee's division.
- d. Severance payments will not be provided to an employee who has received a formal notification of layoff and who transfers to another Laboratory position or University career position without a break in service or to an employee who refuses a transfer to an equivalent job with the Laboratory or the University.
- 5. An employee at the Laboratory shall not receive duplicate pay for any period during which she/he has received severance pay. In the event an employee is compensated by the Laboratory for any period during which she/he received severance pay, the employee shall be responsible for returning the severance pay for that period.
- 6. Should an individual who has received severance payments be rehired at the Laboratory before the expiration of the number of weeks for which the employee has received severance payments, the amount of the balance will be repaid to the Laboratory.
- 7. Policies, procedures, definitions and qualifications in effect on February 17, 2010 relative to rights to recall and preference for reemployment that are in conflict with the Agreement shall remain in effect for employees at the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.
- 8. If an employee voluntarily reduces his or her time within one (1) year prior to layoff because of budgetary or operational considerations that, in the judgment of the Laboratory, make it necessary to reduce the hours of the workforce, the employee is entitled to recall/rehire rights at a percentage of time equal to that from which the employee voluntarily reduced his or her time. The request for the voluntary reduction must be submitted by the employee in writing and approved by the supervisor and must state the effective date and the percentage of the reduction in time.
- 9. In the event an alleged violation of this Article with regard to notice is grieved/arbitrated, any remedy, settlement or arbitrator's award or decision acknowledging improper notice shall be limited to an amount of back pay and /or reinstatement of benefits which would make the employee whole for the number of days the notice was deficient. In no case shall such amount be calculated for a period of greater than sixty (60) calendar days.

ARTICLE 17 LEAVES FOR UNION BUSINESS

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Employee Eligibility for Leave

For each campus/hospital/LBNL with more than five hundred (500) bargaining unit employees the University shall grant no more than two (2) FTE (522 days) paid reimbursed leave or reduction in time for union business per calendar year without loss of compensation. For each campus/hospital/LBNL with less than or equal to five hundred (500) bargaining unit employees the University shall grant no more than one (1) FTE (261 days) paid reimbursed leave or reduction in time for union business per calendar year without loss of compensation. However, only one employee shall be released per department per leave. The University may postpone the leave when it can demonstrate compelling business needs.

2. Pay Status

During the paid reimbursed leave, the employee shall be paid by the University and shall continue to accrue service credit; and shall retain all benefits to which the employee was entitled prior to the start of the leave. Employee benefit contributions will continue to be deducted during the leave.

- a. During the paid reimbursed leave, the employee shall be eligible for increases in accordance with campus practices.
- b. Any leave granted in accordance with this section shall not constitute a break in service.
- c. During the paid reimbursed leave, the employee shall not be eligible for Workers Compensation benefits arising out of an injury occurring during the leave from the University. While on paid reimbursed leave, University employees shall be covered by UPTE's Workers Compensation carrier.

3. Union Reimbursement

The Union shall reimburse the University for actual costs of employee compensation, including salary plus all benefits paid to the employee for the time the employee is on leave without loss of compensation. The Union shall submit payment to the University within thirty (30) days of receipt of confirmation of payment to the employee. The University has the right to terminate the leave if the Union fails to provide timely payment.

4. Long-Term Leave of Absence

Upon at least thirty (30) calendar days advance written request to the local Labor Relations office from UPTE and the employee, no more than one (1) non-probationary, career employee, bargaining unit representative per department per campus/hospital and LBNL shall be granted a leave of absence to engage in Union business pursuant to A.1. above. The duration of the leave of absence shall be specified at the time the employee commences the leave. No such leave shall be granted unless the written request specifies the duration of the leave.

- a. Such leaves of absence shall be for a period of not less than thirty (30) calendar days. In no situations shall the leave of absence be granted for a period of more than three (3) years.
- b. The University, due to operational requirements, may postpone the date such leave of absence is scheduled to begin.

5. Short-Term Leave

Subject to operational considerations, upon at least thirty (30) calendar days written request to the local Labor Relations office from UPTE and the employee, no more than one (1) non-probationary, career employee, bargaining unit

representative per department per campus/hospital and LBNL, pursuant to A.1. above, will be granted a leave of absence for union business for not less than two (2) days and not longer than twenty-nine (29) days. Requests for this short-term leave shall not be unreasonably denied.

6. Reduction in Time

The University will approve requests from employees for temporary reductions in time for up to three (3) calendar years for union business. No more than one (1) non-probationary, career employee, bargaining unit representative per department per campus/hospital and LBNL shall be granted a reduction in time to engage in Union business, pursuant to A.1. above. Requests for reduction in time will not be unreasonably denied.

7. Attendance at Local Union Meetings

Upon seven (7) calendar days advance written notice to her/his supervisor, local union officers and local employee representatives included on the list provided to the University by UPTE, as set forth in Section B.2. of Article 1 - Access, shall be granted time off without pay or, at the employee's option, such time would be charged to accrued compensatory time off or accrued vacation time, to attend local union meetings. Approval for such leave shall not be granted for a period to exceed four (4) hours and such approval shall not be granted to any individual employee more than once per month. The supervisor may grant additional time over four (4) hours on a case-by-case basis. The granting of such approval to local employee representatives and officers shall be subject to the operational needs of the University and may be granted to one (1) or more but not necessarily all such employees on the same shift in the same operational area. Such approval shall not be unreasonably denied.

B. **RETURN FROM LEAVE**

The University shall not be required to return an employee on a leave of absence for union business prior to the return date specified at the start of the leave.

- 1. For leaves longer than sixty (60) days, at least forty-five (45) calendar days prior to the completion of the long-term leave of absence, the Union shall notify the University of the employee's intent to return to the University's employ and the employee shall likewise so advise the University. For long-term leaves of sixty (60) days or less, at least fifteen (15) days' notice shall be required if the requested return date is other than the return date specified at the start of the leave.
- 2. Upon return, the employee shall be placed in the same position from which the employee took the leave of absence and at the rate of pay which would place the employee at the same relative position in the range for the position as that range exists when the employee returns. Placement of the employee in his/her previous position shall be consistent with staffing reductions and/or layoffs which may have occurred during the period of the paid reimbursed leave.

ARTICLE 18 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

A. **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

Subject to the provisions of this Article, leaves of absence may be with or without pay, may be for medical purposes and/or non-medical reasons, and are subject to the approval of the University. Nothing shall preclude the University, on a campus-by-campus basis, from establishing, implementing, or continuing a Catastrophic Illness or Injury Leave policy covering bargaining unit employees.

1. Definitions

- a. Non-medical leaves of absence, with or without pay, include: Family Care Leave, leave for jury duty, voting, blood donations, administrative or legal proceedings, emergencies, and University functions.
- b. Medical Leaves with or without pay, include Pregnancy Disability Leave, Family Care/Medical Leave, and Disability Leave.
- c. FMLA is the federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.
- d. CFRA is the California Family Rights Act of 1995.

2. Use Of Family Care And Medical Leave Entitlement

- a. If an employee eligible for a Family Care/Medical Leave takes a leave for her/his own serious health condition, (as defined in Section B.1.d. below), the absence from work shall be deducted from the employee's Family Care/Medical Leave entitlement.
- b. If an employee is ineligible for Family Care/Medical Leave or if the employee has exhausted her/his calendar year entitlement, an approved disability leave of absence may be provided for the period(s) an eligible employee is absent from work for verifiable medical reasons as provided in Section C. and Section D. of this Article.

3. Benefit Eligibility While On Leave Without Pay

- a. Special Benefit Eligibility For Family Care/Medical Leaves An eligible employee shall have University-provided health benefits continued for the period of the Family Care/Medical Leave in accordance with Section B.9. of this Article.
- b. An approved leave without pay shall not be considered a break in service.
- The provisions of Article 39 Sick Leave, Article 43 Vacation, and Article
 4 University Benefits, shall apply when employees are on an approved leave without pay.
- d. An eligible employee on approved leave without pay, other than Family Care/Medical Leave, may elect to continue University-sponsored insurance coverages (as determined by plan documents or regulations) for the period of the leave by remitting the entire premium amount due for the period of the approved leave, in accordance with the provisions of the applicable plan(s). Regulations of the retirement systems determine the effects of leave without pay on retirement benefits. See Section B.9. below for Benefit Eligibility when an employee is on an unpaid Family Care/Medical Leave.

4. Requests For Leave

Except as provided under Section B.3. - Family Care/Medical Leave Notification, and Sections E. - Military Caregiver Leave, F. - Qualifying Exigency Leave, and G. - Military Spouse/Domestic Partner Leave, requests for leaves of absence and extensions, with or without pay, shall be submitted in writing to the University. Such requests shall be submitted sufficiently in advance of the requested leave date to provide the University time to assess the operational impact of granting the request. All requests for leaves of absence shall contain the requested beginning and end date of the leave, and any additional information as required.

5. **Duration**

a. The start date of the leave, the terms of the leave and the date of return from the leave are determined when the leave is granted, and shall be communicated to the employee, in accordance with the provisions of this Article. Except as provided under Section B.3.b., Family Care/Medical

- Leave, written confirmation shall be provided when the University determines such confirmation is appropriate.
- b. Except as provided for under Pregnancy Disability, Section C.1.a.2., the aggregate maximum of leaves taken in any combination shall not exceed six (6) months in any one (1) year period.
- c. No employee with a predetermined appointment end date or predetermined date of separation shall be granted a leave of absence beyond her/his appointment end date or the predetermined date of separation.

6. **Return To Work**

- a. Except as provided in Section B., Family Care/Medical Leave, Section C., Pregnancy Disability Leave, and Article 21 Military Leaves, an employee who has been granted an approved leave with or without pay shall be reinstated to the same or a similar position in the same department upon expiration of the leave, in accordance with the Provisions of this Article. If the position held has been abolished or affected by layoff during the leave, the employee shall be afforded the same considerations which would have been afforded had that employee been working when the position was abolished or affected by layoff.
- b. Failure to provide a medical release to return to work, as required in Section B.5. and Section D.3., may result in the delay of reinstatement until the employee submits the required medical release certification.
- c. An employee who has exhausted her/his original leave entitlement and who has been granted additional leave under another section of this Article, shall be reinstated in accordance with the provisions of the section under which the additional leave was granted. The employee shall be advised in writing, at the time the additional leave is granted.
- d. An employee who fails to return to work from a leave of absence on the approved anticipated date of return shall be considered to have abandoned her/his job, in accordance with Article 35 Resignation/Job Abandonment.

B. FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE

Family Care Leave includes Parental Leave and Family Illness Leave. Medical Leave is provided for the employee's own serious health condition.

1. **Definitions**

- a. **Parental Leave** is leave to care for the employee's newborn or a child who has been placed with the employee for adoption, stepchild, legal ward or foster care.
- b. **Family Illness Leave** is leave to care for the employee's child, parent, spouse or same or opposite sex domestic partner with a serious health condition.
- c. A Family Member for the purposes of family care leave is the employee's biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild or legal ward who is under eighteen (18) years, a child for whom the employee stands in loco parentis, or an adult dependent child; a biological, foster, or adoptive parent, stepparent or legal guardian, an individual who stood in loco parentis while the employee was a child; spouse; or same or opposite sex domestic partner.
- d. A Serious Health Condition For The Purposes Of Family Illness Leave is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition which warrants the participation of the employee to provide supervision or care during a period of treatment or incapacity including psychological comfort.

- e. **Medical Leave** is leave granted for the employee's own serious health condition which makes the employee unable to perform any one or all of the essential assigned functions of the employee's position. An employee disabled because of pregnancy-related conditions is covered under Section C. Pregnancy Disability, below.
- f. An Employee's Own Serious Health Condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition, that renders the employee unable to perform any one or all of the essential functions of the employee's position and involves the following:
 - 1) inpatient care in a hospital, hospice, or residential medical care facility, or
 - 2) continuing treatment by a health care provider for:
 - a) a period of incapacity of more than three (3) consecutive calendar days, or
 - b) any period of incapacity or treatment due to a chronic serious health condition, or
 - c) any period of incapacity which is permanent or long-term due to a condition for which treatment may not be effective.
- g. A Health Care Provider is an individual who is a doctor of medicine or osteopathy who is authorized to practice medicine or surgery (as appropriate) by the State in which the doctor practices or, who is duly licensed as a podiatrist, dentist, clinical psychologist, optometrist, chiropractor (limited to the treatment of the spine to correct a subluxation as demonstrated by x-ray to exist), physician assistant, nurse practitioner or nurse mid-wife performing within the scope of her/his duties, or Christian Science practitioner or any health care provider that the employee's health plan carrier recognizes for purposes of payment.
- h. "1,250 Hours Of Actual Service" means time actually spent at work and does not include any paid time off including but not limited to an employee's use of accrued vacation, compensatory time, or sick leave, nor does it include time paid for holidays not worked or time spent in unrestricted on-call status (for employees granted military leave, all hours that would have been worked had the employee not been ordered to military duty shall be used to calculate the 1,250 actual hours of work requirement).

2. Eligibility Criteria And Duration

- a. Employees who have at least twelve (12) cumulative months of University service, and have at least 1,250 hours of actual service during the twelve (12) month period immediately preceding the commencement of the leave, are eligible for and shall be granted up to a total of twelve (12) workweeks of Family Care/Medical Leave in the calendar year. For the purposes of this Article and Section, only, all prior University service, including service with the Department of Energy Laboratories, shall be used to calculate the twelve (12) month service requirement.
- b. **Family Care/Medical Leave** is unpaid leave, except as otherwise provided in this Article.
 - An employee's use of her/his accrued Compensatory Time Off cannot be deducted from the twelve (12) workweek Family Care/Medical Leave maximum, and shall not be granted. All other time off used for family care and/or medical leave purposes, including Work Incurred Injury and Illness leave, shall be deducted from the twelve (12) workweek Family Care/Medical Leave maximum.
 - 2) Family Care/Medical Leave shall not exceed twelve (12) workweeks in any calendar year.

c. If the employee has exhausted her/his entitlement to Family Care/Medical Leave, s/he may apply for additional leave pursuant to this Article.

3. Notification

- a. If the employee learns of the event giving rise to the need for leave more than thirty (30) calendar days in advance of the leave's anticipated initiation date, the employee shall give the University at least thirty (30) calendar days notice of the need for leave. An employee who fails to give thirty (30) days' notice for a foreseeable leave with no reasonable basis for the delay, may have the family care and/or medical leave delayed until thirty (30) days after the date on which the employee provides notice.
 - 1) If the need for leave is foreseeable due to a planned medical treatment or the supervision of a family member's medical treatment, the employee shall make reasonable efforts to schedule the treatment so as to not unduly disrupt the University's operations.
 - 2) If the need for leave is unforeseeable or actually occurs prior to the anticipated date of foreseeable leave, the employee shall provide the University with as much notice as practicable and, at a minimum, within five (5) calendar days after learning of the need for leave.
- b. The University shall determine whether the employee meets the eligibility requirements and qualifies for a Family Care/Medical Leave and shall, within five (5) days of that determination, notify the employee whether the leave is designated or provisionally designated as Family Care/Medical Leave. The start date of the leave, the terms of the leave and the date of return from the leave are determined when the leave is granted.
- c. Extensions to the Family Care/Medical Leave, up to the aggregate maximum of twelve (12) weeks in a calendar year, may be granted in accordance with Section D. of this Article.

4. Certification

a. For the Employee's Own Serious Health Condition

When a leave of absence is requested for the employee's own serious health condition, the University may, at its discretion, require that an employee's request for leave be supported by written certification issued by the employee's health care provider. When certification is required by the University, such requirement shall be made to the employee in writing. Certification may be provided by the employee on a form given to the employee by the University and shall, regardless of the format in which it is provided, include:

- 1) certification that the employee has a serious health condition as defined in Section B.1.f. above, and
- 2) a statement as to whether the employee is unable to perform any one or more of the essential assigned functions of the position including a statement of the function(s) the employee is unable to perform, and
- 3) the date on which the employee's serious health condition began, if known, the probable duration of the condition and the employee's probable date of return, and
- 4) whether it will be medically necessary for the employee to take leave intermittently or to work on a reduced work schedule, and if so, the probable duration of such schedule, and,

5) if the condition is chronic and the employee is presently incapacitated, the duration and frequency of episodes of incapacity.

b. For the Employee's Family Member

When a leave of absence is requested for the serious health condition of the employee's family member, the University may, at its discretion, require that an employee's request for leave be supported by written certification issued by the family member's health care provider. When certification is required by the University, such requirement shall be made to the employee in writing. Certification may be provided by the employee on a form given to the employee by the University and shall, regardless of the format in which it is provided, include:

- 1) certification that the employee's family member has a serious health condition as defined in Section B.1.d., above, and
- 2) a statement that the family member's serious health condition warrants the participation of the employee to provide supervision or care during a period of the treatment or incapacity or psychological comfort, and
- 3) whether the employee's family member will need care intermittently or on a reduced work schedule and the probable duration that the employee is needed to provide care.
- 4) In addition, the employee will be required to certify either on the form or separately the care s/he will provide the family member and the estimated duration of the period of care.

c. Confirmation of Family Relationship

The University may, at its sole non-grievable discretion, require an employee requesting leave to care for a family member with a serious health condition or requesting Parental leave, to provide documentation of the familial relationship or proof of birth, placement for adoption or in foster care. The employee's failure to provide documentation within fifteen (15) calendar days of the University's request may, at the sole non-grievable discretion of the University, result in either

- a delay of the leave until the required documentation is provided or
- 2) if the leave has not begun, it will be denied. If the leave has begun, the leave will not be designated as Family and Medical Care Leave and may be discontinued by the University.

d. Questioned Medical Opinions

Should the University question the validity of the employee's certification for her/his own serious health condition the University may, at its sole non-grievable discretion, require the employee to obtain a second medical opinion from a second health care provider selected by the University. Should the second medical opinion differ from the opinion of the employee's own health care provider, the University may, at its sole non-grievable discretion, require a third medical opinion from a third health care provider, jointly agreed to by the employee and the University. The University shall bear the cost of the second and third opinions, and the third opinion shall be final.

e. Additional Certification and/or Recertification

If additional leave is requested or should the circumstances of the leave change, the University may, at its sole non-grievable discretion, require

the employee to obtain recertification. Such requests for subsequent certification and/or recertification may be either verbal or in writing.

- 1) If certification and/or recertification is required, the employee shall return the certification within fifteen (15) calendar days of the University's request, where practicable.
- 2) Failure to provide certification and/or recertification for a foreseeable leave within the requested time may result in delay of the leave until the required certification is received. Failure to provide certification for an unforeseeable leave within the requested time period may result in discontinuance of the leave until the required certification is provided. If the employee fails to provide certification, the leave is not Family Care/Medical Leave and will be denied as family care leave, in accordance with the provisions of Section B.4.c.2.

f. Failure to Provide Complete Certification and/or Recertification

If the employee fails to provide a completed certification and/or recertification, the employee shall be given fifteen (15) calendar days to perfect the certification and/or recertification. Failure to perfect an incomplete certification and/or recertification within the requested time period may result in delay of the leave or discontinuance of the leave until the required certification and/or recertification is provided. If the employee fails to provide a complete certification and/or recertification, the leave is not Family Care/Medical Leave and will be denied in accordance with the provisions of Section B.4.c.2.

5. Return From Family Care/Medical Leave For Own Health Condition

- The employee shall provide reasonable notice to her/his employing department of her/his anticipated return to work.
- b. An employee who has been granted a Family Care/Medical Leave for her/his own serious health condition, must provide a written medical release to return to work prior to returning to work.
- c. The employee who has been medically released to perform the essential assigned functions of her/his job, shall be returned in accordance with the provisions of Section B.10.
- d. Failure to provide a medical release to return to work may result in the delay of reinstatement until the employee submits the required medical release certification.

6. Use Of Accrued Paid Leave

Family Care/Medical Leave is unpaid, except for the use of sick leave and/or the use of accrued vacation, as provided in this Article:

- a. An employee on leave for her/his own serious health condition:
 - 1) shall use accrued sick leave in accordance with the University's disability plan requirements; or
 - 2) if not eligible for University disability benefits and not on leave as a result of a work-incurred injury or illness, shall use all accrued sick leave prior to taking leave without pay; or
 - 3) if on leave due to a work-incurred injury or illness, may use accrued sick leave as provided in Article 45 Work Incurred Injury or Illness.
- b. An employee on leave for her/his own serious health condition shall use accrued vacation time prior to taking leave without pay, if all accrued sick leave has been exhausted, except that when the Family Care/Medical

Leave runs concurrently with Pregnancy Disability Leave, the use of vacation time is at the option of the employee.

c. An employee on Family Care Leave for Family Illness may use sick leave in accordance with Article 39 - Sick Leave, Section B.3., and shall use accrued vacation time prior to taking leave without pay.

7. **Duration**

For the purposes of Family Care/Medical Leave, only, twelve (12) workweeks is equivalent to four-hundred eighty (480) hours of scheduled work for full-time career and limited appointment employees who are normally scheduled for an eight (8) hours per day five (5) days per workweek (8/40) schedule. While the use of Family Care/Medical Leave need not be consecutive, in no event shall an employee's aggregate use of Family Care/Medical Leave exceed a total of twelve (12) workweeks within a calendar year.

a. Hourly Conversion for Part-time or Alternately Scheduled Employees

For employees who work part-time or a schedule other than an 8/40, the number of Family Care/Medical Leave hours to which the employee is eligible shall be adjusted in accordance with her/his normal weekly work schedule. An employee whose schedule varies from week to week is eligible for a pro-rated amount of Family Care/Medical Leave based on her/his hours worked over the previous twelve (12) weeks preceding the leave

b. Employee Requests for Reduced Work Schedules / Intermittent Leaves

When medically necessary and supported by medical certification, the University shall grant an eligible employee's request for a reduced work schedule or intermittent leave including absences of less than one (1) day. When granted, the University will count only the time actually spent on the intermittent leave or reduced work schedule toward the employee's Family Care/Medical Leave entitlement for the applicable year.

c. Alternate Assignments to Accommodate Intermittent Leave or Reduced Work Schedule

When the employee requests an intermittent leave or a reduced work schedule, the University may, at its sole, non-grievable discretion, require the employee to transfer temporarily to an available alternate position for which the employee is qualified and which better accommodates the employee's recurring period of leave. Such transfer shall have equivalent pay and terms and conditions of employment, but does not need to have equivalent duties.

8. Parental Leave

Parental Leave is a form of Family Care/Medical Leave to care for the employee's newborn or a child placed with the employee for adoption, stepchild, legal ward or foster care. Such leave must be initiated and concluded within one (1) year of the birth or placement of the child. The University shall grant a Parental Leave subject to the limitations described below. If requested and taken immediately following a Pregnancy Disability Leave, an employee eligible for FMLA/CFRA at the beginning of her Pregnancy Disability leave shall be granted the unused portion of CFRA/FMLA leave for Parental Leave purposes, up to a maximum of twelve (12) workweeks. The amount available for use is determined by the amount which the employee has previously used under CFRA/FMLA in the calendar year.

a. Requests for Parental Leave

The employee shall request Parental Leave sufficiently in advance of the expected birth date of the child or placement of a child for adoption or

foster care to allow the University to plan for the absence of the employee, but the employee shall not be required to provide more than thirty (30) days advance notice. The anticipated date of return from Parental Leave shall be set at the time such leave commences, or if requested in conjunction with a Family Care/Medical Leave on account of the pregnancy/childbearing disability, shall be set at the time such Family Care/Medical Leave commences. Parental Leave, when taken for adoption, stepchild, legal ward or foster care, could commence prior to the date of placement.

b. **Duration**

Parental Leave, alone, shall not exceed twelve (12) workweeks within a calendar year as defined in Section B.2.b.2. and B.7. above. However, when Parental Leave is combined with a leave for pregnancy-related and/or childbearing disability only, the total Family Care/Parental Leave shall not exceed seven (7) months in a calendar year.

- 1) An employee on Parental Leave shall use accrued vacation time prior to taking leave without pay.
- 2) The University shall grant a Parental Leave of less than two (2) weeks duration on any two (2) occasions during a calendar year.
- 3) The University, at its sole non-grievable discretion, may require that any additional Parental Leave requested during this same time period be for a minimum duration of two (2) weeks, unless otherwise required by law.

9. Continuation Of Health Benefits

An eligible employee who is on an approved Family Care and/or Medical Leave shall be entitled to continue participation in health plan coverage (medical, dental, and vision) as if s/he were on pay status for a period of up to twelve (12) workweeks in a calendar year. However, an employee on an approved Pregnancy Disability Leave who is dually eligible for leave under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act and the California Family Rights Act, shall be entitled for up to twelve (12) workweeks of health plan coverage for the combined Pregnancy Disability Leave/Parental Leave which runs concurrently with FMLA and/or CFRA. Other group insurance coverage and retirement benefits shall be continued in accordance with the provisions of the applicable group insurance and retirement system regulations.

10. Return To Work

When an employee has been granted an approved Family Care/Medical Leave of Absence and returns within twelve (12) workweeks of the initiation of the leave, s/he shall be reinstated to the same or an equivalent position upon expiration of the leave. If the position has been abolished or otherwise affected by layoff and an equivalent position is not available, the employee shall be afforded the same considerations which would have been afforded had the employee been working when the position was abolished or affected by layoff. No employee with a predetermined appointment end date or predetermined date of separation shall be granted a leave of absence beyond her/his appointment end date or the predetermined date of separation. An employee who has been granted a Family Care/Medical Leave for her/his own health condition, may be required by the University to provide a written medical release to return to work prior to her/his return to work.

C. PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE

1. **Duration**

During the period of verified pregnancy-related and/or childbearing disability, an employee is entitled to and the University shall grant up to four (4) months of Pregnancy Disability Leave for pregnancy/childbearing disability purposes.

a. **Duration**

If the employee is eligible for Family Care/Medical Leave, pursuant to Section B., above, such leave shall be deducted from an employee's federal Family and Medical Leave entitlement.

- 1) If the pregnancy-related/childbearing medical disability continues beyond four (4) months, a medical disability leave of absence may be granted in accordance with Section D., below, for a total medical absence not to exceed six (6) months.
- 2) Additionally, the employee may be eligible for Parental Leave, pursuant to Section B.8., above, to care for her newborn child. The total Family Care Leave, when combined with a Pregnancy Disability Leave, shall not exceed seven (7) months in a calendar year.
- b. **Pregnancy Disability Leave** may consist of leave with or without pay; however, an employee shall be required to use accrued sick leave in accordance with the University's Disability Plan. If sick leave is exhausted, the employee may elect to use accrued vacation time prior to taking leave without pay.
- c. Additional Family Care Leave in a Calendar Year. Upon termination of the Pregnancy Disability Leave, which runs concurrently with federal Family Care/Medical Leave, an eligible employee shall also be entitled to the unused portion of CFRA/FMLA leave up to a maximum of twelve (12) workweeks for any covered reason except leave for a pregnancy-related medical condition. The amount available for use is determined by the amount which the employee has previously used under FMLA/CFRA in the calendar year.
- 2. As An Alternative To Or In Addition To Pregnancy Disability Leave, the University shall temporarily transfer a pregnant employee to a less strenuous or hazardous position upon the request of the employee and with the advice of the employee's health care provider, if the transfer can be reasonably accommodated. For the purpose of this section, a temporary transfer includes a temporary modification of the employee's own position to make it less strenuous or hazardous. A temporary transfer under this section is considered time worked and shall not be counted toward an employee's entitlement of up to four (4) months of pregnancy disability leave, unless the employee is also on a reduced work schedule or an intermittent leave schedule.

3. Reduced Work Schedule

When medically necessary, and supported by medical certification, the University shall grant an employee Pregnancy Disability Leave on a reduced work schedule or on an intermittent basis including absences of less than one (1) day. Only the time actually spent on the intermittent or reduced leave schedule shall be counted towards the employee's entitlement of four (4) months in any twelve (12) month period.

4. Return To Work

An employee who has been granted a temporary transfer and/or Pregnancy Disability Leave shall be reinstated to the same position, provided that the employee returns to work immediately upon termination of the Pregnancy Disability Leave and provided that the aggregate duration of all leaves granted for a given pregnancy does not exceed four (4) months. If the same job has been abolished or affected by layoff, the employee shall be reinstated to a similar job. If a similar position is not available, the employee shall be afforded the same considerations which would have been afforded had that employee been working when the position was abolished or affected by layoff. The date of reinstatement is determined when the leave is granted.

5. Continuation Of Health Benefits

An employee on Pregnancy Disability Leave who is also eligible for leave under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act and the State of California Family Rights Act, shall be entitled, if eligible, to continue participation in health plan coverage (medical, dental, and vision) as if on pay status for up to twelve (12) workweeks in the calendar year. Other group insurance coverage and retirement benefits shall be continued in accordance with the provisions of the applicable group insurance and retirement system regulations.

D. **DISABILITY LEAVES OTHER THAN FMLA/CFRA/PREGNANCY DISABILITY ENTITLEMENT**

A disability leave of absence is the period(s) an eligible career employee is granted leave from work for medical reasons in accordance with Section D.1., below. This leave includes the combined use of accrued sick leave and the disability leave of absence without pay in accordance with the provisions of this Article and Article 39 - Sick Leave. Disability leaves of absence with or without pay are provided for leaves due to non-work related illnesses or injuries.

1. Eligibility

An employee may be eligible for a disability leave of absence with or without pay when s/he has exhausted her/his twelve (12) workweek Family Care/Medical Leave entitlement in a calendar year, or s/he is not otherwise eligible for Family Care/Medical Leave, or the employee has exhausted her four (4) month entitlement under Pregnancy Disability Leave, and s/he:

- a. is medically incapable of performing the essential assigned functions of her/his job due to a non-work related illness or injury, and
- b. has furnished evidence of disability satisfactory to the University.

2. **Duration**

- a. When the use of accrued sick leave and a disability leave of absence without pay are combined, a disability leave may be granted by the University for a total period of verified disability not to exceed six (6) months.
- b. An employee granted a disability leave who is also applying for University disability for non-work related disability purposes shall use all accrued sick leave in accordance with the University's disability plan prior to taking leave without pay.
- c. In the event that the employee's accrued sick leave is greater than six (6) months, a disability leave of absence without pay in addition to the use of all accrued sick leave, shall not be granted.
- d. If an extension to a disability leave of absence within the total six (6) month period is not granted, an employee will be medically separated in accordance with Article 20 Medical Separation of this Agreement.
- e. An employee who is receiving long term disability payments from a retirement system to which the University contributes will be medically separated on the basis of medical condition in accordance with Article 20 Medical Separation of this Agreement.

3. Return To Work

The employee shall not be reinstated from a medically-related leave of absence until a medical release certification is provided to the University within the time limits specified by the department. A medical release certification shall include a statement by the employee's health care provider of the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of the position.

E. MILITARY CAREGIVER LEAVE

Military Caregiver Leave is an additional type of Family Care and Medical Leave available to eligible employees. An employee may take Military Caregiver Leave to care

for a family member who is a "covered servicemember" undergoing medical treatment, recuperation or therapy for a "serious injury or illness".

1. Eligibility Criteria and Duration

An eligible employee is entitled to up to twenty-six (26) workweeks of Military Caregiver Leave during a single twelve-month (12-month) leave period. The employee must be a spouse, domestic partner, parent, son, daughter or next of kin of the covered servicemember to be eligible for this type of leave and must meet the eligibility requirements for Family Care and Medical Leave set forth in Section B.2.a.

2. Definitions

- a. "Covered servicemember" means (a) a current member of the regular Armed Forces (including a member of the Reserves; a member of the National Guard; or a member of the Armed Forces, the National Guard, or the Reserves who is on the temporary disability retired list) who has a "serious injury or illness" incurred or aggravated in the line of duty on active duty for which he or she is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy; is otherwise in outpatient status; or is on the temporary disability retired list or (b) a veteran of the Armed Forces (including the National Guard or the Reserves), provided that the veteran is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy for a "serious injury or illness" that was incurred or aggravated in the line of duty on active duty within five (5) years of the date on which the veteran left the Armed Services.
- b. "Outpatient status" means the status of a servicemember assigned to (a) a military medical treatment facility as an outpatient; or (b) a unit established for the purpose of providing command and control of members of the Armed Forces receiving medical care as outpatients.
- c. "Serious injury or illness" means an injury or illness (a) incurred or aggravated by the covered servicemember in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces that may render the servicemember medically unfit to perform the duties of his or her office, grade, rank, or rating or (b) of a veteran of the Armed Forces (including the National Guard and the Reserves), provided that the veteran's injury or illness was incurred or aggravated in the line of duty on active duty and that the medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy that the veteran is receiving for that injury or illness is occurring within five (5) years of the date the veteran left the Armed Forces.
- d. **"Parent of a covered servicemember"** means a covered servicemember's biological, adopted, or foster parent or any other individual who stood in loco parentis to the covered servicemember. The term does not include parents "in law".
- e. "Son or daughter of a covered servicemember" means the covered servicemember's biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, or a child for whom the covered servicemember stood in loco parentis, and who is of any age.
- f. "Next of kin" means (a) the nearest blood relative of the covered servicemember (other than the covered servicemember's spouse, domestic partner, parent, son or daughter) or (b) the person who the covered servicemember has designated in writing as his or her nearest blood relative for purposes of Military Caregiver Leave.
- g. "Single 12-month leave period" means the period beginning on the first day the employee takes leave to care for the covered servicemember and ends twelve (12) months after that date. (This leave period differs from the calendar year definition of the leave year used for determining eligibility for other types of FML at the University.)

3. Leave Entitlement

Leave is applied on a per-covered servicemember, per-injury basis. Eligible employees may take more than one (1) period of twenty-six (26) workweeks of leave if the leave is to care for a different covered servicemember or to care for the same servicemember with a subsequent serious injury or illness, except that no more than twenty-six (26) workweeks of leave may be taken within any "single twelve-month (12-month) period."

If an eligible employee does not use all of his or her twenty-six (26) workweeks of leave entitlement to care for a covered servicemember during this single twelvemonth (12-month) leave period, the remaining part of the twenty-six (26) workweek entitlement to care for the covered servicemember for that serious injury or illness is forfeited.

As with other types of Family Care and Medical Leave, this leave may also be taken on an intermittent or reduced schedule basis. If the need for intermittent or reduced schedule leave is foreseeable based on the planned medical treatment of the covered servicemember, the employee may be required to transfer temporarily, during the period that the intermittent or reduced leave schedule is required, to an available alternative position for which the employee is qualified and which better accommodates recurring periods of leave than does the employee's regular position.

4. Documentation and Certification

Employees may be required to provide a certification completed by an authorized health care provider of the covered servicemember that provides information necessary to establish entitlement to Military Caregiver Leave. In addition, employees may be required to provide certain information (or have the covered servicemember provide that information) including information establishing that the servicemember is a covered servicemember for purposes of Military Caregiver Leave, his or her relationship with the employee, and an estimate of the leave needed to provide the care. The employee may also be required to provide confirmation of a covered family relationship between the employee and the servicemember.

5. Use of Accrued Paid Leave

Military Caregiver Leave is unpaid leave, except an employee may use sick leave in accordance with Article 39 – Sick Leave and shall use accrued vacation time prior to taking leave without pay.

6. Advance Notice

Whenever possible, an employee shall provide at least thirty (30) days advance notice. If thirty (30) days notice is not practicable, notice shall be given as soon as practicable. Failure to comply with this notice requirement may result in postponement of leave.

7. Reinstatement

Reinstatement shall be to the same position or, at the department's discretion, to an equivalent position with equivalent employment benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment provided that the employee returns to work immediately following termination of the leave. If the employee would have been laid off or terminated had the employee been working during the leave period, the employee shall be afforded the same considerations afforded to other employees who are laid off or terminated pursuant to the provisions of Article 16 – Layoff and Reduction in Time.

8. Continuation of Health Benefits

An employee on an approved Military Caregiver Leave shall be entitled to continue participation in health plan coverage (medical, dental, and optical) as if on pay status during the leave.

F. OUALIFYING EXIGENCY LEAVE

Qualifying Exigency Leave is an additional type of Family Care and Medical Leave available to eligible employees. If the employee is the spouse, domestic partner, son, daughter or parent of a "covered military member," the employee may take Qualifying Exigency Leave to attend to any "qualifying exigency" while the covered military member is on activity military duty or has been notified of an impending call or order to active military duty in the Armed Forces.

1. Definitions

- a. "Covered military member" is an individual who is on "active duty or call to active duty status" and is either (a) a member of a regular component of the Armed Forces who is deployed to or returning from a foreign country due to service with the Armed Forces, (b) a member of the reserve components (Army National Guard of the United States, Army Reserve, Navy Reserve, Air National Guard of the United States, Air Force Reserve, or Coast Guard Reserve), or (c) a retired member of the regular Armed Forces or the Reserves.
- b. "Parent of a covered military member" means a covered military member's biological, adopted, or foster parent or any other individual who stood in loco parentis to the covered military member. The term does not include parents "in law".
- c. "Son or daughter of a covered military member" means a covered military member's biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, or a child for whom the covered military member stood in loco parentis, and who is of any age.
- d. "Active duty or call to active duty status" means duty under a call or order to active duty (or notification of an impending call or order to active duty) in the Armed Forces.
- e. "Qualifying exigency" is defined as any one of the following, provided that the activity relates to the covered military member's active duty or call to active duty status:
 - 1. Short notice deployment to address issues that arise due to the covered military member being notified of an impending call to active duty seven (7) or fewer calendar days prior to the date of deployment;
 - 2. Military events and activities, including official ceremonies;
 - Childcare and school activities for a child of the covered military member who is either under age eighteen (18) or incapable of self-care;
 - 4. Financial and legal arrangements to address the covered military member's absence or to act as the covered military member's representative for purposes of obtaining, arranging, or appealing military service benefits while the covered military member is on active duty or call to active duty status and for the ninety (90) days after the termination of the covered military member's active duty status;
 - 5. Counseling (provided by someone other than a health care provider) for the employee, for the covered military member, or for the child of the covered military member who is either under age eighteen (18) or incapable of self-care;
 - 6. Rest and recuperation (up to five (5) days of leave for each instance) to spend time with the covered military member who is on short-term, temporary rest and recuperation leave during deployment;

- 7. Post-deployment activities to attend ceremonies sponsored by the military for a period of ninety (90) days following termination of the covered military member's active duty and to address issues that arise from the death of the covered military member while on active duty status; and
- 8. Additional activities related to the covered military member's active duty or call to active duty status when the employer and employee agree that such activity qualifies as an exigency and agree to both the timing and duration of the leave.

2. Eligibility

An employee who is the spouse, domestic partner, son, daughter, or parent of a covered military member is eligible for Qualifying Exigency Leave if the employee meets the eligibility requirements for Family Care and Medical Leave set forth in Section B.2.a.

3. Leave Entitlement

Eligible employees are entitled to up to 12 workweeks of Qualifying Exigency leave during a calendar year.

As with other Family Care and Medical Leaves, Qualifying Exigency Leave also may be taken on an intermittent or reduced schedule basis.

4. Documentation and Certification

Employees may be required to provide a copy of the covered military member's active duty orders. Employees may also be required to provide certification of: 1) the reasons for requesting Qualified Exigency Leave, 2) the beginning and end dates of the qualifying exigency, and 3) other relevant information.

5. Use of Accrued Paid Leave

Qualified Exigency Leave is unpaid leave, except that an employee shall use accrued vacation time prior to taking leave without pay.

6. Notice

The employee shall provide notice of the need for leave as soon as practicable.

7. Reinstatement

Reinstatement shall be to the same position or, at the department's discretion, to an equivalent position with equivalent employment benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment provided that the employee returns to work immediately following termination of the leave. If the employee would have been laid off or terminated had the employee been working during the leave period, the employee shall be afforded the same considerations afforded to other employees who are laid off or terminated pursuant to the provisions of Article 16 – Layoff and Reduction in Time.

8. Continuation of Health Benefits

An employee on an approved Qualified Exigency Leave shall be entitled to continue participation in health plan coverage (medical, dental, and optical) as if on pay status for a period of up to 12 workweeks in a calendar year.

G. Military Spouse/Domestic Partner Leave

An employee who is a spouse or domestic partner of a member of the Armed Forces, National Guard, or Reserves may take this leave during a "qualified leave period" when the employee's spouse or domestic partner is on leave from a period of military conflict. "Qualified leave period" means the period during which the "qualified member" is on leave from deployment during a period of military conflict. An eligible employee shall be

entitled to up to a maximum of ten (10) days of unpaid leave during a qualified leave period.

1. Eligibility

To be eligible, an employee must satisfy all of the following criteria:

- a. Be a spouse or domestic partner of a "qualified member" (defined below);
- b. Perform services for the University for an average of twenty (20) or more hours per week;
- c. Provide the University with notice, within two business days of receiving official notice that the qualified member will be on leave from deployment, of the employee's intention to take the leave; and
- d. Submit written documentation certifying that the qualified member will be on leave from deployment during the time that leave is being requested by the employee.

2. Definitions

- a. "Qualified member" means a person who is any of the following:
 - 1). A member of the Armed Forces of the United States who has been deployed during a period of military conflict to an area designated as a combat theater or combat zone by the President of the United States, or
 - 2). A member of the National Guard who has been deployed during a period of military conflict, or
 - 3). A member of the Reserves who has been deployed during a period of military conflict.
- b. "Period of military conflict" means either of the following:
 - 1). A period of war declared by the United States Congress, or
 - 2). A period of deployment for which a member of a reserve component is ordered to activity duty, as defined in Military & Veterans Code section 395.10.

3. Substitution of Paid Leave

This leave is unpaid leave, except that an employee shall use accrued vacation time prior to taking leave without pay.

H. PERSONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY

- 1. A non-probationary career employee may be granted a Personal Leave of Absence without Pay at the sole non-grievable discretion of the University. Such leave shall not exceed six (6) calendar months. Personal Leave without Pay shall not be considered a break in service and shall not determine eligibility for benefits except that the regulations of the retirement systems must be specifically checked to determine the effects of such leave without pay on retirement benefits.
- 2. The University at its sole non-grievable discretion may approve extension of a personal leave of absence without pay for a total leave of not normally more than twelve (12) months.

I. LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITH PAY

1. Jury Duty/Grand Jury Duty

A full-time employee in a career position on any shift or work schedule shall be granted leave with pay for actual time spent on jury service and in related travel, not to exceed the number of hours in the employee's normal work day and the employee's normal workweek. A part-time employee in a career position shall be granted leave with pay for actual time spent on jury service and in related travel which occur during the employee's regularly scheduled hours of work. When an employee's scheduled jury duty hours do not generally coincide with the employee's scheduled shift, the University will, upon request of the employee and subject to operational needs, change the employee's shift assignment. In the event the employee's shift assignment is changed to a shift which has a shift differential, such differential shall not apply when the change in assignment is made to accommodate the employee's jury duty.

2. Voting

An employee shall be granted leave with pay, up to a maximum of two (2) hours, for voting in a statewide primary or general election if the employee is scheduled to work eight (8) hours or more on that day and does not have time to vote outside of working hours.

3. **Blood Donations**

An employee may be granted leave with pay, up to a maximum of two (2) hours, for donating blood during regularly scheduled hours of work.

4. Administrative Or Legal Proceedings

- a. When an employee is attending administrative or legal proceedings as directed by the University or is subpoenaed by the University to appear as a witness in an administrative or legal proceeding, leave without loss of straight time pay will be granted for actual time spent in the proceedings and in related travel not to exceed the number of hours in the employee's normal work day and workweek.
- b. An employee subpoenaed by the State or a political subdivision thereof when the State or political subdivision is prosecuting a person for an offense which the employee, by virtue of being on University premises during scheduled work hours, witnessed, shall be granted leave without loss of straight time pay for actual time spent in the proceedings and in related travel time not to exceed the employee's normal work day and workweek.
- c. The granting of leave without loss of straight time pay status for other employment- related situations where an employee has been subpoenaed shall be at the sole non-grievable, non-arbitrable discretion of the University.

5. **Emergencies**

In the event of natural or man-made emergencies, an employee may be granted leave with straight time pay during regularly scheduled hours of work for the period of time authorized by the University. The granting of such leave and the period of time shall be at the sole, non-grievable discretion of the University.

6. University Functions

At the sole, non-grievable discretion of the University and on a campus by campus or within a campus basis, an employee may be granted leave during regularly scheduled hours of work to attend Commencement exercises, Charter Day exercises and other University meetings or functions as designated by the University. Such leave, when granted, shall be without loss of straight-time pay.

J. Bargaining unit employees may participate, as donors and recipients, in Catastrophic Leave programs according to local campus/hospital/LBNL procedures and Article 39 - Sick Leave, Section G.

ARTICLE 19 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- A. Management of the University is vested exclusively in the University. The parties agree that all rights not specifically granted in this Agreement are reserved solely to the University. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, UPTE agrees that the University has the right to make and implement decisions relating to areas including but not limited to those enumerated below. Although the University may upon request consult with UPTE concerning the following areas, the University is not obligated to bargain with UPTE as to such areas during the term of this Agreement.
- B. Examples of the rights reserved solely to the University administration and its agents and officials include, but are not limited to, the right:
 - 1. to establish the University's missions, programs, objectives, activities, and priorities;
 - 2. to plan, supervise, direct and control the use of resources to achieve the University's missions, programs, objectives, activities, and priorities;
 - 3. to develop, implement and administer affirmative action programs;
 - 4. to establish and administer procedures, rules and regulations and determine the methods and means by which operations are to be carried on;
 - 5. to introduce new or improved methods, programs, equipment, or facilities or change or eliminate existing methods, equipment, or facilities;
 - 6. to determine the location or relocation, reorganization, or discontinuance of operations; to determine where employees shall work; or subcontract all or any portion of any operation;
 - 7. to assign, reassign and schedule work; to determine the need for overtime;
 - 8. to establish the size, composition, and qualifications of the work force;
 - 9. to recruit, hire, develop, train, evaluate, promote, transfer, demote, or layoff limited appointment, career, or probationary employees;
 - 10. to determine the basis for, and to determine the amount granted for merit increases;
 - 11. to establish, modify, and enforce standards of performance, conduct, and safety for employees; and to determine the process by which employee performance is evaluated;
 - 12. to reprimand, suspend, release, or otherwise discipline or discharge employees for misconduct or failure to perform satisfactorily:
 - 13. to maintain safety standards and programs;
 - 14. to determine and modify job classifications and job descriptions.
- C. The above enumerations of management rights are not inclusive and do not exclude other management rights not specified, nor shall the exercise or non-exercise of rights retained by the University be construed to mean that any right is waived.
- D. No action taken by the University with respect to a management right shall be subject to the grievance or arbitration procedure or collateral suit, unless the exercise thereof violates an express written provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 20 MEDICAL SEPARATION

A. **GENERAL CONDITIONS**

- 1. When the University determines that a non-probationary career employee is unable to satisfactorily perform the essential assigned functions of her/his position due to any disability or other medical condition, that employee may be medically separated. Prior to medical separation the University will determine what accommodation, if any, may be reasonably provided. Such accommodation, if any, shall be provided in accordance with the provisions of Article 33 Reasonable Accommodation. An employee who is medically separated is eligible for special reemployment procedures as set forth in Section E. below.
- 2. Except as provided in Section A.3. below, a medical separation shall be based on:
 - a. a University statement describing the essential functions the employee is not able to perform satisfactorily; and
 - b. any pertinent information, including medical information provided by the employee's licensed health practitioner and/or the University's physician, and/or work-related information provided by appropriate University officials.
- 3. A medical separation may also be based on the employee's receipt of long-term disability payments from a retirement system to which the University contributes, such as UCRS or PERS.
- 4. If an employee who is on an approved leave of absence related to a medical condition has a specific return to work date established by a health practitioner licensed by the State in which s/he practices and such return to work date is within one-hundred eighty (180) days of the beginning of leave of absence, the employee shall not, during the period between the beginning of the leave of absence and the return-to-work date (a maximum of one-hundred eighty (180) days), be medically separated.

B. PROOF OF DISABILITY OR OTHER MEDICAL CONDITION

Proof of the employee's disability is required and is subject to verification by the University. When the University requests a medical opinion as verification of disability, the University shall pay the costs of the medical examination(s) requested.

C. NOTICE OF INTENT TO MEDICALLY SEPARATE

A written notice of intent to medically separate shall be given to the employee either by delivery of the notice to the employee in person, or by placing the notice of intent in the U.S. mail, first class postage paid, in an envelope addressed to the employee at the employee's last known home address. Proof of service shall accompany the notice of intent. The notice shall:

- 1. inform the employee of the action intended, the reason for the action and the effective date of the action;
- 2. inform the employee of the right to respond and to whom to respond within ten (10) calendar days from the date of issuance of such notice of intent, in accordance with the instructions given by the University in the written notice provided to the employee.

A copy of the notice of intent shall be provided to UPTE. The University shall place a copy of the notice in the U.S. mail to UPTE the same day (or the next business day) it provides the notice to the employee.

D. **EMPLOYEE NOTICE**

After review of the employee's timely response, if any, the University shall notify the employee of any action to be taken. An effective date of separation shall follow the

employee's timely response or, if no response is provided, shall be at least fifteen (15) calendar days from the date of issuance of the notice of intention to separate, pursuant to Section C. above.

E. **REEMPLOYMENT**

- 1. For a period of one (1) year following the date of a medical separation, a medically separated former non-probationary career employee may be selected for a position without the requirement that the position be publicized. However, if the former employee is receiving disability benefits from a retirement system to which the University contributes the period shall be three (3) years from the date benefits commenced. In order to be eligible for rehire under this Article, the medically separated employee must provide a medical certification from a University-approved medical physician describing in detail the medically separated employee's ability to return to work.
- 2. If a non-probationary career employee separated under this Article is reemployed within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days, a break in service does not occur. If a non-probationary career employee is receiving disability payments from a retirement system to which the University contributes and is re-employed within three (3) years, a break in service does not occur.

ARTICLE 21 MILITARY LEAVES

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

An employee is entitled to Reserve Training Leave for Inactive Duty, Temporary Military Leave for Active Duty Training, Extended Military Leave, Emergency National Guard Leave, and Military Leave for Physical Examinations provided that the employee gives advance verbal or written notice of the leave except when such notice is precluded by military necessity, impossibility or unreasonableness. In any event, the University may require verification of an employee's military orders.

B. ELIGIBILITY FOR PAY AND BENEFITS

1. General Provisions

An employee granted reserve training leave for inactive duty, temporary military leave for active-duty training or extended military leave is entitled to receive regular University pay for the first thirty (30) calendar days of such leave in any one fiscal year (July 1st through June 30th; October 1st through September 30th at LBNL), but not to exceed the actual period of service, provided:

- a. The employee has at least twelve (12) months of continuous University service immediately prior to the granting of the leave (any prior full-time military service shall be included in calculating this University service requirement); and
- b. Such payment for reserve training, temporary and extended military leave in any combination, in addition to any University payment for military leave for physical examinations, does not exceed the pay due for a period of thirty (30) calendar days in any one fiscal year (July 1st through June 30th; October 1st through September 30th at LBNL).

2. Part-Time Employee

An eligible part-time employee shall receive pay in proportion to the average percent of full-time worked during the three (3) completed monthly pay periods immediately preceding the leave.

3. Ineligible Employee

An employee not eligible for military leave pay may have such absence charged to accrued vacation or accrued compensatory time off, or the military leave may be without pay.

4. Service Credit And Benefits

An employee on temporary military leave for active-duty training or extended military leave, who is not on pay status shall receive length-of-service credit, provided that the employee returns to University service at the expiration of the leave in accordance with applicable State and Federal laws. Such employee shall accrue vacation and sick leave and receive holiday pay only in accordance with Article 43 - Vacation Leave, Article 39 - Sick Leave, and Article 12 - Holidays. If on pay status, provided that the employee returns to University service at the expiration of the leave in accordance with applicable State and Federal Laws, the employee shall receive regular benefits. Retirement benefits and service credit shall be continued in accordance with the provisions of the applicable retirement system regulations. Health benefits may be continued at the employee's request and expense for the time period outlined under the University's group insurance regulations.

C. RESERVE TRAINING LEAVE FOR INACTIVE DUTY

Reserve training leave for inactive duty shall be granted to any employee who, as a member of a reserve component of the United States Armed Forces, must perform inactive duty such as weekly or monthly meetings or weekend drills.

D. TEMPORARY MILITARY LEAVE FOR ACTIVE-DUTY TRAINING

Temporary military leave for active-duty training shall be granted to any employee who, as a member of a reserve component of the United States Armed Forces, is ordered to full-time active military duty for training for a period not to exceed 180 days, including time spent traveling to and from such duty.

E. EXTENDED MILITARY LEAVE

Extended military leave shall be granted to an employee who enlists or is ordered into active duty in the United States Armed Forces or a reserve component or who is ordered into active Federal military duty as a member of the National Guard or Naval Militia. Such leave shall be granted for active-duty service of any length or for active-duty training more than one-hundred eighty (180) days.

1. Period Of Leave

An employee shall be granted extended military leave for the initial period of enlistment, service, or tour of duty for a period not to exceed five years. In addition, leave shall be granted for a period up to six (6) months from the date of release from duty if the employee requests such extension.

2. Service Credit And Benefits

An employee granted extended military leave shall receive a lump-sum payment for earned salary, accrued vacation, and accrued overtime or compensatory time off. Upon written request, an employee may elect to retain accrued vacation on the records for a period not to exceed one-hundred eighty (180) days. Vacation credits retained on the records in excess of one-hundred eighty (180) days shall be paid out at the pay rate in effect at the time of payment, taking into account any salary increases that may have occurred in the previous one-hundred eighty (180) day period.

3. Sick leave credit shall be retained on the records.

4. Probationary Employee

An employee who was serving a probationary period at the time extended military leave became effective shall be required to complete the probationary period upon reinstatement.

- a. If the probationary employee served in active military service for a period of more than thirty (30) days, s/he shall not be separated from employment by management action except for cause for six months from the date of reinstatement.
- b. If the probationary employee served in active military service for a period more than one-hundred eighty (180) days, s/he shall not be separated from employment by management except for cause for one year from the date of reinstatement.

F. EMERGENCY NATIONAL GUARD LEAVE

Military Leave shall be granted to an employee who as a member of the National Guard is called to active duty during a state of emergency by proclamation of the Governor of the State of California. An employee who as a member of the National Guard is called to active federal military duty at the request of the President of the United States is not eligible for emergency National Guard leave, but shall be granted extended military leave as set forth in Section D.

1. Eligibility For Pay

An employee granted military leave for emergency National Guard duty is entitled to receive regular University pay for a period not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days in any one fiscal year. An employee is eligible for pay regardless of the length of University service, and such pay is in addition to any University payment for reserve training leave, temporary military leave for active-duty training, extended military leave, and military leave for physical examinations.

2. Benefits

An employee on military leave with pay for emergency National Guard duty shall receive all benefits related to employment which are granted when an employee is on pay status. If not on pay status, the employee shall receive length-of-service credit, provided that the employee returns to University service immediately after the emergency service is over. Such employee shall accrue vacation and sick leave and receive holiday pay in accordance with Article 43 - Vacation, Article 39 - Sick Leave and Article 12 - Holidays.

G. PHYSICAL EXAMINATION

Military leave with pay shall be granted to an employee in accordance with Section B., regardless of length of service, when the employee is required to take a pre-induction or pre-enlistment physical examination to fulfill a commitment under a Selective Service or comparable law, or during a period of war or comparable national emergency.

- 1. Time off for other physical examinations in connection with military service may be charged to accrued sick leave, accrued vacation leave, or accrued compensatory time off, or shall be without pay.
- 2. The University may require verification of an employee's military orders to report for a physical examination.

H. REINSTATEMENT

Following release from military service, an employee shall have such right to return, and only such right, as may be required by State and Federal law in effect at the time the employee applies for reinstatement. Upon reinstatement, an employee shall receive salary range adjustments applicable to the employee's position during the military leave as provided by the Agreement.

ARTICLE 22 MOVING EXPENSES

A. **POLICY**

Payment for moving expenses may be granted by the University when an employee moves from one University work location to another University work location at the University's request. No expenses shall be paid to an employee if the University determines that the new work location is within reasonable commuting distance of the previous location.

B. **EXPENSES TO BE PAID**

Expenses approved in advance by the University and supported by invoices and receipts may be paid for costs incurred for packing, insurance, transportation, storage in transit (not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days), unpacking and installation of the employee's household effects at a new location. Actual travel expenses for the employee and the employee's immediate family may be paid by the University, not to exceed air coach transportation cost and/or the University allowance for individuals for the cost of meals en route for the employee and the employee's immediate family.

C. LAWRENCE BERKELEY NATIONAL LABORATORY

Policies, procedures, definitions, qualifications, calculations, and rates relative to moving expenses at the Laboratory shall be in accordance with Laboratory policy for other staff employees at the Laboratory.

D. The terms of this Article are not subject to grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 23 MULTIPLE APPOINTMENTS

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Employees with multiple appointments will be covered by the provisions of this Agreement only for the time in which the employees are working in any appointment(s) which would place her/him in the unit, except that the time worked in per diem appointments is covered only by the provisions listed in Article 31 - Positions/Appointments.

B. **BENEFITS**

In the event an individual has multiple appointments, the employee shall be eligible to participate in the benefits provided in Article 4 - University Benefits, according to the UCRS Regulations.

ARTICLE 24 NO STRIKES

- A. During the term of this Agreement or any written extension thereof, the University agrees that there shall be no lockouts by the University. UPTE, on behalf of its officers, agents, and members agrees that there shall be no strikes, stoppages or interruptions of work, or other concerted activities, including sympathy strikes, which interfere directly or indirectly with University operations during the life of this Agreement or any written extension thereof. UPTE, on behalf of its officers, agents, and members, agrees that it shall not in any way authorize, assist, encourage, participate in sanction, ratify, condone, or lend support to any activities in violation of this Article.
- **B.** Any employee who violates this Article shall be subject to discipline up to and including termination employment. Any discipline imposed on career employees based on a violation of this Article shall be in accordance with Article 7 Corrective Action/Discipline and Dismissal.

- **C.** For purposes of sympathy strikes only if an individual fails to work as scheduled, he/she shall not be paid and shall be subject to progressive discipline only as he/she would be for any other absence and not for participating in a sympathy strike.
- D. UPTE shall immediately take whatever affirmative action is necessary to prevent and bring about an end to any concerted activity in violation of this Article. Such affirmative action shall include but not be limited to sending written notice to the home address of all employees engaged in prohibited activity informing them that the concerted activity is in violation of this Article, that engaging in such activity may lead to disciplinary action, and stating that employees engaged in prohibited activity must cease such activity and immediately return to work.
- **E.** Nothing herein constitutes a waiver of the University's right to seek appropriate legal relief in the event of a violation of this article.

ARTICLE 25 NONDISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT

A. **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- 1. Within the limits imposed by law or University policies, the University shall not discriminate against or harass employees on the basis of race, color, religion, marital status, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental disability, medical condition (cancer-related or genetic characteristics), genetic information (including family medical history), HIV status, status as a covered veteran (special disabled veteran, recently separated veteran, Vietnam era veteran or any other veteran who served on active duty during a war or in a campaign or expedition for which a campaign badge has been authorized), age, citizenship, union activity or affiliation. For the purposes of this Article only, medical condition means any health impairment related to or associated with a diagnosis of cancer, for which a person has been rehabilitated or cured based on competent medical evidence.
- 2. General discrimination-related issues not related to any individual's specific complaint may be raised in the labor/management meetings defined in Article 15 Labor-Management Meetings.

B. **SEXUAL HARASSMENT DEFINED**

Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other verbal or physical contact of a sexual nature constitute sexual harassment when:

- 1. submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of employment, or participation in other University activity;
- 2. submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as a basis for evaluation in making personnel decisions affecting an individual; or
- 3. such conduct could reasonably be assumed to have the purpose or effect of interfering with an individual's performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.

C. **GRIEVANCES**

For discrimination complaints to be eligible for processing under the grievance procedure, the complaint must be eligible in accordance with Section C.1., 2., or 3., and the employee or her/his representative must file a grievance at Step 1 within thirty (30) calendar days of the date the employee knew or should have known of the alleged discrimination.

- 1. Allegations of a violation of this Article alone are subject to the Grievance Procedure of this Agreement through Step 2 only.
- 2. An alleged violation of this Article and a non-arbitrable Article shall be subject to the grievance procedure insofar as the other Article is grievable, although it shall not be subject to Arbitration.

3. Allegations of a violation of this Article, when made in connection with a provision of another Article that is grievable beyond Step 2, shall be eligible for appeal to the same degree that the contract provisions to which the grievance is connected is grievable and/or arbitrable.

D. SEXUAL HARASSMENT COMPLAINT RESOLUTION PROCEDURE

With regard to grievances alleging sexual harassment, an employee who has timely filed a grievance may elect to substitute the campus/hospital/LBNL Sexual Harassment Complaint Resolution procedure for Step 1 of the Grievance Procedure. Use of the Sexual Harassment Complaint Resolution procedure shall toll the time limits for Step 1 of the Grievance Procedure only if a grievance has been timely filed, pursuant to Article 10 -Grievance Procedure, Section F.1.a. At any time, an employee may elect to resume the regular grievance procedure in place of the alternate procedure by written notice to the University. The University's Step 1 Grievance response will be issued within fifteen (15) calendar days after such notice to return to Step 1 of the Grievance Procedure is received by the designated campus/hospital/LBNL official.

ARTICLE 26 OUT OF CLASS PAY / TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT

A. An employee who is temporarily assigned by the University to perform all of the functions of a position in a higher classification for twenty (20) consecutive working days or more shall be paid as follows:

Either one step over the regular salary, or the minimum of the higher position's range or at least four percent (4%), whichever is higher.

- B. When the University temporarily assigns an employee some but not all of the duties of a position in a higher classification, the University may pay all or part of the payments indicated above.
- C. An employee who is temporarily assigned to perform the duties of a position in a lower paying classification shall continue to receive the employee's regular rate of pay.

ARTICLE 27 PARKING

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1. The University shall provide to employees covered by this Agreement parking and parking-related services at each campus/hospital/LBNL to the same extent and under the same conditions as normally provided for other University staff employees at the employee's location.
- 2. It is understood and agreed that parking spaces designated for employees may from time to time be eliminated or reassigned due to construction, special events, and/or operational needs of the University.

B. LOCAL PARKING MEETINGS

Local Labor/Management Meetings shall be scheduled by mutual agreement to address parking issues and alternative transportation. Up to three (3) members shall be released pursuant to Article 15 - Labor/Management Meetings in without-loss-of-straight-time status. In addition, one (1) UPTE representative for northern California and one (1) for southern California shall be designated as the systemwide parking advisers to local parking discussions and will be released in without-loss-of-straight-time status to attend two (2) local meetings per year per location with reasonable travel time.

C. PARKING AND TRANSPORTATION RATES FOR EACH FISCAL YEAR

1. Parking and transportation rates shall be set forth in Appendix E - Parking Rates.

- 2. Except as noted below for UCSD and UCSDMC, for Fiscal Years 2008-2009, 2009-2010, 2010-2011, 2011-2012 and 2012-2013, the University shall limit the parking increase for each contract year by the amounts or percentages indicated in Appendix E using the prior year as the benchmark for determining rates for the following year.
- 3. UCSD and UCSDMC shall derive its Fiscal Year (FY) 2010-11 rate using FY2008-09 as the benchmark rate for which the FY2010-11 rate shall not exceed. For all years following FY2010-11, the methodology shall be consistent with that outlined above in C.2.

D. PARKING ENFORCEMENT AT LBNL

LBNL Parking Policy, RPM 1.04, including the referenced *Parking Enforcement System for LBNL Employees and Non-Employees Eligible for Parking Privileges* describes penalties for parking violations as "discipline" or "disciplinary action." For the purposes of this policy only, the term "discipline" or "disciplinary action" for parking violations means parking sanctions (e.g., suspension or revocation of parking privileges) and/or vehicle immobilization as described in the policy. Disciplinary or corrective action up to and including dismissal as specified in Article 7 - Corrective Action/Discipline and Dismissal, shall not be imposed for parking violations in and of themselves. This does not prevent the Laboratory from disciplining an employee whose violation of this policy rises to the level of misconduct under the terms of Article 7 - Corrective Action/Discipline and Dismissal.

Records of parking violations and any related parking sanctions that may be imposed shall not be included in the employee's personnel file. However, copies of disciplinary actions for violations of this policy that rise to the level of misconduct will be placed in the employee's personnel file as in the case of any other disciplinary action.

ARTICLE 28 PAYROLL DEDUCTION

A. GENERAL CONDITIONS

- 1. UPTE-CWA shall establish the monthly amount it requires for union members' dues and initiation fees, and the amount required of unit members for agency fees. UPTE shall certify to the University in writing the monthly union dues and agency fee amounts, and the amount of members' initiation fees. The amount of the agency fee shall not exceed the monthly dues that are payable by members of UPTE. The University agrees to deduct from the pay of represented employees the amount of agency fees and dues UPTE has certified in writing.
- 2. UPTE may change the amounts to be deducted from unit employees' pay once per calendar year. Any annual changes in the amounts to be deducted for UPTE dues or agency fees shall be certified to the University, in writing, at least forty-five (45) calendar days prior to the effective date of such change. All actual costs associated with changing the dues/agency fee amount (machine, programming, etc.) shall be paid by UPTE, following discussion with UPTE.
- 3. Dues/agency fee deductions shall be monthly, or, where applicable, more frequently, in accordance with University payroll procedures in place at the time the deduction is made, unless there are insufficient net earnings in that period to cover said deduction.

B. **DUES AND FEES**

The payment of fair share fees and union dues through payroll deduction will continue even if the collective bargaining agreement expires.

1. Union Dues

a. The University will deduct from the pay of union members who have submitted a written individual authorization for the deduction of union dues, the monthly amount certified by the Union to be the dues required

- for the employee's membership in the Union. The employee's authorization must be provided on a form agreed upon by the parties.
- b. Dues deductions shall be effective following the University's receipt of the authorization form and completion of the appropriate programming and/or payroll changes.
- c. An employee may at any time cancel her/his authorization for payroll dues deduction by presenting her or his written request for termination and cancellation to the designated University office. The University will send a copy of the written request for cancellation of dues deduction to UPTE.

2. Agency Fees

- a. Employees who do not pay union dues shall pay agency fees as a condition of employment. The amount of the fee shall be deducted by the University from the wages or salary of the employee and paid to UPTE.
- b. Employees who are conscientious objectors to the payment of agency fees must apply for objector status with UPTE.
 - 1) UPTE shall determine the validity of the employee's status as a conscientious objector.
 - 2) If UPTE agrees to the objector status of the employee it shall provide monthly to the University proof of payments made to Charitable Organizations.

C. PROCESSING PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS FOR DUES AND FEES

- 1. For each dues/fee deduction check submitted to UPTE, each campus/hospital/LBNL shall deduct from the total dues amount remitted, an administrative fee of \$.07 per employee for who dues deductions are being made in addition to \$10.00 for each check remitted. These costs will continue to be charged to UPTE on an ongoing basis.
- 2. Each campus//hospital/LBNL shall remit to UPTE, in the form of a check to an address designated by UPTE, an amount representing the dues/fees deductions less any reduction(s) referenced in Section C.1. above. Accompanying the check shall be a standard electronic and printed deduction report, which shall contain by campus/hospital/LBNL, by local number, an alphabetical listing of the UPTE unit members for who payroll deductions were made. The report shall include the employee identification number, employee name, bargaining unit code, campus code, employee within unit salary, and amount withheld. Any costs associated with changing the deduction report referenced above shall be fully paid by UPTE. The report shall be provided electronically via the File Transfer Protocol (FTP) site.

D. **CORRECTION OF ERRORS**

- 1. If the University fails to make appropriate authorized payroll dues or fee deductions, or any part thereof, the University shall correct the deduction amounts within thirty (30) days of notice from the Union.
- 2. If the University's error resulted in deductions less than the correct amount, the University shall make the additional required deductions to make up the difference between the actual and correct amounts in accordance with current payroll policy regarding additional deductions. However, additional deductions shall not exceed two times the normal dues amount in any given pay period.
- 3. If the error results in payment of more than the correct amount and the Union has received the funds, the Union shall reimburse the employees accordingly.

E. OTHER DEDUCTIONS

Payroll deductions shall be made for UPTE-sponsored programs pursuant to the provisions of the University's Accounting Manual requirements. For insured benefit programs the section of the Accounting Manual entitled "Special Regulations for Non-University Insured Benefit Program" applies. For other than insured benefit programs the section of the Accounting Manual entitled "Employee Organizations" applies.

Effective ninety (90) days after ratification of this agreement, or July 1, whichever is later, the Elizabeth Glaser AIDS Foundation deduction shall be made available to employees.

F. INDEMNIFICATION

It is specifically agreed that the University assumes no obligation other than that specified in Section A., above, or liability, financial or otherwise, arising out of the provisions of this Article. UPTE shall inform the University when the amount of the monthly dues changes. Such notice should be sent in time to provide for appropriate programming. Further, UPTE hereby agrees that it will reimburse the University for any cost and indemnify and hold the University harmless from any claims, actions, or proceedings by any person or entity, arising from deductions made by the University pursuant to this Article.

ARTICLE 29 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

A. **DEFINITION**

Performance Evaluation is a constructive process to acknowledge the performance of a non-probationary career employee. An employee's evaluation shall be sufficiently specific to inform and guide the employee in the performance of her/his duties. Performance evaluation is not in and of itself a disciplinary procedure.

B. **EVALUATION OF EMPLOYEES**

- 1. The performance of each employee shall be evaluated at least annually, in accordance with a process established by the University. Nothing in this Article shall prohibit the written evaluation of any employee more frequently than once annually.
- 2. The performance of non-probationary career employees shall be evaluated in writing at least annually on a schedule and in a manner in accordance with the campus/hospital/LBNL determined performance evaluation procedure(s). At the time of evaluation, the employee shall be given a copy of the evaluation and shall have the opportunity to provide written comments regarding the evaluation or add relevant materials which may supplement or enhance the evaluation. The comments or additional relevant materials, if any, shall be attached to the employee's evaluation and placed in the employee's personnel file.
- 3. In the event a non-probationary career employee does not receive the written evaluation, the employee's performance for the year period shall be deemed to have been satisfactory for the purposes of salary increase.
- 4. The annual period within which written performance evaluations of non-probationary career employees are to be provided shall be determined by the University on a campus by campus basis.
- 5. Except in the case of minor or non-substantive changes, the University will give at least forty-five (45) calendar days notice prior to implementing a new performance form or written performance standard and will provide a copy of the proposed form or written standard to UPTE.

C. **DISPUTES**

1. A non-probationary career employee who receives a written performance evaluation with an overall rating of less than satisfactory may file a grievance pursuant to the provisions of Article 10 - Grievance Procedure of this Agreement.

Such grievance concerning the content of a performance evaluation rating the employee as less than satisfactory shall be eligible to be processed through Steps 1 and 2 of the Grievance Procedure but shall not be eligible for review at Step 3 of the Grievance Procedure. The remedy for such a grievance shall be limited to revision of the section(s) being grieved and revision of the rating(s) in question.

2. Disputes arising regarding the performance evaluation of employees, including but not limited to the form, timing, procedure, impact and effects, shall not be subject to Article 10 - Grievance Procedure of this Agreement, except as set forth in Section C.1. above.

ARTICLE 30 PERSONNEL FILES

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Location of Personnel Files

Personnel files may be located in an employee's employing department and/or the campus/medical center/laboratory Human Resources Department.

2. Information in the Files

- a. An employee's personnel file(s) contain information pertaining, but not limited, to: employment, such as the application for employment, tests, and letters or statements of reference; pay and benefits; training; conduct; education, honors and awards; duties and job classification; performance; discipline, release, and dismissal actions; attendance; and other relevant or necessary information specified by the University.
- b. Copies of letters of disciplinary action, along with copies of proofs of service that accompany the letters, upon being provided to an employee, shall be placed in the employee's personnel file(s). The employee's written comments, if any, regarding such letters shall be placed in his or her personnel file(s). Such comments shall not require the University to change or alter the letters or the actions indicated by the letters.
- c. Letters of disciplinary action shall, upon written request of the employee, be removed from the employee's personnel file(s) if there have been no other disciplinary actions of the same or of a similar kind for a two-year (2-year) period, unless required by law. If there have been no other disciplinary actions of the same or similar kind for a two-year (2-year) period, materials which would be removed upon an employee's request which are more than two (2) years old will not be used or relied upon to take or support disciplinary action. The employee shall receive the written request and the document(s) back.
- d. Upon the employee's written request, counseling memoranda and/or written records of discussions will be removed from the employee's personnel file if there have been no other such memoranda relating to, or disciplinary action on, the same or similar issue(s) for a two-year (2-year) period. Counseling memoranda and/or written records of discussion, in and of themselves, are not discipline nor are they grievable/arbitrable.
- e. Items placed in an employee's personnel file(s) shall contain the date of the document's creation, and its source, and may contain the date on which the information was placed in the file.

B. EMPLOYEE AND/OR REPRESENTATIVE REVIEW OF PERSONNEL FILE(S)

An employee shall, upon written request to the University, have the opportunity to review his or her personnel file(s) within a reasonable time in the presence of a representative of the University.

- 1. An employee shall be granted a reasonable amount of time in without-loss-of-straight-time pay status to review his or her personnel file(s). When granting such requests, the immediate supervisor shall take into account the frequency of such requests and the amount of time the employee is or will be engaged in such activity and the impact on operational requirements.
- 2. An individual of the employee's choice may accompany the employee when the employee is reviewing his or her personnel file(s).
- 3. Alternatively, an individual employee may authorize a designated representative to review the employee's personnel file(s) on the employee's behalf. Such written authorization shall be valid for a period of thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the signature of the authorization or within a written time limit specified by the employee.
- 4. When the employee has chosen a member of the Unit to assist in the review of the file(s), that person's release time shall be in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

C. PROTECTED INFORMATION

Records protected by recognized legal privilege and records excepted from disclosure by law may be withheld from the employee and/or the employee's representative.

D. GRIEVANCE-RELATED FILES

Records involving the processing of an employee's grievance, such as the grievance form, step appeals/responses, and settlement documents, will be kept in a file separate from the employees' personnel file. It is not the intent of this section to exclude from the employee's personnel file final disciplinary action documents, including those that result from a settlement agreement.

E. DUPLICATION COSTS

Employees shall receive, without cost, a first copy of documents, or extracts thereof, that are located in his or her personnel file. However, employees may be charged the same fees as are customarily charged other staff employees for additional copies of documents in the employee's personnel file.

ARTICLE 31 POSITIONS / APPOINTMENTS

A. CAREER APPOINTMENTS

- 1. Career appointments are established at a fixed or variable percentage of time at fifty percent (50%) or more of full-time and are expected to continue for one (1) year or longer.
- 2. A career appointment may also be established by conversion from a limited appointment pursuant to Section B.2. of this Article.

B. **LIMITED APPOINTMENTS**

- 1. A limited appointment is established at any percentage of time, fixed or variable, during which the appointee is expected to be on pay status for less than one thousand (1,000) hours in a rolling twelve (12)-month period.
- 2. In the event that a limited appointment employee attains 1,000 hours of qualifying service within a rolling twelve (12) months, without a break in service of at least one hundred twenty (120) consecutive calendar days, the incumbent's appointment shall convert to career. The University shall notify the employee of the eligibility for conversion.
 - a. Qualifying service includes all time on pay status in one or more limited appointments at the campus/hospital/LBNL. Pay status shall not include on-call or overtime hours.

- b. Such career conversion shall be effective on the first day of the month following attainment of one thousand (1000) hours of qualifying service.
- c. Any break in service of one hundred twenty (120) days or longer shall result in a new 12-month period for purposes of calculating the one thousand hour (1000-hour) requirement.
- 3. The automatic conversion to career status, as provided in Section B.2. above, will not occur when:
 - a. An employee who was hired as a replacement for another person who is on an extended leave that exceeds one thousand (1,000) hours; or
 - b. The position into which the employee is hired is not an "ongoing" position, in that the position is established and funded for less than a year at any percent of time, or
 - c. The funding for the position is "one time" funding, of eighteen (18) months or less, or
 - d. The employee was hired specifically to work on a short-term project lasting no more than one year.
- 4. Employees in limited appointments may have their appointment terminated or have their time reduced at the sole discretion of the University and without recourse to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement.
- 5. An employee who is appointed to a limited appointment will be automatically terminated as of the last day of the appointment unless there is an earlier separation or a formal extension of the appointment.

C. **REASSIGNMENT**

The reassignment of an employee in a full-time career appointment to a partial-year appointment, to a part-time career appointment, or to a limited appointment, at a fixed or variable percentage of time shall be considered a reduction in time and must be carried out in accordance with the provisions of Article 16 - Layoff and Reduction in Time.

D. **PARTIAL-YEAR APPOINTMENTS**

1. General Provisions

Partial-year appointments are career appointments established with regularly scheduled periods during which the incumbents remain employees but are not at work. These scheduled periods during which employees are not at work are designated as furloughs and are without pay. Furlough periods are not to exceed a total of three (3) months in each calendar year.

When calculating time in pay status during a calendar year the University shall include any period of time for which an employee receives pay for time worked, or for time on paid leave. Paid leave time includes compensatory time off, sick leave, extended sick leave, vacations, holidays, or military leave with pay. Lumpsum payments for terminal vacation do not represent time on pay status.

2. **Pay**

Employees with partial-year career appointments may choose either to receive paychecks during pay periods worked only, or to distribute their pay so that they will receive twelve (12) (or the bi-weekly equivalent) paychecks throughout the year. Employees who occupy partial-year career positions and who elect the pay-over-twelve (12) months option must occupy the partial-year career position at least nine (9) months (or the bi-weekly equivalent) before receiving pay during the furlough period.

3. Benefits

An employee in a designated partial-year career appointment shall be provided the University's contribution to the cost of applicable University-sponsored benefits in accordance with the provisions of Article 4 - University Benefits. For health plans which require an employee contribution, employees on furlough must remit the amount of the employee's contributions in accordance with the applicable plan rules to remain in force.

- 4. Benefit coverage, including all types of insurance coverage, shall be in accordance with applicable plan rules.
- 5. Time on furlough is not qualifying time for vacation leave, sick leave, holiday pay, or service computation for seniority or retirement.

E. REHIRED RETIREES

Rehired Retirees working in positions covered by this unit will be eligible to elect to waive future retirement accruals to the same extent that other rehired retirees in staff positions are eligible.

F. LAWRENCE BERKELEY NATIONAL LABORATORY (LBNL)

- 1. The definitions of career, limited, term and rehired retiree appointments that are currently in effect at the Laboratory shall remain in effect.
- 2. When a vacant position is designated as a term appointment, the Laboratory shall provide a notice to UPTE at least five (5) working days before the proposed date of posting. The notice to the union shall include the business reason(s) for the term appointment designation. Upon UPTE's request, the parties shall meet to discuss the union's concerns. If a meeting is requested during the notice period but cannot reasonably be scheduled prior to the proposed posting date, posting may be delayed up to two (2) weeks to allow time for such a meeting to occur.
- 3. Term appointments apply to staff hired to work on a specified project of clearly limited duration for six (6) months to three (3) years. If the initial appointment is between six (6) and twelve (12) months, the individual must be on a fixed one hundred percent (100%) schedule. If the initial appointment is one (1) year or more, the appointment must be fixed at fifty percent (50%) time or more. Time spent in term appointments is cumulative.
- 4. Extensions of term appointments beyond three (3) years, to a maximum of five (5) years, will be considered on a case-by-case basis and require an explicit written agreement between LBNL and the President of UPTE Local 184 or designee.
- 5. Term employees do not serve a probationary period, unless the initial appointment is for longer than one (1) year.
- 6. Term employees are not eligible for career-related or educational enrichment programs described in Article 8 Development and Training of this agreement. Term employees are eligible for time off with pay for class attendance and reimbursement of course fees for position-related programs when such training is specifically determined by Lab management to be necessary for them to perform their respective assignments.
- 7. The layoff and severance provisions described in Article 16 Layoff and Reduction in Time of this agreement do not apply to term employees.
- 8. Employees in term appointments are automatically terminated as of the last day of their appointment unless there is a written notice of extension of the appointment. Employees in term appointments may be terminated before the end of their appointment for disciplinary reasons or substandard performance. The appointment may also be terminated early for lack of funds, lack of work, or changes in operational/business needs in which case, whenever possible, an employee should be given at least thirty (30) days' advance written notice that his/her appointment will be terminated. The early termination of a term appointment is not grievable or arbitrable.

10. Once a position has been designated as a term appointment per #2 above, the posting of any additional term appointments supporting the same project requires an explicit written agreement between LBNL and the President of UPTE local 184 or designee if the appointment dates of the positions overlap.

ARTICLE 32 PROBATIONARY PERIOD

A. GENERAL CONDITIONS

- Employees appointed to career positions shall serve a probationary period of six

 (6) months of continuous service at one-half (1/2) time or more without a break in service, commencing on the first day of actual work.
- 2. Time on leave, with or without pay, is not qualifying service for the completion of the probationary period.
- 3. During a full probationary period, the employees' work performance and general suitability for University employment shall be evaluated in writing, at or near the midpoint.
- 4. Employees who are rehired following a break in service of one (1) year or less shall not be required to serve a new probationary period, provided:
 - a. rehire occurs in the same class and specialty within the same department, and
 - b. the rehired employee had regular status in that class at the time of termination.

Otherwise rehired employees serve a probationary period. This Section does not apply to employees rehired pursuant to Article 16 – Layoff and Reduction in Time sections on preference and recall.

B. TRANSFER FROM NON-CAREER TO CAREER POSITIONS

- 1. A non-career employee appointed, transferred or promoted to a career appointment within the unit may, at the sole discretion of the University, be required to serve a six (6) month probationary period upon employment in the career position.
- 2. However, a non-career employee in a limited appointment who has met the criteria in Article 31 Positions/Appointments Section B.2. for conversion to career status and who has worked in the same limited appointment in which s/he is directly converted will have such time in that appointment applied against the probationary period for the new career appointment. For the purposes of this provision, "same appointment" means an appointment in the same department/unit and with the same duties as the appointment to which the individual was assigned prior to conversion, and which reports to the same supervisor as did the previous limited appointment.
- 3. A non-career employee in a limited appointment who has at least six (6) months of continuous service at fifty percent (50%) time or more in a non-career appointment and who is appointed or is converted in accordance with Article 31 Positions/Appointments, Section B.2. to a career position with substantially similar job duties shall have three (3) months service credit toward completion of her/his probationary period in the new career position.

C. EXTENSION OF PROBATIONARY PERIOD

The University may choose to extend an employee's probationary period. Such an extension shall be for a specific period of time not to exceed three (3) months. At least seven (7) calendar days prior to the effective date of the probationary period extension, the University shall provide the employee with written notification of the extension of the probationary period, including the period's end date and the reason(s) for the extension.

D. RELEASE DURING PROBATIONARY PERIOD

Prior to the completion of the probationary period, an employee may be released at the sole discretion of the University. The employee shall be informed of the general reason(s) for her/his release.

E. **DISPUTES**

- 1. Except for the University's failure to provide a performance evaluation pursuant to Section A.3. above, actions taken by the University under the provisions of this Article are not subject to the grievance or arbitration procedures of the Agreement.
- 2. In the event an employee alleges that the University failed to provide a performance evaluation as provided in Section A.3. above, the remedy shall be limited to evaluating the employee's performance in writing.

ARTICLE 33 REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1. The University provides reasonable accommodation to otherwise qualified employees who become disabled and need assistance to perform the essential functions of their positions. The interactive process shall be used to determine what, if any, reasonable accommodation will be made. Reasonable accommodations shall be provided in the following, non-exclusive scenarios:
 - a. When an employee with a disability needs an accommodation to enable him or her to perform the essential functions of the position.
 - b. When an employee with a disability needs an accommodation to enable him or her to gain access to his or her workstation; and
 - c. When an employee with a disability needs an accommodation to enjoy equal benefits and privileges of employment.

B. THE INTERACTIVE PROCESS

1. Upon receipt of an employee's request for an accommodation, the parties will engage in the interactive process, which is an ongoing dialogue between the employee and appropriate representatives of the University about possible options for reasonably accommodating the employee's disability. Options may include, but are not limited to: assistive devices; modification of existing facilities; and restructuring the job. Both the University and the employee are expected to participate in the interactive process, so as to ensure timely, good faith communications and a reasonable accommodation, if any, for the employee with a disability. The employee may have his or her representative participate in this dialogue.

During the interactive process the University considers information related to: the essential functions of the job; functional limitations; possible accommodations; the reasonableness of possible accommodations; and implementation of a reasonable accommodation. This information will be used by the University to determine what, if any, reasonable accommodation will be made.

- 2. a. The University will process requests for reasonable accommodation and provide accommodations where reasonable and appropriate and in as short a time frame as reasonably possible. The parties recognize, however, that the time necessary to process a request will depend on the nature of the accommodation requested and whether it is necessary to obtain supporting information.
 - b. Should an employee wish to receive an update as to the status of his/her request, he/she may contact the assigned University representative. The

University representative will respond to the employee's request for updated information in a timely manner.

C. MEDICAL DOCUMENTATION

The employee is responsible for providing medical documentation to assist in understanding the nature of the employee's functional limitations. When necessary, the University may require that the employee be examined by a University-appointed licensed healthcare provider. In such a case, the University shall pay the costs of any medical examinations requested or required by the University.

D. SPECIAL SELECTION FOR OTHER POSITIONS

A non-probationary career employee who becomes disabled and who has received vocational rehabilitation services may be selected for a position without the requirement that the position be publicized.

E. TRIAL EMPLOYMENT

When recommended by a vocational rehabilitation counselor and approved by the appropriate University official, a non-probationary career employee who becomes a qualified employee with a disability may be offered temporary trial employment to evaluate the employee's interests and abilities. The length of this trial employment, which shall not exceed one (1) year, shall be determined by the counselor in consultation with the employing department/division head. Positions used for trial employment shall not be designated as career positions, except that an employee shall maintain benefits to the extent permitted by benefit plan rules.

ARTICLE 34 RELEASE TIME FOR BARGAINING

- Α. UPTE shall designate as a bargaining team member for the unit not more than one (1) active status bargaining unit employee per campus, for a total eleven (11) bargaining team members from the bargaining unit. UPTE shall provide in writing the names of the designated permanent members of its bargaining team to the Office of Labor Relations at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the first scheduled bargaining session. In the event any designated member is to be permanently replaced, the name of the permanent replacement shall be communicated in writing to the Office of Labor The Office of Labor Relations shall acknowledge in writing the newly designated permanent replacement, and inform the appropriate work location. Such notification of a permanent replacement shall be made to the Office of Labor Relations two (2) workweeks prior to the first scheduled bargaining session to be attended by the replacement employee. Designated team members who are members of the bargaining unit may be released from their work assignments without loss of straight-time pay to attend scheduled bargaining sessions. Alternates or substitutes for any of the designated team members may be permitted when UPTE has provided the University with the name and work location of the replacement at least two (2) weeks in advance of the date of the change, unless the parties agree to a shorter notice period.
- B. No more than a total of nine (9) bargaining unit employees shall be in without-loss-of-straight-time-pay and benefits status for attendance at scheduled bargaining sessions for the unit including reasonable travel time to attend bargaining sessions. Without-loss-of-straight-time-pay status shall be provided only for bargaining sessions, and only for the days which the member would have been scheduled to work had s/he not been released from her/his work assignments to attend scheduled bargaining sessions. The hours for which any of the designated union bargaining team members are in without-loss-of-straight-time-pay status shall not exceed the bargaining session and shall not exceed forty (40) hours per week. Time in without-loss-of-straight-time-pay status for the purpose of bargaining shall not count in the calculation of overtime, and will not result in any double payment for the hours in such status. Deviation from this paragraph may be made only by mutual agreement of the parties on a case-by-case basis.
- C. Bargaining sessions are defined as the pre-scheduled face-to-face meetings, and related caucuses during meeting days, for the purpose of negotiating terms and conditions of an Agreement. If no meeting actually takes place during the scheduled

meeting day as the result of the University's unavailability to appear at the bargaining table, or the University agrees that a full-day union bargaining team caucus is necessary to the bargaining process, the University may designate a day without a face-to-face meeting as a "bargaining session".

- D. An employee designated as a bargaining team member for the unit shall provide her/his supervisor with written notice of their intent to attend scheduled bargaining sessions as soon as practicable following the scheduling of bargaining sessions. A bargaining team representative may be denied release time for bargaining, either in paid or unpaid status, if her/his supervisor is not provided at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior notice of her/his need for release time, unless the parties agree to a shorter notice period.
- **E.** UPTE shall provide an attendance roster at the end of each bargaining session.
- **F.** Reasonable travel time means actual travel, via the most expeditious method of transportation available, to and from scheduled bargaining sessions for the designated employees.
- **G.** Attendance by a bargaining team member at scheduled bargaining sessions shall constitute fulfillment of the employee's work obligation for that day.
- **H.** The University shall make a good faith effort to modify a bargaining team member's work schedule in order to accommodate her/his participation in bargaining sessions.

ARTICLE 35 RESIGNATION / JOB ABANDONMENT

A. RESIGNATION

- 1. Employees who voluntarily separate from employment with the University, other than retirement, are considered to have resigned their employment with the University.
- 2. Upon the employee's submission of a written notice of resignation there shall be no withdrawal or rescinding of the resignation except by the written mutual agreement of the University and the employee.
- 3. In the event an employee provides an oral notice of resignation, s/he may rescind such notice within two (2) scheduled work days following the oral notice. If such oral notice is not rescinded within the two (2) work-day limit, there shall be no withdrawal or rescission of her/his resignation except by the written mutual agreement of the University and the employee.

4. Final Paycheck

- a. With the exception of retirement, the final paycheck (including earnings to date, overtime, compensatory time and vacation hours) shall be paid to the employee in a timely manner normally within seventy-two (72) hours and in conformance with appropriate sections of the Labor Code. If the employee gave seventy-two (72) hours or more notice, the final paycheck will be provided on the last day of work. Retirement compensation shall be provided pursuant to retirement plan regulations.
- c. When an employee does not give seventy-two (72) hours notice of intention to resign, the University shall make the final paycheck available within seventy-two (72) hours. Upon the employee's request, the final paycheck may be mailed to an address designated by the employee. Otherwise, it will be mailed to the employee's last known mailing address on file. If the date of pay falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or weekday holiday, actual payment may be on the next business day. Monday through Friday will be considered business days at all locations including Medical Centers and other 24-hour/7-day operations.

B. JOB ABANDONMENT

Failure to report to work as scheduled for five (5) consecutive work days may be treated by the University as an employee's job abandonment resulting in her/his resignation:

- 1. In the case of job abandonment, the University shall provide the employee and the Union with written notification of its intent to separate her/him. This notification shall include the reasons for the separation, the employee's right to respond to the University within fourteen (14) calendar days, and a Proof of Service. The notification shall be sent to the employee's last known mailing address.
- 2. The employee shall have fourteen (14) calendar days from the mailing of such notice to respond to the University prior to her/his separation. The response may, at the option of the employee, be in writing or may be a meeting with a designated University official. The official must have the authority to effectively recommend reinstatement of the employee.
- 3. Following the employee's timely response, or if no response was provided within fourteen (14) calendar days, the decision of the designated University official is not subject to the grievance and/or arbitration provisions of this Agreement.
- **C.** The University shall notify the employee in writing at the employee's last known mailing address of all actions taken under the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE 36 RESPECTFUL AND FAIR TREATMENT

- A. UPTE and the University recognize that respectful, fair treatment of others promotes a work environment and organizational culture that supports and values all members of the University community. Therefore, officers of the University shall treat members of the bargaining unit with dignity and respect in all interactions. In addition, members of the bargaining unit shall treat officers of the University with dignity and respect in all interactions.
- B. Nothing in this Article shall be construed to change established University policies and practices about political expression and/or freedom of speech; nor shall anything in this Article impede normal expression in labor-management communications.
- C. Any complaints arising from this Article, Sections A. and B. above shall be grievable only through Step Two of the grievance process.

ARTICLE 37 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this Agreement is found to be contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be of no force or effect; but the remainder of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. The parties shall promptly meet and confer in good faith with respect to any provision found to be in contravention of the law, in order to agree on a substitute provision.

ARTICLE 38 SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Non-exempt eligible employees who are regularly assigned to an evening or night shift shall be paid a shift differential for all hours including overtime which are worked, in accordance with the following provisions. These provisions only apply to those working in titles with established shift differential rates as listed by location in Appendix A. Work that is scheduled during the evening or night hours on the basis of convenience to the employee shall not be considered an assigned evening or night shift for the purpose of receiving shift differential.

B. EVENING AND NIGHT SHIFTS

An evening or night shift differential shall be paid for all hours of a shift when four (4) hours or more of a shift are worked after 5:00 p.m. and before 8:00 am.

C. TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT TO SHIFT WITHOUT A DIFFERENTIAL

When an employee who usually works on an evening or night shift is temporarily assigned to a day shift for a period of four (4) working days or less, the employee shall continue to receive any shift differential. A temporary change of four (4) working days or less in shift assignment initiated by the employee is not covered by this provision.

D. SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL WHEN ON PAID LEAVE

The shift differential shall be included in payments for all types of paid leave, provided that the employee would have been expected to work that shift or shifts if the employee were not on paid leave.

E. SHIFT ASSIGNMENTS TO TITLES WITHOUT ESTABLISHED SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL RATES

Prior to assigning a shift differential rate to a classification that does not have an established rate, the University will provide notice and meet and confer with UPTE the shift differential rate to be assigned to that classification.

ARTICLE 39 SICK LEAVE

A. ACCUMULATION OF SICK LEAVE CREDIT

- 1. If a campus/hospital/LBNL implements the Factor Accrual System, an eligible employee shall earn sick leave credit at the rate of .046154 hours per hour on pay status, including paid holiday hours but excluding all paid overtime hours.
- 2. If a campus/hospital/LBNL uses the Table Accrual System, an eligible employee shall earn sick leave credit at the rate of eight (8) hours per month for full-time employment. Sick leave credit is earned proportionately, as set forth in the Sick Leave Credit Table below, for hours on pay status over one-half (1/2) of the full-time working hours of the month but less than full-time.
- 3. Until a campus/hospital/LBNL provides notice to UPTE of a proposed change to either the Table Accrual System or the Factor Accrual System, current accrual practices will remain in place.

SICK LEAVE CREDIT TABLE -----Number of Hours on Pay Status-----

160-Hour* <u>Month</u>	168-Hour* <u>Month</u>	176-Hour* <u>Month</u>	184-Hour* <u>Month</u>	Percent of Time on Pay Status	Hours of Sick Leave <u>Earned</u>
0 - 79	0 - 83	0 - 87	0 - 91	0 - 49	0
80 - 89	84 - 94	88 - 98	92 - 103	50 - 56	4
90 - 109	95 - 115	99 - 120	104 - 126	57 -68	5
110 - 129	116 - 136	121 - 142	127 - 149	69 - 80	6
130 - 149	137 - 157	143 - 164	150 - 172	81 - 93	7
150 - 160	158 - 168	165 - 176	173 - 184	94 - 100	8

^{*}Hours on pay status, including paid holiday hours, but excluding all paid overtime hours.

- 4. An employee must be on pay status for at least one-half (1/2) of the working hours of a month or quadri-weekly cycle to earn sick leave credit for that month or quadri-weekly cycle. Time on pay status in excess of a full-time work schedule does not earn sick leave credit. Sick leave is earned during leave with pay. For the purposes of this Agreement, a quadri-weekly cycle is defined as two biweekly pay periods designated by the University to be considered as one unit for the purpose of leave accrual.
- 5. For employees on either system, earned sick leave for each month or quadri-weekly cycle is credited on the first day of the following month or quadri-weekly cycle, except that proportionate sick leave credit for an eligible employee who is separating from employment shall be credited at the completion of the last day on pay status.
- 6. The number of sick leave hours which may be accumulated is unlimited.

B. ELIGIBILITY AND USE OF ACCUMULATED SICK LEAVE

1. General Provisions

- a. Requests for the use of sick leave shall be made in accordance with campus or departmental procedures.
- b. Sick leave is to be used for medical appointments with advance approval, personal illness or personal disability; and for the death or serious illness of others as provided in Section B.3. and Section B.4. below. In the case of medical appointments, a request for sick leave shall not be unreasonably denied.
- c. Sick leave shall not be used prior to the time it is credited. Sick leave shall not be used in excess of the employee's normally scheduled hours or work for the day or days for which the sick leave is claimed. Sick leave shall not be used beyond a predetermined date of separation, including retirement or layoff, or beyond a predetermined date beginning a leave of absence without pay.
- d. Exempt employees Except as provided in Article 18 Leaves of Absence, records of sick leave used shall be recorded in one (1) day increments only or in increments of not less than that portion of a day during which an employee on less than full-time status is normally scheduled to work. When an exempt employee has exhausted all accrued sick leave, salary shall not be reduced for absences of less than one (1) full day or less than that portion of a day during which an employee on less than full-time pay status is normally scheduled to work.
- e. Non-exempt employees Records of accrued sick leave usage shall be maintained to the nearest quarter (1/4) hour.

2. Pregnancy

A pregnant employee on approved leave without pay on the date certified by her doctor as the date on which she is no longer able to work or the date of delivery, whichever is earlier, can use sick leave beginning with that day and continuing through the period that she is physically unable to perform the normal duties of her job. A pregnant employee may also be eligible for Pregnancy Disability Leave as provided in Article 18 - Leaves of Absence, Section C.

3. Care of Others

Up to thirty (30) days of accumulated sick leave per year may be used when the employee is required to be in attendance or to provide care for either:

- a. The serious illness of the employee's parent, spouse, same or opposite sex domestic partner, child(ren), brother, sister, grandparent, grandchildren, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or step-relatives; or any other person for whom the employee has a personal obligation who is residing in the employee's household; or
- b. The employee's spouse, parent(s) or child(ren), suffering from a "serious health condition" as defined in Article 18 Leaves of Absence, Section B.1.d.; or
- c. Sick leave granted under this section may be used to offset unpaid Family Care and Medical Leave granted pursuant to Article 18 Leaves of Absence.

4. Bereavement

Sick leave for bereavement purposes may be used as follows:

- a. Up to five (5) days of accumulated sick leave per occurrence may be used when attendance is required due to the death of the employee's parent, spouse, same or opposite sex domestic partner, children, brother, sister, grandparent, grandchildren, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, or step-relatives; or any other person for whom the employee has a personal obligation who is residing in the employee's household.
- b. In the event an employee has a personal obligation for a person other than someone in Section B.4.a. above, the employee shall be permitted to use up to five (5) days of accrued sick leave per calendar year for funeral attendance/bereavement.

5. Illness While on Vacation

If, while on vacation, an employee becomes ill and is under the care of a physician and submits a physician's statement, the employee may use accumulated sick leave for that personal illness. Sick leave may not be used for illness of a family member during the employees' vacation.

C. SICK LEAVE PAY

Sick leave is paid at the employee's straight-time rate of pay including any shift differential, provided that the employee would have been expected to work that shift or shifts if not on sick leave.

D. SICK LEAVE NOTIFICATION AND VERIFICATION

1. No sick leave pay shall be payable to an employee unless the employee's immediate supervisor or designee is notified of the illness/disability and the probable duration thereof as soon as possible, but in no event later than the beginning of the employee's work day except when the University determines that the employee's failure to notify is due to extreme circumstances beyond the control of the employee. Subsequent to an employee's notice of illness/disability, no time for which the employee has requested and/or received sick leave authorization may be charged to accumulated/anticipated compensatory time,

leave with pay, vacation, or holiday time, except as provided in Article 18 - Leaves of Absence.

- 2. Any employee who anticipates a series of three (3) or more medical appointments which will require a repeated use of sick leave, or who knows in advance the date and/or time of scheduled appointments, shall inform his or her immediate supervisor of the anticipated or known schedule of treatment.
- 3. The University may require reasonable documentation of an employee's sick leave absence when an absence exceeds three (3) consecutive scheduled days of work, or for shorter periods when:
 - a. it appears to be justified and,
 - b. notice has been provided to the employee prior to his or her return to work, that documentation will be required, or
 - c. the employee has been given advance written notice that documentation will be required.
- 4. Employees who have unscheduled absences due to illness on a scheduled work day preceding or following a holiday may be required to bring a medical verification of illness to the employee's supervisor on the employee's return to work in order for the absence to be authorized.
- 5. When medical documentation is required by the University, it shall be from a health practitioner licensed by the state in which he or she practices to diagnose and certify illness or disability or from an authorized representative of a recognized treatment program.
- 6. The University may have an employee claiming disability examined by a physician or physicians of its choosing, in accordance with Article 18 Leaves of Absence. The University shall pay the reasonable costs of any such medical examination and, when practical, shall send the employee to a physician of its choosing on the employee's work time.
- 7. When the University has determined that an employee's repeated use of sick leave is abusive, and has given the employee prior written notice that accrued sick leave use may be denied on future instances of illness, such employee may be denied the ability to use his or her accrued sick leave when absent due to illness.

E. TRANSFER AND REINSTATEMENT OF SICK LEAVE

1. Transfer/Promotion/Demotion to positions covered by this Agreement

- a. An employee transferred, promoted, or demoted without a break in service to a position that does accumulate sick leave shall have any accumulated sick leave transferred.
- b. An employee transferred, promoted, or demoted to a position that does not accumulate sick leave shall have his or her accumulated sick leave held in abeyance. If the employee subsequently moves without a break in service to a position which does accumulate sick leave, the previously accumulated sick leave shall be restored.
- c. An employee who has been laid off and is recalled or preferentially rehired within the employee's period of recall or preferential rehire eligibility shall have all sick leave accumulated from prior service reinstated.

2. Reemployment in positions covered by this Agreement

a. An employee reemployed from University service or State of California service into the bargaining unit after a break in service of less than fifteen (15) calendar days shall have all sick leave accumulated from prior service reinstated if the new position is one which accumulates sick leave. b. An employee reemployed in this bargaining unit after a break in service of more than fifteen (15) calendar days but less than six (6) months shall have sick leave accumulated from prior service up to a maximum of eighty (80) hours reinstated. For purposes of this Section E.2. only, "sick leave accumulated from prior service" includes sick leave accumulated in State of California service.

3. Transfer/Promotion/Demotion to positions not covered by this Agreement

- a. An employee who is transferred, promoted, or demoted into a position not covered by this Agreement shall have the accumulation, use, and transfer of sick leave governed by the policies and/or contract covering employees in that unit or personnel program.
- b. This Article shall apply to employees with split/multiple appointments in accordance with the provisions of Article 23 Multiple Appointments.

F. CONVERSION OF SICK LEAVE ON RETIREMENT

Upon retirement, members of the University of California Retirement System shall have their accumulated sick leave converted to retirement service credit at the rate authorized by the University of California Retirement System for each day of unused accumulated sick leave.

G. CATASTROPHIC LEAVE

When the University implements a catastrophic leave program at a campus/hospital/LBNL, or a department at any of these locations, the provisions of the program shall apply equally to eligible employees covered by this Agreement in accordance with local campus/hospital/LBNL procedures.

H. LAWRENCE NATIONAL BERKELEY LABORATORY (LBNL)

Sick Leave (supersedes section B.1.d. of the Sick Leave article in the RX contract for exempt employees at the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory only):

Except as provided in the Leaves of Absence article, records of sick leave used shall be recorded in half-day increments only by exempt employees on full time status. For exempt employees on less than full time status, records of sick leave used shall be recorded in increments of not less than one hour. When an exempt employee has exhausted all accrued sick leave, salary shall not be reduced for absences of less than one full day or less than that portion of a day during which an employee on less than full-time pay status is normally scheduled to work.

ARTICLE 40 SUBCONTRACTING

A. **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- 1. The University retains the right to subcontract all or any portion of operations. When the University decides to subcontract, and such subcontract will result in the layoff of employees in the bargaining unit, the University will provide UPTE with a copy of the Request for Proposals (RFP) seven (7) calendar days after it is issued. In the event no RFP is issued and the subcontract will result in bargaining unit employee layoffs, the University will give at least sixty (60) calendar days notice prior to the commencement of work by the contractor.
- 2. Prior to the commencement of the work that has been subcontracted and following receipt of a timely request from UPTE, the University shall meet with UPTE to discuss the effects of subcontracting upon bargaining unit employees who may be laid off. Failure to conclude such discussions, if any, prior to the date on which the subcontracted work begins, shall not preclude the University from implementing the subcontracting on the date agreed upon by the University and the subcontractor or the layoff of employees pursuant to Article 16 Layoff and Reduction in Time.

B. **DISPLACEMENT OF EMPLOYEES**

- 1. Except as provided below, the University of California will not contract out services that result in the layoff of non-probationary career bargaining unit employees.
- 2. Examples of instances in which a contract for such services may be appropriate include:
 - a. The need to obtain special services and equipment that are not available internally;
 - b. The need to obtain special expertise or efficiencies that are better provided through an outside contractor than by the University; and
 - c. Financial necessity.
- Where financial necessity is the reason for the exception, before contracting for work which is fully or partially supported from state funds, including those at the teaching hospitals, the University shall first seek funding from the Legislature to address the financial necessity.
- 4. When the University has determined to contract for services it will provide UPTE with a copy of any RFP within seven (7) calendar days after it is issued pursuant to Section A.2. above. Such notice shall demonstrate the appropriateness for the contract, in accordance with Section B.2. above.
 - a. If UPTE asks to meet with the University about the proposed contract for services, such a meeting will occur as soon as practicable following the University's receipt of the request. The meeting will not delay the commencement of the contract.
 - b. If UPTE believes that the University failed to comply with the provisions of Section B. above, it can file a formal complaint with the Office of the President, Office of Labor Relations. The Office of the President shall make the final determination as to whether the contract meets the conditions in Section B. The Office of the President decision is not grievable or arbitrable.

C. EFFECT OF CONTRACT ON EMPLOYEES

To minimize the effects of layoff, when a non-probationary career bargaining unit employee is notified of layoff because the University entered into a contract for services that the employee performed, the University will make available another bargaining unit position for which the employee is qualified. The position will be at the same campus/hospital/LBNL from which the employee was laid off. Where the provisions in this article are inconsistent with the provisions of Article 16 - Layoff and Reduction in Time, the provisions of this Article and Section shall control.

- 1. The available position shall be offered at the same duration, percent time, and appointment type held by the employee when displaced.
- 2. The available position shall be offered at the same base rate of pay earned by the employee when displaced.
- 3. The right to be offered a position pursuant to this section shall begin on the date an employee is notified of layoff (displacement).
- 4. The right of the displaced non-probationary career employee to be offered a position pursuant to this section shall terminate upon acceptance or refusal of the offered position at the same base rate of pay.
- 5. A displaced non-probationary career employee who refuses an offered position at the same base rate of pay shall be placed in layoff status.
- D. Nothing in this article shall be interpreted as prohibiting action, which must be taken to establish or maintain eligibility for any federal program, contract or grant including the contract requirements contained in the agreement between the University and the

Department of Energy – where ineligibility would result in a loss of federal funds to the University of California.

ARTICLE 41 TRANSFER/PROMOTION/RECLASSIFICATION

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Until a campus/hospital/LBNL implements an electronic recruitment system, a notice of vacant positions shall be distributed and/or posted in accordance with current practice(s). Prior to implementing an electronic recruitment system, the campus will provide to all employees information about the employee application process under the new system. Any new electronic recruitment process shall be generally accessible to employees and shall have a method available for employees to determine classifications or positions that are generally available to all employees for application, in accordance with the campus system. Upon written request, the University shall provide or make accessible to UPTE a regular list of and information about positions that are under recruitment.

B. RELEASE TIME FOR UNIVERSITY INTERVIEWS

Employees who are scheduled for a job interview at the same location as the employee's current position shall be granted reasonable time off with pay, as determined by the University, if the interview has been scheduled during the employee's normal work hours. An employee scheduled for a job interview at a campus/hospital/LBNL other than where the employee is currently employed shall be granted reasonable time off with pay, as determined by the University, for an amount of time normally equal to the time that would be required for an interview on the employee's own campus/hospital/LBNL, if the interview has been scheduled during the employee's normal work hours.

C. FILLING VACANT POSITIONS

- 1. An active vacant bargaining unit position shall be filled in the following order:
 - a. by recall of a qualified indefinitely laid off non-probationary career employee in accordance with Article 16 Layoff and Reduction in Time
 - b. by preferential rehire of a qualified indefinitely laid off non-probationary career employee in accordance with Article 16 Layoff and Reduction in Time
 - c. by any other qualified applicant.
- 2. When "other qualified applicants" are substantially equally qualified, the University shall first consider providing transfer and promotion opportunities to qualified career employee applicants, including considering their work performance history and experience.
- 3. In those instances where the University is considering the employment qualifications of individuals available for reasonable accommodation or reemployment following medical separation, the provisions of Section C.1. need not apply.

D. EMPLOYEE TRANSFERS/PROMOTIONS

- 1. In considering an employee for transfer and promotion, the University shall consider the employee's University work performance and experience.
- 2. Upon promotion, an employee shall be compensated at a rate at least equivalent to the minimum of the salary range of the new class. In addition, the University at its sole discretion may determine that the employee should receive an increase to greater than the minimum of the salary range of the new class. The University may exercise this sole discretion on a location-by-location basis and on a promotion-by-promotion basis and on a non-precedential basis. In those instances where such discretion is exercised the resultant individual rate of pay shall not exceed the maximum of the position salary range.

- 3. Upon upward reclassification, an employee shall be granted at least a salary increase to the minimum of the salary range of the new class, with at least a four percent (4%) increase, provided that the new rate does not exceed the maximum of the new class.
- 4. In accordance with campus/hospital/LBNL practice, the University shall inform employees of career development and/or training programs which might assist them with transfers and/or promotions.
- 5. An eligible employee who has been laid off and is rehired at another University location within the employee's period of recall will be eligible for the following, only if the employee is eligible for recall, as a result of no break in service:
 - a. reinstatement of all sick leave accumulated from prior service,
 - b. reinstatement of vacation accrual rate,
 - calculation of University service based on full-time equivalent months (or hours) of University service, and
 - d. buy-back of UCRS service credit according to the University Benefit Regulations.
- 6. Decisions or actions regarding the promotion or transfer of an employee are not subject to the Grievance and Arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

E. MOVEMENT BETWEEN POSITIONS/REASSIGNMENT AND REQUESTS FOR RECLASSIFICATION

1. Request For Classification Review

- a. An employee may request a review of the classification of her or–his position. The review shall be based on the employee's job description, as approved by the employee's supervisor.
- b. If the employee makes the request for review of a classification and the supervisor fails to respond within thirty (30) calendar days, the employee may forward the request to the designated University office responsible for classification review.
- c. The response from the University office shall be directed to the supervisor with a copy to the employee.
- d. The University's decision to reclassify or not to reclassify is not subject to the Grievance and Arbitration provisions of this Agreement. However, an employee may request a review of a decision denying a reclassification. The request for a review shall be made in writing to the Human Resources Office within thirty (30) calendar days of the date on which the reclassification decision was issued. The request shall state the basis upon which the employee is requesting a review. The result of the review shall be issued in writing by a representative of the Human Resources Office. The representative who issues the second decision may not be the same individual who performed the initial review.
- e. Beginning July 1, 2006, employees in Staff Research Associate I titles shall be reviewed for reclassification if they are career appointees who have served two full years in the title with at least satisfactory performance. The review shall be conducted by the University in accordance with local classification procedures. The results will be provided to the department, the employee and to UPTE. Upon reclassification to Staff Research Associate II title, the employee will receive at least a five percent (5%) increase provided that the new rate does not exceed the maximum of the new class.

2. Salary Adjustments

- a. Any salary increase resulting from a reclassification shall be retroactive to the first of the month following the date on which the request to the designated University office was received.
- b. Upon movement between positions with different salary range maximums, or the reclassification of the employee's position, an employee shall receive a salary that is within the range of the new classification.

ARTICLE 42 TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT

A. **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

Employees are eligible to receive travel reimbursement in accordance with applicable University or Laboratory policies and/or procedures.

B. **REIMBURSEMENTS**

- 1. The policies, procedures, definitions, qualifications, calculations, covered hours and rates relative to travel reimbursement(s) shall be applied, changed, or implemented for employees covered by this Agreement in the same manner as for other staff employees in the University, except as provided in Section C. below.
- 2. The University may determine, on a department-by-department basis and consistent with the Business and Finance Bulletin, the requirements for reporting travel expenses.
- 3. Reimbursement rates reflect the maximum daily reimbursement provided for specific subsistence expenses, including meals. Only actual reasonable expenses may be reimbursed, including but not limited to mileage, transportation, toll fees, and parking fees.
- 4. When subsistence expense(s) are paid directly by the University, the employee's per diem reimbursement eligibility will be reduced accordingly.
- 5. University-approved out-of-state lodging expenses will be reimbursed based on the expenses actually incurred as supported by receipts, provided the University gave prior approval for or requires actual-expense reimbursements.

C. LAWRENCE BERKELEY NATIONAL LABORATORY (LBNL)

Policies, procedures, definitions, qualifications, calculations, covered hours and rates relative to per diem rates at the Laboratory shall be applied, changed, or implemented for employees covered by this Agreement in the same manner as for other staff employees at the Laboratory.

ARTICLE 43 VACATION

A. VACATION ACCRUALS/CREDIT

1. If a campus implements the following Factor Accrual System, an eligible employee shall earn vacation credit each month or quadri-weekly cycle based on the number of hours on pay status for that month or quadri-weekly cycle at the following rates:

YEARS OF	PER HOUR	APPROXIMATE	MAXIMUM
QUALIFYING	ON	YEARLY	ACCUMULATED
SERVICE	PAY STATUS*	EARNING**	BALANCE
Less than 10	.057692	15 days	240 hours
10 but less than 15	.069231	18 days	288 hours
15 but less than 20	.080769	21 days	336 hours
20 or more	.092308	24 days	384 hours

^{*} Hours on pay status, including paid holiday hours, but excluding all paid overtime hours.

- 2. For campuses retaining the Table Accrual System, an eligible employee shall earn vacation credit each month based on the number of hours on pay status for that month at the following rates:
 - a. ten (10) hours per month for a full-time employee with less than ten (10) years of qualifying service;
 - b. twelve (12) hours per month for a full-time employee with at least ten (10) but less than fifteen (15) years of qualifying service;
 - c. fourteen (14) hours per month for a full-time employee with at least fifteen (15) but less than twenty (20) years of qualifying service; and
 - d. sixteen (16) hours per month for a full-time employee with twenty (20) years or more of qualifying service.
- 3. Earned vacation for each month or quadri-weekly cycle is credited on the first day of the following month or quadri-weekly cycle, except that proportionate vacation credit for an eligible employee who is separating from employment shall be credited at the completion of the last day on pay status.
- 4. Employees in titles formerly covered by the Administrative & Professional Staff Program (A&PS) as of November 1, 1997, shall continue to accrue vacation under the A&PS schedule until whichever event occurs first: a break in service of four (4) or more months, or transfer out of the unit. Upon return to University service after a break in service of four (4) or more months, or to the unit from a position outside the unit, such an employee shall earn vacation in accordance with Section A.1. or A.2. above.
- 5. Should the University adopt a vacation accrual schedule for non-represented staff employees that provides for higher accrual rates at an earlier date in the employee's University career than stated in this Article, members of the RX bargaining unit identified in Section A.4. above, except for those employed at LBNL, will also be eligible for the revised vacation accrual rates on the same effective date to the same extent as the revised policy for non-represented staff employees.

B. ELIGIBILITY

1. An employee is eligible to earn vacation credit from her/his date of hire, prorated in accordance with Section A., above, if appointed at fifty percent (50%) or more of full-time for a period of six (6) months or more. An employee who is not eligible to earn vacation because of a part-time or short term appointment becomes eligible to earn vacation after six (6) continuous months or quadri-weekly cycles on pay status at fifty percent (50%) time or more. For the purposes of this Article, a month of qualifying service is a month of service at one-half (1/2) time or more

^{**} Full-time rate.

- and a quadri-weekly cycle is defined as two (2) bi-weekly pay periods designated by the University.
- 2. An employee does not earn vacation credit for time on pay status in excess of a full-time work schedule.

C. VACATION SCHEDULING

- 1. An employee may request vacation.
- 2. The University has the sole discretion to approve or disapprove vacation requests. Vacation requests shall not be unreasonably denied. An approved vacation request shall not be unreasonably canceled.
- 3. Vacation leave requested by an employee will be scheduled in accordance with the University's operational needs and departmental procedures. Departmental procedures which restrict an employee's ability to schedule vacation shall be based on operational needs.

D. VACATION LEAVE RECORDS

- 1. **Exempt employees** Except as provided in Article 18 Leaves of Absence, records of vacation used shall be recorded in one day increments only or in increments of not less than that portion of a day during which an employee on less than full-time status is normally scheduled to work. When an exempt employee has exhausted all accrued vacation, salary shall not be reduced for absences of less than one full day or less than that portion of a day during which an employee on less than full-time pay status is normally scheduled to work.
- 2. **Non-exempt employees** Records of accrued vacation usage shall be maintained to the nearest quarter (1/4) hour.

E. VACATION CREDIT USE

No vacation shall be used prior to the time it has accrued, except as provided in Article 5 - Campus/Laboratory Closure.

F. VACATION MAXIMUMS

- 1. A full-time employee shall not accrue vacation in excess of the maximum of two (2) times the employee's annual accumulation. A part-time employee shall accrue vacation to a pro-rated maximum number of hours as a full-time employee with comparable years of service.
- Sixty (60) days prior to an employee accruing the maximum amount of vacation, she/he shall be given notice that the maximum accrual will be reached. The employee must request the scheduling of vacation prior to her/his reaching the maximum accrual. If the employee's request to use such accrued vacation is denied due to operational considerations, that employee shall have an additional four (4) months within which she/he must take the vacation to bring her/his vacation accruals below the maximum. Normal vacation shall continue to accrue during the additional four (4) month period.

G. VACATION PAY

- 1. Pay for accumulated vacation shall be at the employee's straight-time rate, including any shift differential paid to employees permanently assigned to a shift which provides a differential.
- 2. An employee who separates from employment or who is granted extended military leave shall be paid for any accumulated vacation through the employee's last day of work, except that an employee who is retiring may use accumulated vacation up to the effective date of retirement.
- 3. An employee released during her/his probationary period shall be paid for accrued vacation time.

H. TRANSFER OF VACATION CREDIT

An employee who is transferred, promoted, or demoted to another position at a University campus in which vacation credit can be accumulated shall have any accumulated vacation credit transferred, unless such transfer is in conflict with the terms covering the new position. An employee who is transferred, promoted, or demoted to a position at a campus in which vacation credit does not accumulate shall be paid for any accumulated vacation at the time of transfer. An employee who is transferred, promoted, or demoted to or from a Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory position shall be paid for any accumulated vacation at the time of transfer.

I. DONATIONS FOR CATASTROPHIC LEAVE

Any bargaining unit employee may participate in a campus/hospital/LBNL's Catastrophic Illness/Injury Leave program, if any, in accordance with the provisions of that location's program.

J. LAWRENCE BERKELEY NATIONAL LABORATORY

Vacation (supersedes section D.1 of the Vacation article in the RX contract for exempt employees at the Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory only):

Except as provided in the Leaves of Absence article, records of vacation used shall be recorded in half-day increments only by exempt employees on full time status. For exempt employees on less than full time status, records of vacation used shall be recorded in increments of not less than one hour. When an exempt employee has exhausted all accrued vacation, salary shall not be reduced for absences of less than one full day or less than that portion of a day during which an employee on less than full-time pay status is normally scheduled to work.

ARTICLE 44 WAIVER

- A. The University and UPTE acknowledge that:
 - 1. During the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each party had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining;
 - 2. This Agreement constitutes the entire contract arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity;
 - 3. This Agreement supersedes and replaces the specific rights and/or procedures set forth under the various personnel programs and policies, which previously applied to employees covered by this Agreement.
- B. As a result of the acknowledgments in Section A. above, the University and UPTE agree that, for the term of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to, or covered within this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered by this Agreement, even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this Agreement.
- C. Notwithstanding Section B. above, the articles in this contract may be reopened for negotiation at any time by mutual agreement of the parties.

ARTICLE 45 WORK-INCURRED INJURY OR ILLNESS

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

This Article defines the application of sick leave and vacation for employees who are unable to work due to a work-incurred injury or illness compensable under the California Workers' Compensation Act, and provides extended sick leave benefits for such employees when sick leave is exhausted and employees are still unable to work because of such injury or illness.

- An employee unable to perform the normal duties of her/his job due to a work-incurred illness or injury compensable under the California Workers' Compensation Act may be granted leave for the duration of a verified disability but not to exceed twelve (12) months or a predetermined date of separation, whichever comes earlier.
- 2. Work-Incurred Injury or Illness Leave runs concurrently with Family Medical Leave.
- 3. An approved leave of absence for work-incurred illnesses or injuries shall not be considered a break in service.
- 4. Employees who are unable to work due to a work-incurred injury or illness compensable under the California Workers' Compensation Act are eligible to use accrued sick leave and vacation as provided below. When sick leave is exhausted and when employees are still unable to work because of such illness or injury, employees may use extended sick leave or leave without pay as provided below.
- 5. An employee shall notify her/his supervisor of the need for leave for a work-incurred injury or illness, or any extension of such leave, as soon as practicable after the need for such leave or extension is known. This notification shall include written medical certification of the need for such leave or extension, and the anticipated return to work date.

B. EXTENSIONS OF WORK-INCURRED INJURY OR ILLNESS LEAVE

In the event an employee requires an extension to her/his work-incurred injury or illness leave, s/he shall provide the University with a statement from her/his licensed health care practitioner of the need for the extension and the anticipated return to work date.

- 1. Such a statement must be provided ten (10) calendar days prior to the date the employee was previously scheduled to return to work.
- 2. In the event prior notice is not provided, the University will not pay extended sick leave to the employee for the period between the previously scheduled return date and the date the statement is received.

C. RETURN FROM WORK-INCURRED INJURY OR ILLNESS LEAVE

- 1. Prior to returning to work, an employee granted a work-incurred injury or illness leave must provide the University with a statement from her/his licensed health care practitioner of the employee's ability to return to work. When possible, an employee granted a work-incurred injury or illness leave must provide the University with ten (10) calendar days notice of her/his ability to return to work. If a return to work specifies restrictions, the University will consider what accommodation, if any, will reasonably be made.
- 2. If the position held has been abolished during the leave, the employee shall be afforded the same considerations which would have been afforded had that employee been on pay status when the position was abolished.

D. SUPPLEMENTAL SICK LEAVE AND VACATION

- 1. An employee who accrues sick leave and vacation shall be permitted to use accrued sick leave and vacation to supplement temporary disability payments received under the California Workers' Compensation Act.
- 2. Sick leave and vacation payments shall be the difference between the amount payable to the employee under the Workers' Compensation Act and the employee's regular salary. The additional payment made to an employee to provide the employee with full salary prior to receipt of disability payments shall be deemed an advance temporary disability payment within the Workers' Compensation Act.
- 3. An employee who receives advance temporary disability payment shall reimburse the University for such payment. The reimbursement is used to restore proportionate sick leave and vacation credit as appropriate.

E. EXTENDED SICK LEAVE

- 1. An employee who is receiving temporary disability payments and who has exhausted all accrued sick leave shall receive extended sick leave payments from the University in an amount equal to the difference between the payments from Workers' Compensation and eighty percent (80%) of the basic salary plus any shift differential which the employee would have received. If such an employee returns to part-time University duties, the earnings plus any temporary disability payments, if less than eighty percent (80%) of basic salary plus shift differential, shall be supplemented to eighty percent (80%) by extended sick leave payments, provided the employee continues to be medically authorized for Workers' Compensation temporary disability. Total extended sick leave payments shall not exceed twenty-six (26) weeks for any one injury or illness or one hundred percent (100%) of original pay plus shift differentials.
- 2. An eligible employee who does not have sufficient accrued sick leave to cover the three (3) calendar days waiting period for receiving Workers' Compensation payments shall receive extended sick leave payment to cover any part of the waiting period not covered by sick leave. Payment shall be made only after determination that the injury or illness is compensable under Workers' Compensation.
- 3. An employee who elects not to use all sick leave is not eligible for extended sick leave benefits.

F. EFFECT ON PAY STATUS

1. Supplemental Leave

An employee who is receiving temporary disability payments and supplemental sick leave or vacation as described in Section D. above is considered on regular pay status for purposes of application of provisions of this Agreement, except completion of the probationary period. Sick leave and vacation accrued during this period may be used as soon as they accrue.

2. Extended Sick Leave

An employee who is receiving temporary disability payments and extended sick leave benefits as described in Section E. above is considered to be on regular pay status for purposes of application of provisions of this Agreement, except completion of the probationary period. Sick leave and vacation accrued during this period is credited to the employee only upon return to work. However, if an employee separates without returning to work, the employee shall be paid for vacation accrued during the period the employee received extended sick leave payment.

3. Leave Without Pay

An employee on leave without pay and receiving temporary disability payments accrues sick leave and vacation on the same basis as if regularly employed, but such accrual is credited to the employee only upon return to work. If an

employee separates without returning to work, no payment shall be made for such vacation credit.

G. SEPARATION

An employee shall not use vacation, sick leave, or extended sick leave to supplement Workers' Compensation payments beyond a predetermined date of separation or leave without pay. Any vacation credit remaining on the date of separation shall be paid on a lump-sum basis.

H. LIGHT DUTY

Subject to operational considerations and budgetary constraints, the University will endeavor, on a case by case basis, to modify duties consistent with documented medical restrictions, for employees who have experienced work related injuries. This section shall not be construed as a guarantee of a specific form of accommodation nor shall accommodation in one case establish a precedent for similar or dissimilar circumstances.

ARTICLE 46 WORK RULES

A. **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- 1. The University has the sole right to promulgate, supplement, alter, modify, amend, and rescind, work rules. For the purposes of this Article, work rules are defined as rules promulgated by the University which regulate employees relative to and affecting their employment. Work rules may be implemented only for reasons of bona-fide business and/or health and safety necessity.
- 2. For the purpose of general definition under this article, work rules shall be understood to mean rules governing work determined by the University to be required for the purpose of ensuring the orderly and efficient operation of the University and for ensuring the health and safety of employees and others. Work rules promulgated by the University shall be consistent with the provisions of this Agreement.

B. **NOTICE**

At least forty-five (45) calendar days prior to the implementation of new or changed work rules, the University shall inform UPTE. Upon receipt of a written request from UPTE received within thirty (30) calendar days of notice, the campus/hospital/LBNL shall meet and discuss the proposed work rules with UPTE prior to the proposed implementation date. The University shall provide responses to alternatives suggested by UPTE. Such responses shall be in writing if requested by UPTE.

C. APPLICATION AND GRIEVABILITY

- 1. The University will reasonably enforce its work rules for employees during working hours and/or when they are on University premises. The University may implement work rules governing employees during non-working hours only for reasons of health and safety necessity.
- 2. In the event the University's enforcement/application of its work rules is inconsistent with any portion of this article, a grievance may be filed in accordance with the provisions of Article 10 Grievance Procedure, and appealed to Arbitration in accordance with the provisions of Article 3 Arbitration Procedure of this Agreement.
- 3. In the event the application of a work rule is appealed to arbitration, the Arbitrator shall have no authority to newly fashion or to modify the work rule, although she/he may consider the reasonableness of the grieved work rule when rendering her/his decision and related remedy.

ARTICLE 47 UNIFORMS

A. UNIFORMS

1. General Provisions

Uniforms are attire required by the University to be worn in the performance of assigned duties.

2. Purchasing And Reimbursement

- a. The University shall have the sole discretion to determine if a uniform shall be worn, who shall wear a uniform and the conditions under which it must be worn. Employees shall wear the uniform and maintain a proper appearance as specified by the University.
- b. When a uniform is required by the University, an employee shall be responsible, at the time of employment, for the purchase of uniform components specified by the University.
- c. Where the University currently provides either requires uniforms or reimbursement for uniforms and, for as long as the University continues its requirement that the uniform be worn, it will provide, at its sole non-grievable, non-arbitrable discretion, either the uniform or the reimbursement for the uniform at the current rate.

3. Laudering

Where laundering of uniforms is currently provided by the University, such laundering shall continue while the requirement for uniforms continues.

Title				Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Effective Date	_		•	-	-	_			Step 23	-		-		1	•	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
	BERKELEY																		
9520	SPECTROSCOPIST		10/1/2010	Monthly	4323.00	4411.00				4772.00	4870.00				5270.00	5376.00	5483.00	5592.00	5704.00
	-				5818.00	5934.00	6052.00	6172.00	6297.00	6422.00	6551.00	6682.00	6815.00	6952.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	24.84	25.35	25.86	26.37	26.90	27.43	27.99	28.53	29.11	29.70	30.29	30.90	31.51	32.14	32.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		•	33.44	34.10	34.78	35.47	36.19	36.91	37.65	38.40	39.17	39.95					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9610	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV		10/1/2010	Monthly	3928.00	4007.00	4087.00	4169.00		4336.00	4423.00	4512.00		4695.00	4789.00	4883.00	4983.00	5080.00	5182.00
	4				5286.00	5393.00	5499.00	5610.00	5722.00	5836.00	5955.00	6075.00	6196.00	6320.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.03	23.49	23.96	24.44	24.92	25.42	25.93	26.45	26.98	27.52	28.06	28.64	29.20	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		riouriy	30.38	30.99				33.54	34.22		35.61	36.32		20.00	20.01	20.20	20.70
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00				3944.00	4023.00				4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
					4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		поину	27.63	28.18		29.32		30.50	31.11	31.73		33.01	25.02	25.52	26.04	20.55	27.00
	On-Call	\$0.00			27.00	20.10	20.74	20.02	20.01	00.00	01.11	01.70	02.00	00.01					
9612	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II		10/1/2010	Monthly	3239.00	3305.00	3370.00	3439.00	3507.00	3577.00	3648.00	3722.00	3797.00	3871.00	3949.00	4028.00	4109.00	4192.00	4275.00
					4361.00	4447.00	4537.00	4627.00	4721.00	4814.00	4911.00	5008.00	5109.00	5211.00					
	01:11:15:11:15	# 0.00		11. 1	40.04	40.00	40.07	40.70	00.40	00.50	00.07	04.00	04.00	00.05	00.70	00.45	00.04	04.00	04.57
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	18.61 25.06	18.99 25.56	19.37 26.07	19.76 26.59		20.56 27.67	20.97 28.22	21.39 28.78	21.82 29.36	22.25 29.95	22.70	23.15	23.61	24.09	24.57
	On-Call	\$0.00			25.00	25.50	20.07	20.59	21.13	21.01	20.22	20.70	29.30	29.90					
9613	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	2978.00	3043.00	3104.00	3174.00	3243.00	3319.00	3391.00	3474.00	3553.00						
				•															
		.																	
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.11	17.49	17.84	18.24	18.64	19.07	19.49	19.97	20.42						
	Shift-Diff Night On-Call	\$0.57 \$0.00																	
9617	STAFF RES ASSOC II-NONEXEMP		10/1/2010	Monthly	3239.00	3305.00	3370.00	3439.00	3507.00	3577.00	3648.00	3722.00	3797.00	3871.00	3949.00	4028.00	4109.00	4192.00	4275.00
		•			4361.00	4447.00				4814.00	4911.00				00.000				
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.61	18.99										23.15	23.61	24.09	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.06	25.56	26.07	26.59	27.13	27.67	28.22	28.78	29.36	29.95					
9618	On-Call MARINE TECH II-NON EXEMPT	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3239.00	3305.00	3370.00	3/30 00	3507.00	3577.00	3648.00	3722.00	3797.00	3871 00	3949.00	4028.00	4109.00	4192.00	4275.00
3010			10/1/2010	Wichiting	4361.00				4721.00				5109.00			4020.00	4109.00	4192.00	4273.00
	1				12300		12300	15200			1230	1130.00	2 : 30:00						
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.61	18.99				20.56						23.15	23.61	24.09	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.06	25.56	26.07	26.59	27.13	27.67	28.22	28.78	29.36	29.95					
	On-Call	\$0.00										<u> </u>							

Title				Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Effective			-	Step 18	-	-	Step 21	-	-	-	Step 25	· -	-	-	-	Step 30
			Date	Rates	-		Step 33		_	Step 36			_	_	Step 41	Step 42	-	•	Step 45
	BERKELEY																		
9619	MARINE TECH III - NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00	3717.00	3790.00	3866.00	3944.00	4023.00	4103.00	4184.00	4268.00	4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
					4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36				23.12			24.53		25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			27.63	28.18	28.74	29.32	29.91	30.50	31.11	31.73	32.36	33.01					
	On-Call	\$0.00	10/1/00/0																
9722	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, SR		10/1/2010	Monthly	3928.00	4007.00	4087.00	4169.00					4602.00	4695.00		4883.00	4983.00	5080.00	5182.00
	4				5286.00	5393.00	5499.00	5610.00	5722.00	5836.00	5955.00	6075.00	6196.00	6320.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.03	23.49	23.96	24.44	24.92	25.42	25.93	26.45	26.98	27.52	28.06	28.64	29.20	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		riourly	30.38	30.99	31.60	32.24			34.22		35.61	36.32		20.00	20.04	29.20	29.10
	On-Call	\$0.00			30.30	30.33	31.00	52.24	32.03	33.34	37.22	37.31	33.01	30.32					
9723	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3239.00	3305.00	3370.00	3439.00	3507.00	3577.00	3648.00	3722.00	3797.00	3871.00	3949.00	4028.00	4109.00	4192.00	4275.00
	1				4361.00	4447.00	4537.00	4627.00					5109.00	5211.00					
	1																		
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.61	18.99	19.37	19.76	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.39	21.82	22.25	22.70	23.15	23.61	24.09	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.06	25.56	26.07	26.59	27.13	27.67	28.22	28.78	29.36	29.95					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9724	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST		10/1/2010	Monthly	2965.00	3029.00	3089.00	3161.00	3228.00	3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	3537.00						
		^								10									
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.04	17.41	17.75	18.17	18.55	18.99	19.40	19.87	20.33						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.57																	
	On-Call	\$0.00																	

Title				Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Effective	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18		·	Step 21	•				Step 26	Step 27		-	Step 30
			Date	Rates		Step 32				Step 36	-		Step 39	•	-	Step 42	1 .	Step 44	
						_									_			_	
	SAN FRANCISCO																		
9610	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV		10/1/2010	Monthly	3928.00			4169.00	4252.00				4602.00		4789.00	4883.00	4983.00	5080.00	5182.00
	4				5286.00	5393.00	5499.00	5610.00	5722.00	5836.00	5955.00	6075.00	6196.00	6320.00					
	Chit Diff Evening	<u></u>		Harmbr	22.57	22.02	22.40	22.00	04.44	24.02	05.40	25.02	20.45	20.00	07.50	20.00	20.04	20.20	20.70
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	22.57 30.38									26.98 36.32	27.52	28.06	28.64	29.20	29.78
	On-Call	\$0.00			30.36	30.98	31.00	32.24	32.09	33.34	34.22	34.91	33.01	30.32					
9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III	φυ.υυ	10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00	3717.00	3790.00	3866.00	3944.00	4023.00	4103.00	4184.00	4268.00	4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
0011	- 017/11 1/L027/1/0117/0000 III		10/1/2010	ivioriting	4807.00										4000.00	7 4441.00	+001.00	+020.00	47 12.00
	1				1001100	100 1100		0.000	02000	0001100	0.110.00	00200	3331133	0111100					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			27.63		28.74	29.32	29.91	30.50	31.11	31.73		33.01					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9612	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II		10/1/2010	Monthly	3239.00										3949.00	4028.00	4109.00	4192.00	4275.00
	<u> </u>				4361.00	4447.00	4537.00	4627.00	4721.00	4814.00	4911.00	5008.00	5109.00	5211.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.61	18.99									22.70	23.15	23.61	24.09	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.06	25.56	26.07	26.59	27.13	27.67	28.22	28.78	29.36	29.95					
9613	On-Call STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Mandala	3006.00	3074.00	3134.00	3205.00	3275.00	3352.00	3425.00	3509.00	3589.00						
9013	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOCT		10/1/2010	Monthly	3006.00	3074.00	3134.00	3205.00	3275.00	3352.00	3425.00	3509.00	3569.00						
	1																		
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.28	17.67	18.01	18.42	18.82	19.26	19.68	20.17	20.63						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.57								10.20	10.00								
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9617	STAFF RES ASSOC II-NONEXEM	PT	10/1/2010	Monthly	3239.00	3305.00	3370.00	3439.00	3507.00	3577.00	3648.00	3722.00	3797.00	3871.00	3949.00	4028.00	4109.00	4192.00	4275.00
					4361.00	4447.00	4537.00	4627.00	4721.00	4814.00	4911.00	5008.00	5109.00	5211.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.61	18.99						21.39		22.25	22.70	23.15	23.61	24.09	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.06	25.56	26.07	26.59	27.13	27.67	28.22	28.78	29.36	29.95					
0722	On-Call	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Mandala	2040.00	2022.00	1002.00	4004.00	4405.00	40.40.00	4222.00	4440.00	4500.00	4500.00	4000.00	4700.00	4070.00	4070.00	F07F 00
9722	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, SR		10/1/2010	Monthly	3846.00 5177.00				4165.00 5604.00		4332.00 5831.00		4506.00	4596.00	4688.00	4782.00	4878.00	4976.00	5075.00
	4				5177.00	5261.00	3305.00	5494.00	3604.00	57 16.00	3631.00								
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.10	22.55	23.01	23.47	23.94	24.41	24.90	25.40	25.90	26.41	26.94	27.48	28.03	28.60	29.17
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		ricarry	29.75								20.00	20.11	20.0	27.10	20.00	20.00	20.17
	On-Call	\$0.00				55.50	33.30	337	, ,,,,,,	52.50	20.01				1				
9723	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM		10/1/2010	Monthly	3188.00	3251.00	3316.00	3384.00	3450.00	3520.00	3590.00	3662.00	3734.00	3808.00	3885.00	3964.00	4042.00	4124.00	4206.00
					4290.00														
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.32								21.46	21.89	22.33	22.78	23.23	23.70	24.17
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			24.66	25.15	25.65	26.17	26.69	27.22	27.77								
	On-Call	\$0.00]]					

Title			Effective	Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Date	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18	Step 19	Step 20	Step 21	Step 22	Step 23	Step 24	Step 25	Step 26	Step 27	Step 28	Step 29	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
	SAN FRANCISCO																		
9724	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST		10/1/2010	Monthly	2965.00	3029.00	3089.00	3161.00	3228.00	3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	3537.00)					
		_																	
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.04	17.41	17.75	18.17	18.55	18.99	19.40	19.87	20.33	3					
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.57																	
	On-Call	\$0.00																	

Title			Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name	Effective	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18	-	·	Step 21	Step 22				Step 26	Step 27		•	Step 30
		Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Step 36		•	-	Step 40			1 .	-	Step 45
	DAVIS																	
9334	CLIN RESEARCH COORDINATOR, SR	10/1/2010	Monthly	4360.00			4627.00	4719.00				5108.00		5315.00	5422.00	5529.00	5640.00	5753.00
				5868.00	5985.00	6105.00	6228.00	6351.00	6479.00	6608.00	6739.00	6876.00	7013.00					
	Chitt Diff Evening #0.00		Hourly	25.06	25.57	7 26 07	26.50	27.12	27.66	28.22	28.78	20.26	20.05	20.55	24.46	24.70	22.44	22.06
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 Shift-Diff Night \$0.00		Hourly	25.06 33.72								29.36 39.52		30.55	31.16	31.78	32.41	33.06
	On-Call \$0.00			33.72	34.40	33.03	33.13	30.30	31.24	37.30	30.73	33.32	40.30					
9335	CLINICAL RESEARCH COORDINATOR	10/1/2010	Monthly	3592.00	3665.00	3738.00	3813.00	3888.00	3967.00	4047.00	4127.00	4209.00	4293.00	4380.00	4468.00	4557.00	4647.00	4741.00
		701.17=0.10		4835.00								5664.00		1000.00		1001100	10 11 100	
	1																	
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	20.64									24.67	25.17	25.68	26.19	26.71	27.25
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00			27.79	28.34	28.92	29.49	30.09	30.68	31.29	31.91	32.55	33.21					
	On-Call \$0.00																	
9336	CLIN RESEARCH COORDINATOR,ASST	10/1/2010	Monthly	3261.00				3529.00				3820.00		3974.00	4054.00	4134.00	4218.00	4302.00
	-			4387.00	4475.00	4564.00	4657.00	4750.00	4844.00	4941.00	5040.00	5140.00	5244.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	18.74	19.10	19.49	19.89	20.28	20.68	21.10	21.52	21.95	22.39	22.84	23.30	23.76	24.24	24.72
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00		Поину	25.21	25.72								30.14	22.04	23.30	23.70	24.24	24.12
	On-Call \$0.00			20.21	20.12	20.20	20.70	21.00	21.07	20.40	20.31	23.04	30.14					
9520	SPECTROSCOPIST	10/1/2010	Monthly	4323.00	4411.00	4499.00	4588.00	4680.00	4772.00	4870.00	4965.00	5066.00	5167.00	5270.00	5376.00	5483.00	5592.00	5704.00
				5818.00								6815.00						
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	24.84	25.35			26.90				29.11	29.70	30.29	30.90	31.51	32.14	32.78
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00			33.44	34.10	34.78	35.47	36.19	36.91	37.65	38.40	39.17	39.95					
	On-Call \$0.00																	
9610	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV	10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00								4601.00		4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
	-			5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.02	23.48	23.95	24.43	24.91	25.41	25.92	26.44	26.97	27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00		riourly	30.37								35.60	36.32		20.00	20.00	23.13	23.70
	On-Call \$0.00			00.07	00.00	01.00	02.21	02.00	00.00	01.22	0 1.00	00.00	00.02					
9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III	10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00	3717.00	3790.00	3866.00	3944.00	4023.00	4103.00	4184.00	4268.00	4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
				4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	20.53											25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00			27.63	28.18	28.74	29.32	29.91	30.50	31.11	31.73	32.36	33.01					
0610	On-Call \$0.00 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II	10/1/2010	Mandaly	2240.00	2200.00	2274.00	2440.00	2500.00	2570.00	2040.00	2722.00	2700.00	2072.00	2050.00	4000.00	4440.00	4400.00	4070.00
9612	STAFF RESEARUN ASSUU II	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00 4362.00						3649.00	5010.00				4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
	-			4302.00	4443.00	4000.00	+020.00	4122.00	4015.00	7 4 313.00	3010.00	3112.00	JZ 13.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00			25.07														
	On-Call \$0.00																	

Title				Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Effective	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18	Step 19	Step 20	Step 21	Step 22	Step 23	Step 24	Step 25	Step 26	Step 27	Step 28	Step 29	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42			
					_	-	-		_				-	-					
	DAVIS																		
9613	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I		10/1/2010	Monthly	2978.00	3043.00	3104.00	3174.00	3243.00	3319.00	3391.00	3474.00	3553.00						
	<u>_</u>																		
		•																	
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.11	17.49	17.84	18.24	18.64	19.07	19.49	19.97	20.42						
	Shift-Diff Night On-Call	\$0.57 \$5.58																	
9617	STAFF RES ASSOC II-NONEXEMP		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
3017	OTALL KES ASSOCII-NONEXEMI	·	10/1/2010	IVIOLITIIIY	4362.00	4449.00		4628.00					5112.00			4023.00	4110.00	4193.00	4270.00
	-				1002.00	1110.00	1000.00	1020.00	1122.00	1010.00	1010.00	0010.00	0112.00	0210.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
	On-Call	\$5.58																	
9722	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, SR		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00	4006.00	4086.00	4168.00	4251.00				4601.00	4693.00	4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
	_				5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	01 1/4 D.1/4 E	Φ0.00			20.57	20.00	00.40	20.05	0.4.40	24.04	05.44	05.00	20.44	20.07	07.54	00.00	00.00	00.40	00.70
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	22.57 30.37	23.02 30.99	23.48 31.60		24.43 32.88		25.41 34.22	25.92 34.90	26.44 35.60	26.97 36.32	27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night On-Call	\$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.00	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	30.32					
9723	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
0720			10/1/2010	IVIOTITITY	4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00				5112.00	5213.00		1020.00	1110.00	1100.00	1270.00
					100=100														
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
		\$5.58																	
9724	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST		10/1/2010	Monthly	2965.00	3029.00	3089.00	3161.00	3228.00	3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	3537.00						
	_																		
	Shift Diff Evening	¢0.57		Hourly	17.04	17 //	17 75	10 17	10 55	10.00	10.40	10.07	20.22						
	•			Hourry	17.04	17.41	17.75	10.17	10.55	16.99	19.40	19.07	20.33						
9724	Shift-Diff Night On-Call SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night On-Call		10/1/2010	Monthly	25.07 2965.00 17.04	25.57 3029.00 17.41		3161.00		3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	29.38 3537.00 20.33	29.96					

Title				Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Effective Date	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18		·	Step 21	•			· ·	Step 26	Step 27		-	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
0500	LOS ANGELES		40/4/0040		1000.00			.=	1000.00										
9520	SPECTROSCOPIST		10/1/2010	Monthly	4323.00 5818.00				4680.00 6297.00		4870.00 6551.00		5066.00 6815.00		5270.00	5376.00	5483.00	5592.00	5704.00
	4				3616.00	5934.00	0052.00	6172.00	6297.00	6422.00	0331.00	0002.00	0015.00	6952.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	24.84	25.35	25.86	26.37	26.90	27.43	27.99	28.53	29.11	29.70	30.29	30.90	31.51	32.14	32.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			33.44						37.65							<u> </u>	
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9610	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00										4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
					5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	21.16. 21.15																		
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57						25.41	25.92			27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night On-Call	\$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.88	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	36.32					
9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00	3717.00	3790.00	3866.00	3944.00	4023.00	4103.00	4184.00	4268.00	4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
3011	OTALL RESEARCH ASSOCIAL		10/1/2010	IVIOTITITY	4807.00								5631.00		+333.00	7771.00	+331.00	+020.00	47 12.00
	-				1007.00	1001.00	0001.00	0101.00	0201.00	0007.00	0110.00	0021.00	0001.00	07 11.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	27.63					30.50		31.73							
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9612	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00								3798.00		3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
	4				4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	OL:# D:# F	# 0.00		I I a contro	40.00	40.00	40.07	40.77	00.40	00.50	00.07	04.40	04.00	00.05	00.70	00.40	00.00	04.40	04.57
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	18.62 25.07	19.00			20.16 27.14		20.97	21.40 28.79	21.83 29.38		22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	On-Call	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	20.00	20.00	21.14	21.01	20.24	20.79	29.30	29.90					
9613	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	2978.00	3043.00	3104.00	3174.00	3243.00	3319.00	3391.00	3474.00	3553.00						
00.0			10/1/2010	Wiering	2010.00	00 10.00	0.00.00	017 1100	02 10.00	0010.00	0001.00	0 17 1100	0000.00						
	1		_																
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.67		Hourly	17.11	17.49	17.84	18.24	18.64	19.07	19.49	19.97	20.42						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.67																	
	On-Call	\$0.30																	
9617	STAFF RES ASSOC II-NONEXEMP	Т	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00			3440.00	3508.00		3649.00		3798.00		3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
	-				4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		Tiourty	25.07											23.10	23.02	24.10	24.51
	On-Call	\$0.30			20.01	20.01	20.00	20.00	27.11	27.07	20.21	20.70	20.00	20.00					
9618	MARINE TECH II-NON EXEMPT	ψυ.συ	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
	1			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	4362.00							5010.00							
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62										22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	

Title				Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Effective	_			•		-	Step 21		_	•	Step 25	-	-	Step 28	· -	Step 30
			Date	Rates			Step 33		-	Step 36	-	_		Step 40		_	_		Step 45
					_	-	-	-	_				_			_			
	LOS ANGELES																		
9619	MARINE TECH III - NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00	3717.00	3790.00	3866.00	3944.00	4023.00		4184.00	4268.00	4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
					4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36		22.22		23.12		24.05			25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			27.63	28.18	28.74	29.32	29.91	30.50	31.11	31.73	32.36	33.01					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9722	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, SR		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00	4006.00	4086.00	4168.00					4601.00	4693.00		4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
					5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	OLIH DIH Evenin	CO OO		I I a contro	00.57	00.00	00.40	00.05	04.40	04.04	05.44	05.00	00.44	00.07	07.54	00.00	00.00	00.40	00.70
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.02					25.41	25.92		26.97		28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night On-Call	\$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.88	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	36.32					-
9723	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
9123	SCIENTIST, WOSEOW		10/1/2010	ivioritrily	4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00					5112.00			4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4270.00
					4302.00	4449.00	4556.00	4020.00	4722.00	4015.00	4913.00	3010.00	3112.00	3213.00				 	
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		riouny	25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60			28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96		20.10	20.02	21.10	21.07
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9724	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST	+	10/1/2010	Monthly	2965.00	3029.00	3089.00	3161.00	3228.00	3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	3537.00						
	,			,															
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.67		Hourly	17.04	17.41	17.75	18.17	18.55	18.99	19.40	19.87	20.33						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.67																	
	On-Call	\$0.00										_	_			_	_		

Code Title Name Code Pour Pour Pour Pour Step 16 Step 17 Step 28 Step 39 Step 30 Step 34	Title				Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
RIVERSIDE 1011/2010 Monthly 323.00 411.00 4498.00 4588.00 4680.00 477.20 4870.00 5968.00 5968.00 5970.		Title Name			_		•	-			-	•	•			•				
SPECTROSCOPIST 101/2010 Monthly 423-00 4491.00 4499.00 4586.00 6772.0				Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	-				Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
SPECTROSCOPIST 101/2010 Mornhy 4323.00 4411.00 4699.00 4889.00 6880.00 4772.00 4896.00 6850.00 6870.00 6370.00 5270.00 5270.00 5270.00 5370.00 5380.00 5592.00 5794.00 Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 Hourh 2 49.4 75.35 75.86 26.37 26.90 77.40 77.00 4860.00 895																				
Shift-Diff Evening																				
Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00	9520	SPECTROSCOPIST		10/1/2010	Monthly											5270.00	5376.00	5483.00	5592.00	5704.00
Shift-Diff Night \$0.00 On-Call \$0.00 Staff RESEARCH ASSOCIV 101/12010 Monthly 3927.00 4006.00 4066.00 4168.00 4251.00 4335.00 4422.00 4501.00 4601.00 4693.00 477.00 4882.00 4982.00 5079.00 5181.00 Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 On-Call \$0.00 Staff RESEARCH ASSOCIII 101/12010 Monthly 3672.00 3843.00 3717.00 3793.00 3863.00 3842.00 4025.00 16073.00 1605.00 1607.00 4882.00 4982.00 5079.00 5181.00 On-Call \$0.00 Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 North \$0.00 Staff RESEARCH ASSOCIII 101/12010 Monthly 2053 2044 2136 21.70 22.22 22.27 23.12 23.59 24.43 24.91 25.41 25.92 26.44 26.97 27.51 28.06 28.63 29.19 29.78 Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 Shift-Diff Evening \$0.0		-				5818.00	5934.00	6052.00	6172.00	6297.00	6422.00	6551.00	6682.00	6815.00	6952.00					
Shift-Diff Night \$0.00 On-Call \$0.00 Staff RESEARCH ASSOCIV 101/12010 Monthly 3927.00 4006.00 4066.00 4168.00 4251.00 4335.00 4422.00 4501.00 4601.00 4693.00 477.00 4882.00 4982.00 5079.00 5181.00 Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 On-Call \$0.00 Staff RESEARCH ASSOCIII 101/12010 Monthly 3672.00 3843.00 3717.00 3793.00 3863.00 3842.00 4025.00 16073.00 1605.00 1607.00 4882.00 4982.00 5079.00 5181.00 On-Call \$0.00 Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 North \$0.00 Staff RESEARCH ASSOCIII 101/12010 Monthly 2053 2044 2136 21.70 22.22 22.27 23.12 23.59 24.43 24.91 25.41 25.92 26.44 26.97 27.51 28.06 28.63 29.19 29.78 Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 Shift-Diff Evening \$0.0		Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	24 84	25.35	25.86	26.37	26 90	27 43	27 99	28 53	29 11	29 70	30.29	30.90	31 51	32 14	32 78
On-Call S0.00 Diff-Intervening S0.00 D					riourly											00.20	50.50	01.01	02.14	02.70
9610 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV 101/2010 Mornhy 3927 00 4006.00 4006.00 4168.00 4251.00 4335.00 4422.00 4510.00 4630.00 4677.00 4882.00 4892.00 5079.00 5181.00 5285.00 6730.00 6195.00 6730.00 6		-				00	0	3 3		001.10	00.01	01.00	00.10	55111	00.00					
Shift-Diff Evening S0.00 Hourly 22.57 23.02 23.48 23.95 24.43 24.91 25.54 25.92 26.44 26.97 27.51 28.06 28.63 29.19 29.78 Shift-Diff Night S0.00 Dn-Call S0.00 Hourly 357.20 384.30 371.00 3790.00 3868.00 3944.00 4023.00 4103.00 4103.00 4363.00 4441.00 453	9610		4000	10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00	4006.00	4086.00	4168.00	4251.00	4335.00	4422.00	4510.00	4601.00	4693.00	4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
Shift-Diff light \$0.00 \$																				
Shift-Diff light \$0.00 \$																				
On-Call \$0.00 \$0		· ·			Hourly											27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
9811 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III 10/1/2010 Monthly 3572.00 3643.00 3717.00 3790.00 3868.00 3944.00 4023.00 4103.00 428.00 4353.00 4441.00 4531.00 462.00 4712.00 4807.00 4904.00 5001.00 5204.00 5307.00 5413.00 5521.00 5631.00 5744.00		_				30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.88	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	36.32					
Shift-Diff Evening S0.00 Hourly 20.53 20.94 21.36 21.78 22.22 22.67 23.12 23.58 24.05 24.53 25.02 25.52 26.04 26.55 27.08			\$0.00	10/1/2010																L
Shift-Diff Evening	9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III		10/1/2010	Monthly											4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		-				4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5/44.00					
Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.04	21.36	21 78	22.22	22.67	23 12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
On-Call \$0.00		· ·			Tiourty											25.02	25.52	20.04	20.55	21.00
9612 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II 10/1/2010 Monthly 3240,00 3306,00 3371,00 3440,00 3508,00 3578,00 3699,00 3723,00 3798,00 3872,00 3950,00 4029,00 4110,00 4193,00 4276,00						27.00	20.10	20.75	25.02	20.01	00.00	01.11	01.70	02.00	00.01					
Shift-Diff Evening	9612		Ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
Shift-Diff Night \$0.00 On-Call \$0.00 S0.00 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I 10/1/2010 Monthly 3006.00 3074.00 3134.00 3205.00 3275.00 3352.00 3425.00 3509.00 3589.00 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I 10/1/2010 Monthly 3006.00 3074.00 3134.00 3205.00 3275.00 3352.00 3425.00 3509.00 3589.00 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I 10/1/2010 Monthly 17.28 17.67 18.01 18.42 18.82 19.26 19.68 20.17 20.63 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II-NONEXEMPT 10/1/2010 Monthly 3240.00 3306.00 3371.00 3440.00 3508.00 3578.00 369.00 3723.00 3798.00 3872.00 3950.00 4029.00 4110.00 4193.00 4276.00 ASSOCIATION																				
Shift-Diff Night \$0.00 On-Call \$0.00 S0.00 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I 10/1/2010 Monthly 3006.00 3074.00 3134.00 3205.00 3275.00 3352.00 3425.00 3509.00 3589.00 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I 10/1/2010 Monthly 3006.00 3074.00 3134.00 3205.00 3275.00 3352.00 3425.00 3509.00 3589.00 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I 10/1/2010 Monthly 17.28 17.67 18.01 18.42 18.82 19.26 19.68 20.17 20.63 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II-NONEXEMPT 10/1/2010 Monthly 3240.00 3306.00 3371.00 3440.00 3508.00 3578.00 369.00 3723.00 3798.00 3872.00 3950.00 4029.00 4110.00 4193.00 4276.00 ASSOCIATION																				
On-Call \$0.00 Monthly 3006.00 3074.00 3134.00 3205.00 3275.00 3352.00 3425.00 3509.00 3589.00 Monthly 3006.00 3074.00 3134.00 3205.00 3275.00 3352.00 3425.00 3509.00 3589.00 Monthly 3580.00 Monthly 3006.00 3074.00 3134.00 3205.00 3275.00 3275.00 3352.00 3425.00 3509.00 3589.00 Monthly 3589.00 Monthly 3240.00 306.00 3371.00 3440.00 3508.00 3578.00 3578.00 3598.00 3723.00 3798.00 3872.00 3950.00 4110.00 4193.00 4276.00 4362.00 4449.00 4538.00 4628.00 4722.00 4815.00 4913.00 5010.00 5112.00 5213.00 Monthly 3240.00 3306.00 3798.00					Hourly											22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
9613 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I 10/1/2010 Monthly 3006.00 3074.00 3134.00 3205.00 3275.00 3352.00 3425.00 3509.00 3589.00		·				25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
Shift-Diff Evening \$0.57			\$0.00																	
Shift-Diff Night \$0.57	9613	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I		10/1/2010	Monthly	3006.00	3074.00	3134.00	3205.00	3275.00	3352.00	3425.00	3509.00	3589.00						<u> </u>
Shift-Diff Night \$0.57		-				1		1												
Shift-Diff Night \$0.57		Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17 28	17.67	18.01	18.42	18 82	10.26	10.68	20 17	20.63						
On-Call S0.00		· ·			Tiourty	17.20	17.07	10.01	10.42	10.02	19.20	19.00	20.17	20.03						
9617 STAFF RES ASSOC II-NONEXEMPT 10/1/2010 Monthly 3240.00 3306.00 3371.00 3440.00 3508.00 3578.00 3649.00 3723.00 3798.00 3872.00 3950.00 4029.00 4110.00 4193.00 4276.00 44628.00 4722.00 4815.00 4913.00 5010.00 5112.00 5213.00 5010.00 5112.00 5213.00 4110.00 4193.00 4276.00 4110.00 4		_																		
MARINE TECH II-NON EXEMPT 10/1/2010 Monthly 18.62 19.00 19.37 19.77 20.16 20.56 20.97 21.40 21.83 22.25 22.70 23.16 23.62 24.10 24.57	9617			10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
Shift-Diff Night \$0.00																				
Shift-Diff Night \$0.00																				
On-Call \$0.00 10/1/2010 Monthly 3240.00 3306.00 3371.00 3440.00 3508.00 3578.00 3649.00 3723.00 3798.00 3872.00 3950.00 4029.00 4110.00 4193.00 4276.00 Monthly 3240.00 4449.00 4538.00 4628.00 4722.00 4815.00 4913.00 5010.00 5112.00 5213.00 Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 Hourly 18.62 19.00 19.37 19.77 20.16 20.56 20.97 21.40 21.83 22.25 22.70 23.16 23.62 24.10 24.57					Hourly												23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
9618 MARINE TECH II-NON EXEMPT 10/1/2010 Monthly 3240.00 3306.00 3371.00 3440.00 3508.00 3578.00 3649.00 3723.00 3798.00 3872.00 3950.00 4029.00 4110.00 4193.00 4276.00 410.00 410.00 4193.00 4276.00 410.00 410.00 4193.00 4276.00 410.00 410.00 4193.00 4276.00 410.00 410.00 4193.00 4276.00 410.00						25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 Hourly 18.62 19.00 19.37 19.77 20.16 20.56 20.97 21.40 21.83 22.25 22.70 23.16 23.62 24.10 24.57	0010		\$0.00	10/1/0010					2442.22											
Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00 Hourly 18.62 19.00 19.37 19.77 20.16 20.56 20.97 21.40 21.83 22.25 22.70 23.16 23.62 24.10 24.57	9618	IMARINE LECH II-NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	Monthly											3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
		-				4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4/22.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
		Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19 37	19 77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21 40	21 83	22.25	22.70	23 16	23.62	24 10	24 57
		· ·			riouriy												20.10	20.02	27.10	27.01
On-Call \$0.00						20.01	20.01	20.00	20.00	27.17	21.01	20.27	20.73	20.00	20.00					\vdash

Title			-	Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Effective Date	-		Step 17	Step 18	Step 19	_	-	Step 22	Step 23	Step 24	Step 25	Step 26	Step 27	Step 28	Step 29	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36		Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
	RIVERSIDE																		
9619	MARINE TECH III - NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00		3790.00	3866.00				4184.00	4268.00		4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
					4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
																		<u> </u>	
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36		22.22				24.05	24.53		25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			27.63	28.18	28.74	29.32	29.91	30.50	31.11	31.73	32.36	33.01				<u> </u>	
0700	On-Call	\$0.00	40/4/2040	NA = == 4 l= l= =	0007.00	4000.00	4000.00	4400.00	4054.00	4005.00	4400.00	4540.00	4004.00	4000.00	4707.00	4000.00	4000.00	5070.00	5404.00
9722	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, SR		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00	4006.00	4086.00	4168.00	4251.00				4601.00	4693.00		4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
	-				5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					+
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.02	23.48	23.95	24.43	24.91	25.41	25.92	26.44	26.97	27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		Tiourty	30.37	30.99	31.60						35.60	36.32		20.00	20.03	29.19	29.70
	On-Call	\$0.00			30.37	30.33	31.00	52.24	32.00	33.33	34.22	37.30	33.00	30.32					
9723	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
51.25				,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00				5112.00	5213.00					
					100=100						1010100								
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		-	25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9724	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST		10/1/2010	Monthly	2965.00	3029.00	3089.00	3161.00	3228.00	3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	3537.00						
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.04	17.41	17.75	18.17	18.55	18.99	19.40	19.87	20.33						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.57																<u> </u>	
	On-Call	\$0.00																	

Title				Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Effective Date	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18	· ·	-	-	Step 22		-	Step 25		Step 27	Step 28	Step 29	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
	SAN DIEGO																		
9610	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00								4601.00		4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
	-				5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.02	23.48	23.95	24.43	24.91	25.41	25.92	26.44	26.97	27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			30.37				32.88					36.32					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00				3866.00				4184.00		4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
					4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		riourly	27.63					30.50					25.02	25.52	20.04	20.55	21.00
	On-Call	\$0.00			27.00	20.10	20.7 1	20.02	20.01	00.00	01111	01110	02.00	00.01					
9612	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00										3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
					4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	01:16 8:16 5	A			40.00	40.00	40.07	40.77	00.40	00.50	00.07	04.40	04.00	00.05	00.70	00.46	00.00	0.4.40	04.57
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	18.62 25.07				20.16 27.14			21.40 28.79	21.83 29.38	22.25 29.96	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	On-Call	\$0.00			23.07	25.57	20.00	20.00	27.14	21.01	20.24	20.79	29.30	29.90					
9613	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	2978.00	3043.00	3104.00	3174.00	3243.00	3319.00	3391.00	3474.00	3553.00						
				,															
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.11	17.49	17.84	18.24	18.64	19.07	19.49	19.97	20.42						
	Shift-Diff Night On-Call	\$0.57 \$0.00																	
9617	STAFF RES ASSOC II-NONEXEMP		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
0017	TO THE TREE TREE IN THE TREE TREE TREE TREE TREE TREE TREE	•	10/1/2010	ivioriting	4362.00										0000.00	1020.00	1110.00	1100.00	1270.00
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62			19.77	20.16			21.40	21.83			23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
9618	On-Call MARINE TECH II-NON EXEMPT	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
9010	IMARINE TECH II-NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	MOTITITY	4362.00				4722.00						3930.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4270.00
	-				4002.00	4445.00	+000.00	4020.00	+1 ZZ.00	4010.00	4010.00	3010.00	3112.00	0210.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
	On-Call	\$0.00	10/1/00/10																
9619	MARINE TECH III - NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00								4184.00			4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
	-				4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	00.Fbac	5744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			27.63	_					_								
	On-Call	\$0.00																	

Title			Effective	Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Date	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18	Step 19	Step 20	Step 21	Step 22	Step 23	Step 24	Step 25	Step 26	Step 27	Step 28	Step 29	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
	SAN DIEGO																		
9642	TECHNICIAN, MARINE III		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00		3717.00		3866.00				4184.00	4268.00		4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
	4				4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	OL:11 D:11 E	MO 00			00.50	00.04	04.00	04.70	00.00	00.07	00.40	00.50	04.05	04.50	05.00	05.50	00.04	00.55	07.00
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	20.53 27.63	20.94 28.18	21.36 28.74		22.22 29.91	22.67 30.50			24.05 32.36	24.53 33.01		25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	On-Call	\$0.00			27.03	20.10	20.74	29.32	29.91	30.30	31.11	31.73	32.30	33.01					
9643	TECHNICIAN, MARINE II	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3255.00	3323.00	3389.00	3456.00	3525.00	3596.00	3667.00	3741.00	3816.00	3892.00	3971.00	4050.00	4131.00	4215.00	4297.00
00.0				ivioriting	4385.00		4560.00	4651.00	4745.00				5136.00			1000.00	1101.00	1210.00	1207.00
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.71	19.10	19.48	19.86	20.26	20.67	21.07	21.50	21.93	22.37	22.82	23.28	23.74	24.22	24.70
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.20	25.70	26.21	26.73	27.27	27.82	28.37	28.94	29.52	30.11					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9644	TECHNICIAN, MARINE, I		10/1/2010	Monthly	3007.00	3073.00	3134.00	3207.00	3275.00	3352.00	3425.00	3508.00	3589.00						
	Chit Diff Evening	<u></u>		l lavely.	17.28	17.66	18.01	18.43	18.82	19.26	19.68	20.16	20.02						
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	17.28	17.00	18.01	18.43	18.82	19.26	19.68	20.16	20.63						+
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9722	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, SR	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00	4006.00	4086.00	4168.00	4251.00	4335.00	4422.00	4510.00	4601.00	4693.00	4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
V					5285.00								6195.00					00.0.00	0.000
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.02	23.48		24.43		25.41	25.92	26.44	26.97	27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.88	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	36.32					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9723	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00		3440.00	3508.00				3798.00	3872.00		4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
	-				4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		Поипу	25.07	25.57	26.08		27.14				29.38			23.10	23.02	24.10	24.57
	On-Call	\$0.00			23.01	23.31	20.00	20.00	21.14	21.01	20.24	20.13	29.50	29.90					
9724	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	2965.00	3029.00	3089.00	3161.00	3228.00	3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	3537.00						
	1					77227	2222700		3==5:00			7 122.00	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,						
	1																		
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.04	17.41	17.75	18.17	18.55	18.99	19.40	19.87	20.33						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.57																	
	On-Call	\$0.00																	

Title	1			Monthly/	Stop 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Stop 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Stop 15
Code	Title Name		Effective	-		-	Step 3			Step 0	•			-				Step 14	
Jour	This Hame		Date	Rates	•		Step 33		-	Step 36	· -			Step 40			-	Step 44	
				111111111111111111111111111111111111111	otep 31	Otep 32	otep 33	Otep 34	otep 33	Otep 30	otep 57	otep 30	Otep 33	Otep 40	отер тт	Otep 42	Otep 43	отер тт	Otep 43
	SANTA CRUZ																		
9610	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00	4006.00	4086.00	4168.00	4251.00	4335.00	4422.00	4510.00	4601.00	4693.00	4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
					5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00			6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.02			24.43			25.92	26.44	26.97		28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.88	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	36.32					
0044	On-Call	\$0.00	10/1/2010	NA 4 l- l	0570.00	0040.00	0747.00	0700.00	0000.00	0044.00	4000.00	4400.00	4404.00	4000.00	4050.00	4444.00	4504.00	4000.00	4740.00
9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00 4807.00	3643.00 4904.00			3866.00 5204.00				4184.00 5631.00	4268.00 5744.00		4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
	4				4007.00	4904.00	3001.00	3101.00	3204.00	3307.00	3413.00	3321.00	3031.00	3744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			27.63	28.18			29.91	30.50		31.73	32.36	33.01				20.00	
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9612	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
					4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00			20.16			21.40	21.83	22.25		23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
0612	On-Call STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	2000.00	3073.00	3135.00	3207.00	3275.00	3353.00	3425.00	3508.00	3589.00						
9613	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOCT		10/1/2010	Monthly	3008.00	3073.00	3135.00	3207.00	3275.00	3353.00	3425.00	3508.00	3589.00						+
	1																		+
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.29	17.66	18.02	18.43	18.82	19.27	19.68	20.16	20.63						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.57																	
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9617	STAFF RES ASSOC II-NONEXEMP	Т	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
					4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
		•																	
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00			20.16			21.40	21.83	22.25		23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night On-Call	\$0.00 \$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
9618	MARINE TECH II-NON EXEMPT	φυ.υυ	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
3010	IMAKINE TECHTI-NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	WOTHIN	4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00				5112.00	5213.00	3930.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4270.00
	1				1002.00	1110.00	1000.00	1020.00	1722.00	1010.00	1010.00	0010.00	0112.00	0210.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57													
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9619	MARINE TECH III - NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00			3790.00			4023.00					4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
					4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	01:14 D.14 E	Φ0.00		11.	22.52	00.01	64.65	64 ===	00.00	60.5=	00.15	00.55	04.5=	04.55	05.00	05.55	00.01	00.5-	07.00
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94							24.05	24.53		25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night On-Call	\$0.00 \$0.00			27.63	28.18	28.74	29.32	29.91	30.50	31.11	31.73	32.36	33.01					
L	OH-Gall	φυ.υυ		I		I				L	I	1	1		1				

Title			Effective	Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Date	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18	Step 19	Step 20	Step 21	Step 22	Step 23	Step 24	Step 25	Step 26	Step 27	Step 28	Step 29	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
	SANTA CRUZ																		
9642	TECHNICIAN, MARINE III		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00	3717.00		3866.00				4184.00	4268.00		4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
					4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	Chitt Diff Evening	\$0.00		I I a combre	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		Hourly	27.63	28.18			29.91	30.50			32.36			25.52	26.04	20.55	27.08
	On-Call	\$0.00			21.03	20.10	20.74	29.32	29.91	30.30	31.11	31.73	32.30	33.01					
9643	TECHNICIAN, MARINE II	Ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3255.00	3323.00	3389.00	3456.00	3525.00	3596.00	3667.00	3741.00	3816.00	3892.00	3971.00	4050.00	4131.00	4215.00	4297.00
					4385.00	4471.00	4560.00	4651.00	4745.00				5136.00						
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.71	19.10					21.07	21.50	21.93			23.28	23.74	24.22	24.70
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.20	25.70	26.21	26.73	27.27	27.82	28.37	28.94	29.52	30.11					
0044	On-Call	\$0.00	40/4/0040	NA (1.1	0007.00	0070.00	0404.00	0007.00	0075.00	0050.00	0.405.00	0500.00	0500.00						
9644	TECHNICIAN, MARINE, I		10/1/2010	Monthly	3007.00	3073.00	3134.00	3207.00	3275.00	3352.00	3425.00	3508.00	3589.00						
	4																		\vdash
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	17.28	17.66	18.01	18.43	18.82	19.26	19.68	20.16	20.63						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		ricarry	17.20	17.00	10.01	10.10	10.02	10.20	10.00	20.10	20.00						
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9722	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, SR		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00	4006.00	4086.00	4168.00				4510.00	4601.00	4693.00	4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
					5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.02	23.48		24.43		25.41	25.92	26.44	26.97	27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.88	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	36.32					
9723	On-Call SCIENTIST, MUSEUM	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
9123	JOCIENTIST, MOSEOW		10/1/2010	WOTHIN	4362.00	4449.00	4538.00		4722.00				5112.00			4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4270.00
					+002.00	4445.00	+000.00	4020.00	4722.00	+010.00	+510.00	3010.00	3112.00	0210.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08		27.14				29.38						
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9724	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST		10/1/2010	Monthly	2965.00	3029.00	3089.00	3161.00	3228.00	3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	3537.00						
	4																		
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.04	17.41	17.75	18.17	18.55	18.99	19.40	19.87	20.33		-				
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.57 \$0.57		Houriy	17.04	17.41	17.75	10.17	10.33	10.99	19.40	19.07	20.33						
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
	On Our	ψ0.00		I	l	l		1	l	1	1		l	L	1	1	1	l	

Title				Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Effective Date	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18		·	Step 21	•				Step 26	Step 27		-	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
0500	SANTA BARBARA		40/4/0040	NA	4000.00	4444.00	1400.00	4500.00	4000.00	4770.00	4070.00	1005.00	5000.00	5407.00	5070.00	5070.00	5.400.00	5500.00	5704.00
9520	SPECTROSCOPIST		10/1/2010	Monthly	4323.00 5818.00				4680.00 6297.00		4870.00 6551.00		5066.00 6815.00		5270.00	5376.00	5483.00	5592.00	5704.00
	1				3616.00	3934.00	0032.00	0172.00	0297.00	0422.00	0331.00	0002.00	0013.00	0932.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	24.84	25.35	25.86	26.37	26.90	27.43	27.99	28.53	29.11	29.70	30.29	30.90	31.51	32.14	32.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	33.44						37.65			39.95					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9610	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00										4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
					5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	01% 0% 5	Φο οο			00.57	00.00	00.40	00.05	0.4.40	04.04	05.44	25.00	00.44	20.07	07.54	00.00	00.00	00.40	20.70
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57						25.41	25.92			27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night On-Call	\$0.00 \$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.88	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	36.32					
9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III	φυ.υυ	10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00	3717.00	3790.00	3866.00	3944.00	4023.00	4103.00	4184.00	4268.00	4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
3011	01/11		10/1/2010	ivioriting	4807.00								5631.00		+000.00	4441.00	+001.00	+020.00	47 12.00
	1				1007.00	1001.00	0001.00	0101.00	020 1.00	0007.00	0110.00	0021.00	0001100	07 1 1100					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			27.63		28.74	29.32	29.91	30.50		31.73							
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9612	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00								3798.00		3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
					4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	OL'H DIH Francisco	CO OO		I I a contro	40.00	40.00	40.07	40.77	00.40	00.50	00.07	04.40	04.00	00.05	00.70	00.40	00.00	04.40	04.57
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	18.62 25.07	19.00 25.57			20.16 27.14		20.97	21.40 28.79	21.83 29.38	22.25 29.96	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	On-Call	\$0.00			23.07	25.57	20.00	20.00	21.14	21.01	20.24	20.19	29.30	29.90					
9613	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	2978.00	3043.00	3104.00	3174.00	3243.00	3319.00	3391.00	3474.00	3553.00						
00.0			10/1/2010	Wiering	2070.00	00.000	0.00.00	017 1100	02 10.00	0010.00	0001.00	0 17 11.00	0000.00						
	1																		
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.11	17.49	17.84	18.24	18.64	19.07	19.49	19.97	20.42						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.57																	
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9617	STAFF RES ASSOC II-NONEXEMF	PT	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00			3440.00	3508.00		3649.00		3798.00		3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
	-				4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		riourly	25.07											23.10	25.02	24.10	24.51
	On-Call	\$0.00			20.01	20.01	20.00	20.00	27.17	21.01	20.27	20.73	25.00	25.50					
9618	MARINE TECH II-NON EXEMPT	70.03	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
	1			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	4362.00							5010.00							
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62										22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	

Title			Effective	Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Date	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18	Step 19	Step 20	Step 21	Step 22	Step 23	Step 24	Step 25	Step 26	Step 27	Step 28	Step 29	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
	SANTA BARBARA																		
9619	MARINE TECH III - NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00	3717.00	3790.00	3866.00		4023.00	4103.00	4184.00	4268.00	4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
					4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36		22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53		25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			27.63	28.18	28.74	29.32	29.91	30.50	31.11	31.73	32.36	33.01					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9722	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, SR		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00	4006.00	4086.00	4168.00	4251.00		4422.00	4510.00	4601.00	4693.00	4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
	_				5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	01:4 0:4 5	Φο οο			20.55	20.00	00.40	20.05	0.4.40	24.04	05.44	05.00	20.44	20.07	07.54	00.00	00.00	00.40	22.72
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.02	23.48				25.41	25.92	26.44	26.97		28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.88	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	36.32					
0700	On-Call	\$0.00	40/4/0040	N A = 41= 1	0040.00	0000.00	0074 00	0440.00	2500.00	0570.00	0040.00	0700.00	0700.00	2070.00	2050.00	4000.00	4440.00	4400.00	4070.00
9723	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00		3649.00		3798.00	3872.00		4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
					4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.07	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		поину	25.07	25.57	26.08		27.14		20.97 28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96		23.10	23.02	24.10	24.57
	On-Call	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	20.00	20.00	27.14	21.01	20.24	20.19	29.30	29.90					
9724	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	2965.00	3029.00	3089.00	3161.00	3228.00	3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	3537.00						
51 Z T	JOSIEIVIIOT, MOGEOW, AGGT		10/1/2010	IVIOTILITY	2303.00	3023.00	3003.00	3101.00	3220.00	3304.00	337 0.00	3430.00	3337.00						
	1																		1
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.04	17.41	17.75	18.17	18.55	18.99	19.40	19.87	20.33						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.57							. 5.00	. 5.66									
	On-Call	\$0.00																	

Title		T	Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name	Effective Date	_			Step 18	-	-	-			-	Step 25		Step 27	-		Step 30
		Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
0004	IRVINE	40/4/0040	NA .1.1	4540.00	4044.00	4740.00	1010.00	1010.00	5040.00	5404.00	5000.00	5000.00	5440.00	5500.00	5004.00	5700.00	5004.00	20.40.00
9334	CLIN RESEARCH COORDINATOR, SR	10/1/2010	Monthly	4519.00 6173.00	4614.00 6303.00	4712.00 6435.00	4810.00 6570.00	4912.00 6708.00				5336.00 7289.00	5449.00 7443.00		5681.00	5799.00	5921.00	6046.00
	-			0173.00	0303.00	0433.00	0370.00	0700.00	0049.00	0994.00	7139.00	7209.00	7443.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	25.97	26.52	27.08	27.64	28.23	28.81	29.43	30.05	30.67	31.32	31.97	32.65	33.33	34.03	34.75
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00			35.48	36.22	36.98	37.76	38.55	39.36	40.20	41.03	41.89	42.78					
	On-Call \$0.00																	
9335	CLINICAL RESEARCH COORDINATOR	10/1/2010	Monthly	3733.00	3811.00							4409.00	4500.00		4692.00	4791.00	4890.00	4994.00
	_			5099.00	5206.00	5315.00	5427.00	5539.00	5657.00	5775.00	5896.00	6021.00	6148.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	21.45	21.90	22.37	22.84	23.31	23.80	24.30	24.82	25.34	25.86	26.40	26.97	27.53	28.10	28.70
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00		riourly	29.30	29.92	30.55				33.19		34.60	35.33		20.31	21.00	20.10	20.70
	On-Call \$0.00			20.00	20.02	00.00	01.10	01.00	02.01	00.10	00.00	01.00	00.00					
9336	CLIN RESEARCH COORDINATOR, ASST	10/1/2010	Monthly	3092.00	3157.00	3225.00	3292.00	3360.00	3432.00	3502.00	3577.00	3653.00	3729.00	3808.00	3886.00	3969.00	4052.00	4138.00
				4223.00	4312.00	4403.00	4497.00	4591.00	4687.00	4785.00	4885.00	4989.00	5092.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	17.77	18.14	18.53			19.72	20.13			21.43		22.33	22.81	23.29	23.78
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00			24.27	24.78	25.30	25.84	26.39	26.94	27.50	28.07	28.67	29.26					
9610	On-Call \$0.00 STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV	10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00	4006.00	4086.00	4168.00	4251.00	4335.00	4422.00	4510.00	4601.00	4693.00	4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
3010	3 TAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV	10/1/2010	WOTHIN	5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00				6195.00	6319.00	4707.00	4002.00	4902.00	3079.00	3101.00
				0200.00	0002.00	0 100.00	0000.00	0721.00	0000.00	0001.00	0070.00	0100.00	0010.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.02	23.48	23.95	24.43	24.91	25.41	25.92	26.44	26.97	27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.88	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	36.32					
	On-Call \$0.00																	
9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III	10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00			3866.00				4184.00	4268.00		4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
	_			4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00		Tiouriy	27.63	28.18	28.74			30.50		31.73	32.36			25.52	20.04	20.55	27.00
	On-Call \$0.00			27.00	20.10	20.7 1	20.02	20.01	00.00	01111	01110	02.00	00.01					
9612	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
				4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.00		Hourly	18.62		19.37					21.40				23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.00 On-Call \$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
9613	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I	10/1/2010	Monthly	2978.00	3043.00	3104 00	3174.00	3243 00	3319.00	3391.00	3474 00	3553.00						
0010	017.01 11.2027.00001	10/1/2010	ivioritiny	2010.00	5045.00	5104.00	3174.00	02-70.00	0019.00	0001.00	J-1-1.00	5555.00						
	1																	
	Shift-Diff Evening \$0.57		Hourly	17.11	17.49	17.84	18.24	18.64	19.07	19.49	19.97	20.42						
	Shift-Diff Night \$0.57																	
	On-Call \$0.00																	

Title			Effective	Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Date	Hourly	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18	Step 19	Step 20	Step 21	Step 22	-		Step 25	Step 26	Step 27	Step 28	Step 29	Step 30
			Date	Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
	IRVINE																		
9617	STAFF RES ASSOC II-NONEXEMP	T	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00		3508.00				3798.00		3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
	-				4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		riourly	25.07	25.57	26.08				28.24	28.79				20.10	20.02	24.10	24.01
	On-Call	\$0.00						20.00		27.101			20.00	20.00					
9618	MARINE TECH II-NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
				-	4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37		20.16		20.97	21.40	21.83			23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
9619	On-Call MARINE TECH III - NON EXEMPT	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00	3717.00	3790.00	3866.00	3944.00	4023.00	4103.00	4184.00	4268.00	4353.00	4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
9019	IWARINE TECH III - NON EXEMPT		10/1/2010	WOTHIN	4807.00	4904.00	5001.00		5204.00		5413.00		5631.00		4333.00	4441.00	4331.00	4620.00	47 12.00
	1				4007.00	4304.00	3001.00	3101.00	3204.00	3307.00	3413.00	3321.00	3031.00	3744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		,	27.63	28.18				30.50									
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9722	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, SR		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00										4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
	_				5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	01:11 0:11	Φο οο		11. 1	00.57	00.00	00.40	00.05	04.40	04.04	05.44	05.00	00.44	00.07	07.54	00.00	00.00	00.40	00.70
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	22.57 30.37	23.02 30.99	23.48 31.60		24.43 32.88		25.41 34.22	25.92 34.90	26.44 35.60	26.97 36.32	27.51	28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	On-Call	\$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.00	32.24	32.00	33.33	34.22	34.90	33.60	30.32					
9723	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
0.20			10/1/2010	Worthing	4362.00		4538.00		4722.00				5112.00		0000.00	1020.00	1110.00	1100.00	127 0.00
	1																		
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9724	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST		10/1/2010	Monthly	2965.00	3029.00	3089.00	3161.00	3228.00	3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	3537.00						
-	-																		+
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.57		Hourly	17.04	17.41	17.75	18.17	18.55	18.99	19.40	19.87	20.33						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.57			1		0		. 5.50	. 5.50		70.01							
	On-Call	\$0.00																	

Title				Monthly/	Sten 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Sten 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Sten 15
Code	Title Name		Effective	_		-	Step 18			Step 21	•		•					-	Step 30
000.0			Date	Rates	-	_	Step 33		-	Step 36	· -			Step 40	•		_		Step 45
	MERCED																		
9520	SPECTROSCOPIST		10/1/2010	Monthly	4323.00	4411.00	4499.00	4588.00	4680.00			4965.00	5066.00	5167.00	5270.00	5376.00	5483.00	5592.00	5704.00
	4				5818.00	5934.00	6052.00	6172.00	6297.00	6422.00	6551.00	6682.00	6815.00	6952.00					
	Chitt Diff Evening	<u></u>		I I a combre	24.04	25.25	25.00	26.37	20.00	07.40	27.99	20.52	20.44	20.70	20.20	20.00	24.54	20.44	22.70
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	24.84 33.44	25.35 34.10			26.90 36.19				29.11 39.17	29.70 39.95		30.90	31.51	32.14	32.78
	On-Call	\$0.00			33.44	34.10	34.70	33.47	30.19	30.91	37.03	30.40	33.17	39.93					
9610	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00	4006.00	4086.00	4168.00	4251.00	4335.00	4422.00	4510.00	4601.00	4693.00	4787.00	4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
	1				5285.00	5392.00	5498.00		5721.00				6195.00	6319.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.02			24.43			25.92	26.44	26.97		28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.88	33.53	34.22	34.90	35.60	36.32					
0044	On-Call STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Manathly	2572.00	2042.00	2747.00	2700.00	2000 00	2044.00	4023.00	4402.00	4404.00	4000.00	4353.00	4444.00	4504.00	4000.00	4740.00
9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00 4807.00	3643.00 4904.00	3717.00 5001.00		3866.00 5204.00				4184.00 5631.00	4268.00 5744.00		4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
	1				4007.00	4904.00	3001.00	3101.00	3204.00	3307.00	3413.00	3321.00	3031.00	3744.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36	21.78	22.22	22.67	23.12	23.58	24.05	24.53	25.02	25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			27.63	28.18			29.91	30.50		31.73	32.36				2010 1	20.00	
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9612	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00		3440.00	3508.00				3798.00			4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
	4				4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
	OL'H D'H Francis	<u></u>		I I a contro	40.00	40.00	40.07	40.77	00.40	00.50	00.07	04.40	04.00	00.05	00.70	00.40	00.00	04.40	04.57
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	18.62 25.07	19.00 25.57	19.37 26.08	19.77 26.60	20.16 27.14			21.40 28.79	21.83 29.38	22.25 29.96		23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	On-Call	\$0.00			25.07	25.51	20.00	20.00	21.14	21.01	20.24	20.19	29.30	29.90					-
9613	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I	ψ0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	2978.00	3043.00	3104.00	3174.00	3243.00	3319.00	3391.00	3474.00	3553.00						
	1			,															
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	17.11	17.49	17.84	18.24	18.64	19.07	19.49	19.97	20.42						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00																	
0647	On-Call	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Mandalur	2240.00	2200.00	2274 00	2440.00	2500.00	2570.00	2040.00	2722.00	2700.00	2072.00	2050.00	4000.00	4440.00	4402.00	4070.00
9617	STAFF RES ASSOC II-NONEXEMP	′ I	10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00 4362.00	3306.00 4449.00	3371.00 4538.00	3440.00 4628.00	3508.00 4722.00			3723.00 5010.00	3798.00 5112.00	3872.00 5213.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
	1				4302.00	4449.00	4556.00	4020.00	4722.00	4013.00	4913.00	3010.00	3112.00	3213.00					+
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57													
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9722	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, SR		10/1/2010	Monthly	3927.00			4168.00			4422.00					4882.00	4982.00	5079.00	5181.00
	1				5285.00	5392.00	5498.00	5609.00	5721.00	5835.00	5954.00	6073.00	6195.00	6319.00					
	Chitt Diff Evening	<u></u>		I I a l .	00.57	00.00	00.40	00.05	04.40	04.04	05.44	05.00	00.44	00.07	07.51	00.00	00.00	00.40	00.70
	Shift-Diff Evening Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00 \$0.00		Hourly	22.57 30.37	23.02 30.99		_					26.44 35.60			28.06	28.63	29.19	29.78
	On-Call	\$0.00			30.37	30.99	31.00	32.24	32.00	33.33	34.22	34.90	35.00	30.32					+
	On Jan	ψυ.υυ		I .	l	I	I	1	l	1	l	l	l	I	l	l	l	1	

Title Code	Title Name		Effective Date		Step 16	Step 2 Step 17	Step 18	Step 19	Step 20		Step 22	Step 23	Step 24	Step 25	Step 26	Step 27	Step 28	Step 14 Step 29	Step 30
				Rates	Step 31	Step 32	Step 33	Step 34	Step 35	Step 36	Step 37	Step 38	Step 39	Step 40	Step 41	Step 42	Step 43	Step 44	Step 45
	MERCED																		
9723	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM		10/1/2010	Monthly	3240.00	3306.00	3371.00	3440.00	3508.00	3578.00	3649.00	3723.00	3798.00	3872.00	3950.00	4029.00	4110.00	4193.00	4276.00
					4362.00	4449.00	4538.00	4628.00	4722.00	4815.00	4913.00	5010.00	5112.00	5213.00					
																		<u> </u>	
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.62	19.00	19.37	19.77	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.40	21.83	22.25	22.70	23.16	23.62	24.10	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			25.07	25.57	26.08	26.60	27.14	27.67	28.24	28.79	29.38	29.96					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9724	SCIENTIST, MUSEUM, ASST		10/1/2010	Monthly	2965.00	3029.00	3089.00	3161.00	3228.00	3304.00	3376.00	3458.00	3537.00						
																		<u> </u>	
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	17.04	17.41	17.75	18.17	18.55	18.99	19.40	19.87	20.33						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00																	
	On-Call	\$0.00																	

Title				Monthly/	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12	Step 13	Step 14	Step 15
Code	Title Name		Effective	_		-		-	-	Step 21			•	•	•	-	Step 28	<u> </u>	Step 30
			Date	Rates			_		-	_	-			Step 40			-		Step 45
					-	-	-	_	_			_	_		_	-	_		
	UCOP																		
9610	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC IV		10/1/2010	Monthly	3928.00	4007.00	4087.00	4169.00	4252.00	4336.00	4423.00	4512.00	4602.00	4695.00	4789.00	4883.00	4983.00	5080.00	5182.00
					5286.00	5393.00	5499.00	5610.00	5722.00	5836.00	5955.00	6075.00	6196.00	6320.00					
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	22.57	23.03	23.49			24.92			26.45	26.98		28.06	28.64	29.20	29.78
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00			30.38	30.99	31.60	32.24	32.89	33.54	34.22	34.91	35.61	36.32					
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9611	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC III		10/1/2010	Monthly	3572.00	3643.00			3866.00				4184.00	4268.00		4441.00	4531.00	4620.00	4712.00
					4807.00	4904.00	5001.00	5101.00	5204.00	5307.00	5413.00	5521.00	5631.00	5744.00					
	Obit Diff Francisco	# 0.00		I I a contro	00.50	00.04	04.00	04.70	00.00	00.07	00.40	00.50	04.05	04.50	05.00	05.50	00.04	00.55	07.00
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	20.53	20.94	21.36		22.22		23.12					25.52	26.04	26.55	27.08
	Shift-Diff Night On-Call	\$0.00			27.63	28.18	28.74	29.32	29.91	30.50	31.11	31.73	32.36	33.01					
9612	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC II	\$0.00	10/1/2010	Monthly	3239.00	3305.00	3370.00	3439.00	3507.00	3577.00	3648.00	3722.00	3797.00	3871.00	3949.00	4028.00	4109.00	4192.00	4275.00
9012	STAFF RESLAROITASSOC		10/1/2010	ivioritrily	4361.00	4447.00	4537.00						5109.00			4020.00	4109.00	4192.00	4275.00
					4301.00	4447.00	4557.00	4027.00	4721.00	4014.00	4911.00	3008.00	3109.00	3211.00				 	
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	18.61	18.99	19.37	19.76	20.16	20.56	20.97	21.39	21.82	22.25	22.70	23.15	23.61	24.09	24.57
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00		riouny	25.06	25.56	26.07	26.59			28.22	28.78	29.36			20.10	20.01	21.00	21.07
	On-Call	\$0.00																	
9613	STAFF RESEARCH ASSOC I	+	10/1/2010	Monthly	2978.00	3043.00	3104.00	3174.00	3243.00	3319.00	3391.00	3474.00	3553.00						
				,															
	Shift-Diff Evening	\$0.00		Hourly	17.11	17.49	17.84	18.24	18.64	19.07	19.49	19.97	20.42						
	Shift-Diff Night	\$0.00																	
	On-Call	\$0.00		_									_				_		

RX APPENDIX B-LBNL

Effective Date: 10/1/2008

Job Code	Job Title	FLSA	Grade	Min/ Hour	Q2	Midpt/ Hour	Q3		Min/ Month	Q2	Midpt/ Mo	Q3	Max/ Month
381.1	Research Assoc	E ¹	T80						\$3,259	\$3,707	\$4,154	\$4,602	\$5,049
381.2	Research Assoc Sr	E ¹	T83						\$4,106	\$4,668	\$5,231	\$5,793	\$6,355
381.3	Research Assoc Principal	E ¹	T96						\$5,161	\$5,875	\$6,589	\$7,302	\$8,016
381.4	Research Assoc Staff	E ¹	T90						\$5,610	\$6,381	\$7,152	\$7,922	\$8,693
387.2	Sequencing Lead	E ¹	T99						\$4,310	\$4,901	\$5,492	\$6,083	\$6,674
587.1	Sequencing Specialist	NE ²	T98	\$19.44	\$21.41	\$23.38	\$25.34	\$27.31					
588.1	Research Assistant	NE ²	U30	\$16.76	\$18.67	\$20.57	\$22.48	\$24.38					

⁽¹⁾ Exempt

⁽²⁾ Nonexempt

RX APPENDIX B-LBNL

Effective Date: 10/1/2009

Job					Min/		Midpt/		Max/	Min/		Midpt/		Max/
Code	Job Title	FLSA	Grade	Grade	Hour	Q2	Hour	Q3	Hour	Month	Q2	Мо	Q3	Month
381.1	Research Assoc	E ¹	T80	T80						\$ 3,308	\$ 3,762	\$ 4,216	\$ 4,671	\$ 5,125
381.2	Research Assoc Sr	E ¹	T83	T83						\$ 4,168	\$ 4,738	\$ 5,309	\$ 5,880	\$ 6,450
381.3	Research Assoc Principal	E ¹	T96	T96						\$ 5,238	\$ 5,963	\$ 6,687	\$ 7,412	\$ 8,136
381.4	Research Assoc Staff	E ¹	T90	T90						\$ 5,694	\$ 6,476	\$ 7,259	\$ 8,041	\$ 8,823
387.2	Sequencing Lead	E ¹	T99	T99						\$ 4,375	\$ 4,975	\$ 5,574	\$ 6,174	\$ 6,774
587.1	Sequencing Specialist	NE ²	T98	T98	\$ 19.73	\$ 21.73	\$ 23.73	\$ 25.72	\$ 27.72					
588.1	Research Assistant	NE ²	U30	U30	\$ 17.01	\$ 18.94	\$ 20.88	\$ 22.81	\$ 24.75					

⁽¹⁾ Exempt (2) Nonexempt

RX APPENDIX B-LBNL

Effective Date: 10/1/2010

Job Code	Job Title	FLSA	Grade	Min/ Hour	Q2	Midpt/ Hour	Q3	Max/ Hour	N	Min/ lonth	Q2	Midpt/ Month	Q3	Max/ Ionth
381.1	Research Assoc	E ¹	T80						\$	3,358	\$ 3,819	\$ 4,280	\$ 4,741	\$ 5,202
381.2	Research Assoc Sr	E ¹	T83						\$	4,231	\$ 4,809	\$ 5,389	\$ 5,968	\$ 6,547
381.3	Research Assoc Principal	E ¹	T96						\$	5,317	\$ 6,052	\$ 6,788	\$ 7,523	\$ 8,258
381.4	Research Assoc Staff	E ¹	T90						\$	5,779	\$ 6,574	\$ 7,367	\$ 8,162	\$ 8,955
387.2	Sequencing Lead	E ¹	T99						\$	4,441	\$ 5,049	\$ 5,659	\$ 6,267	\$ 6,876
587.1	Sequencing Specialist	NE ²	T98	\$ 20.03	\$ 22.05	\$ 24.09	\$ 26.11	\$ 28.14						
588.1	Research Assistant	NE ²	U30	\$ 17.27	\$ 19.23	\$ 21.20	\$ 23.15	\$ 25.12						

⁽¹⁾ Exempt (2) Nonexempt

APPENDIX C - GRIEVANCE FORM

APPENDIX C GRIEVANCE FORM

UPTE GRIEVANCE

Allegations of a violation of Agreement in effect between the University and UPTE must be filled in on this form. See your Agreement for details regarding the filing of a grievance. PLEASE PROVIDE THE INFORMATION REQUESTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 10, GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE OF THE TECHNICAL. TRESEARCH SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS. AND ARTICLE 8 FOR THE TOTAL TRESEARCH SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS.

FORM	HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONALS UNIT AGREEMENT. A separate grievance form is required for grievances occurring in each unit. If you wish to file a grievance or want more information about possibly fling a grievance, please contact your local UPTE representative. Refer to:http://www.upte-cwa.org/contacts/index.html or call: 1-510-704-8783 (UPTE).								
GRIEVANT'S NAME	NAME OF GRIEVANT'S IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR								
CAMPUS/MEDICAL CENTER/L		WORK TELEPHONE							
EMPLOYEE CLASSIFICATION	NON-WORK ADDRESS TO WHICH CORRESPONDENCE MAY BE SENT TO GRIEVANT								
EMPLOYEE EMPLOYMENT ST □ Career/Regular □ Casual/Temporary	□ Probationary	□ Full Time □ Part Time		GRIEVA	NT'S NORMA	L HOURS (OF WORK		
IF REPRESENTED IN THIS GR	IEVANCE, PROVIDE TI	HE FOLLOWING:							
REPRESENTATIVE'S NAME	REPRESENTATIVE'S NAME REPRESENTATIVE'S OR				REPRESENTATIVE'S TELEPHONE NUMBER				
REPRESENTATIVE'S NON-W	ORK ADDRESS, CITY,	STATE, ZIP							
TYPE OF GRIEVANCE:	SPECIFIC ARTICLE(S) & SECTION(S) OF THE CONTRACT ALLEGED TO BE VIOLATED:								
DATE OF ACTION CAUSING G	RIEVANCE	DATE OF INFORMAL DISCUS	SSION WITH SUPERVISOR	ı	DATE OF INFO	RMAL RES	PONSE		
//		/_	/					-	
ALLEGED VIOLATION OF AGR	REEMENT								
REMEDY REQUESTED									
GRIEVANT'S AND/OR REPRE	SENTATIVE'S SIGNA	TURE						DATE	

APPENDIX C GRIEVANCE FORM GRIEVANCE REVIEW -- STEP 1

DATE STEP 1 GRIEVANCE RECEIVED BY UC	DATE OF UC RESPONSE							
STEP 1 DECISION								
SIGNATURE OF STEP 1 REVIEWER	TLE OF STEP 1 REVIEWER	IE NUMBER						
☐ I DO NOT ACCEPT AND APPEAL THE STEP 1 RESPONSE TO THE SECOND STEP (STATE SUBJECT BELOW)	EPRESENTATIVE'S SIGNAT	URE	DATE					
SUBJECT OF GRIEVANCE AT STEP 2, IF DIFFERENT	THAN SUBJECT OF GRIE	EVANCE AT STEP 1.						
	GRIEVANO	E REVIEW S	ГЕР 2					
DATE STEP 2 APPEAL POSTMARKED/HAND-DELIVER	RED DATE STEP 2 A	PPEAL RECEIVED BY UC	C DATE OF UC RESPONSE		DECISION ATTACHED			
SIGNATURE OF STEP 2 REVIEWER	l	PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF STEP 2 REVIEWER						
GRIEVANT'S AND/OR REPRESENTATIVE'S SIGNATURE								
☐ I DO NOT ACCEPT AND APPEAL THE STEP 2 RESPONSE TO THE THIRD STEP (STATE SUBJECT BELOW)								
SUBJECT OF GRIEVANCE AT STEP 3, IF ANY ISSUE(S) OF GRIEVANCE AT STEP 2 HAS BEEN RESOLVED.								
GRIEVANCE REVIEW STEP 3								
DATE STEP 3 APPEAL POSTMARKED/HAND-DEKUVE				DECISION ATTACHED				
					YES - NO			
SIGNATURE OF STEP 3 REVIEWER		PRINTED NAME AND TIT	I TLE OF STEP 3 RE	VIEWER	YES □ NO			

APPENDIX D ENUMERATION OF UNIVERSITY BENEFITS

A. HEALTH BENEFITS

- 1. **Medical Program** A variety of medical plans are available to cover eligible employees and their eligible family members. Choice of plans may vary from location to location. Eligible part-time employees appointed and paid by the University to work a specified minimum appointment and average regular paid time may be covered by the CORE major medical plan.
- a. **Dental Program** Dental plans are available to cover eligible employees and their eligible family members.
- b. **Vision Program** A comprehensive vision care benefit is available to cover eligible employees and their eligible family members.

B. UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA RETIREMENT SYSTEM

1. University of California Retirement Plan (UCRP)

Eligible employees covered by this Agreement shall be covered by the University of California Retirement Plan (UCRP), which provides retirement, disability, and survivor benefits. Currently, member contributions are as follows:

Member Class	Member Contribution Rate on Covered					
	Compensation					
Coordinated with Social Security	2% up to Social Security wage base, then 4% over Social Security wage base, minus \$19/month					
Non-coordinated	3% minus \$19/month					

All current member contributions to the UCRP made before April 15, 2010 are redirected to the Defined Contribution Plan. The redirection of member contributions to the Defined Contribution Plan is scheduled to end April 15, 2010, and those contributions will be reinstated to the UCRP.

2. Tax-Deferred 403(b) Plan

Voluntary participation in the Tax-Deferred 403(b) Plan is available to all University employees who normally work less than twenty (20) hours per week. The Plan provides a mix of internally and externally managed investment options.

3. Defined Contribution Plan (DC Plan)

- a. Pre-Tax Account The redirection of the UCRP mandatory member contributions into the DC Plan is scheduled to end April 15, 2010. Voluntary participation in the Pre-Tax Account is available to eligible employees. Although contributions default to the Savings Fund, participants are offered a mix of internally and externally managed investment options.
- b. Pre-Tax/Safe Harbor Account Employees who are not in a UC-sponsored defined benefit retirement plan make mandatory contributions of seven and one-half percent (7.5%) of earnings up to the Social Security wage base to the Pretax Account in lieu of paying the Old Age, Survivors and Disability Insurance portion of Social Security taxes (Safe Harbor contributions). Although payroll reductions default to the Savings Fund, participants are offered a mix of internally and externally managed investment options.
- c. After Tax Account Voluntary participation in the After-Tax Account is available to all University employees who normally work less than twenty (20) hours per week. Payroll deductions may be invested in a mix of internally and externally managed investment options.

4. 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan

Voluntary participation in the 457(b) Plan is available to all University employees who normally work less than twenty (20) hours per week. The Plan provides a mix of

internally and externally managed investment options.

C. LIFE INSURANCE

1. University-Paid

UC provides Basic Life or Core Life Insurance coverage at no cost for eligible employees. Eligible employees are automatically enrolled in the plan. The amount of insurance varies depending on the employee's appointment and average regular paid time.

2. Supplemental

Optional Supplemental Life, Basic Dependent Life and Expanded Dependent Life Insurance are available and may be purchased by eligible employees and their eligible family members for a monthly premium paid through payroll deduction

D. OTHER INSURANCE

1. Accidental Death & Dismemberment Insurance (AD&D)

UC offers the optional AD&D plan to protect eligible employees and their families from the unforeseen financial hardship of a serious accident that causes death or dismemberment. Eligible employees may purchase a variety of coverage and amounts of coverage.

2. Business Travel Accident Insurance

Employees who are traveling on official University business are covered by \$100,000 of accidental death and scheduled dismemberment insurance.

3. **Disability Insurance**

- a. Short-Term Disability Insurance UC provides Short-Term disability insurance to eligible employees.
- b. Supplemental Disability Insurance Optional supplemental disability insurance may be purchased by eligible employees. This optional coverage augments the Short-Term Disability Insurance referenced above, and provides income protection during Long Term Disability coverage.

4. Legal Expense Insurance Plan

UC offers eligible employees the opportunity to participate in a legal expense insurance plan that can be purchased through payroll deductions for employees and eligible family members.

5. Auto/Homeowner Insurance

UC offers eligible employees the opportunity to participate in an Auto-Homeowner insurance plan. Individual policies can be purchased through payroll deductions.

E. OTHER BENEFITS

1. Tax Saving on Insurance Premiums (TIP)

Employees enrolled in certain benefit plans are automatically enrolled in TIP, unless the employee makes an election to withdraw. After the University contribution, if any, is applied the net insurance premiums are deducted on a pre-tax, salary reduction basis.

2. Flexible Spending Accounts

- **a. Dependent Care Assistance Program (DepCare)** DepCare is available to eligible employees and allows employees to pay for eligible dependent care expenses on a pre-tax, salary reduction basis.
- b. Health Care Reimbursement Account (HCRA) The Health Care

Reimbursement Account is available to eligible employees and allows them to pay for eligible health care expenses not covered by the employee's medical, dental, or vision plans on a pretax, salary reduction basis.

- 3. Death Payments Death payments are provided upon the death of an employee who has been on pay status at least fifty percent (50%) time at least six (6) continuous months prior to death. Payment is a sum equal to the deceased's regular salary for one (1) month, and shall be paid to the person or persons in the first of the following categories in which there is a survivor: legal spouse or domestic partner; child or children; parent or parents; or siblings. If there is no survivor in any of the foregoing categories, the benefit will be paid to the estate, or if there is no estate, to the beneficiary designated in the deceased's University-paid life insurance policy. All monies due and payable to the employee at the time of death shall be paid to the employee's surviving spouse or domestic partner and/or eligible dependent(s).
- **4. Alternate Retirement Plans** Employees covered by alternate retirement plans are subject to those plans' rules and regulations, and not subject to UCRP coverage.

APPENDIX E - PARKING

UC BERKELEY								
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates*	2008-09 Proposed Rates*	2009- 10 (cap level)	2010- 11 (cap level)	2011- 12 (cap level)	2012- 13 (cap level)	
C Permit	Central Campus Annual ("C" permit)	\$128	\$134	\$134		\$20		
Central Campus Carpool Annual	Central Campus Carpool Annual	\$45	\$47	\$47				
F Permit	Faculty/Staff Annual	\$93	\$97	\$97	\$16			
Faculty/Staff Carpool Annual	Faculty/Staff Carpool Annual	\$30	\$31	\$31			\$25	
H Permit	Hill Area Annual	\$69	\$72	\$72				
M Permit	Motorcycle Annual	\$24	\$25	\$25				
N/W Permit	Night/Weekend Annual – 1:30p to 2:00a	\$46	\$48	\$48				
RFS, Merchant	Satellite Lot Annual	\$5	\$5	\$5				

^{*}Rates include \$3 per month/\$36 per year Transportation Fee where applicable.

UC SAN FRANCISCO MEDICAL CENTER AND CAMPUS							
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007- 08 Curren t Rates	2008-09 Propose d Rates	2009-10 Propose d Rates	2010 -11 (cap level)	2011 -12 (cap level)	2012 -13 (cap level)
В	Surge/Woods Lot	\$53	\$56	\$59			
CP* (various locations)	Carpool Staff, Faculty, Mgmt (3 or more, cost divided)	\$53- \$106	see various permit rates (cost divided)	see various permit rates (cost divided)			
G	Staff Regular Day Permit	\$106	\$112	\$118			
L	Eve/Wknds/Univ. Holi/M-F 5p- 8a	\$13	\$14	\$15			
MBR (GMB)	Mission Bay Restricted	\$106	\$112	\$118			
LHR (GLH)	Laurel Heights Restricted	\$106	\$112	\$118			
МС	Motorcycles, Parnassus & Laurel Heights	\$25	\$26	\$28	10%	10%	10%
MCR (GMCB, 23G, 23R)	Mission Center Restricted	\$85	\$95	\$101			
N	Afternoons/Wknds/Univ. Holi./M-F 1:50p-8a	\$44	\$46	\$47			
RLUC	UCSF employees at Remote Lot	\$44	\$45	\$47			
NMC	Mission Center – Afternoons/Weekends/Universit y Holidays	\$36	\$39	\$40			
0	55 Laguna Satellite Lot	\$44	\$45	\$47			
HS	Housestaff	\$106	\$112	\$118			

		UC	DAVIS CAN	IPUS			
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 Proposed Rates	2009-10 Proposed Rates	2010-11 (cap level)	2011-12 (cap level)	2012-13 (cap level)
Α	All lots	\$47	\$47	\$48			
С	75% of lots	\$38	\$38	\$39			
Disabled (DSA)	All lots and disabled spaces	\$38	\$38	\$39			
CP3A	Carpool 3 PersonsA Lots	\$11	\$11	\$12			
CP2A	Carpool 2 Persons – A	\$17	\$17	\$18			
CP3C	Carpool 3 PersonsC Lots	\$9	\$9	\$10	\$5	\$5	\$5
CP2C	Carpool 2 Persons – C	\$13	\$13	\$14			
GP	VanpoolAll Lots	\$26	\$26	\$27			
L	Remote Lots	\$21	\$21	\$22			
М	Motorcycle All Lots within designated area	\$19	\$19	\$20			
N	NighttimeAll lots after 5:00 p.m.	\$20	\$20	\$21			

		UC DAV	IS MEDICAL	CENTER			
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 Proposed rates	2009-10 Proposed rates	2010-11 (cap level)	2011-12 (cap level)	2012-13 (cap level)
TPB	Temporary B Permit	\$43	\$43	\$47			
TPC	Temporary C Permit	\$32	\$32	\$36			
PDB	Payroll Deducted B	\$36	\$36	\$40			
PDD	Payroll Deducted D Reserved	\$79	\$79	\$88			
PDD/U	Payroll Deducted D Reserved Uncovered	\$45	\$45	\$50	\$10	\$10	\$10
CP2	2 Person Carpool	\$18	\$18	\$20			
CP3	3 Person Carpool	\$10	\$10	\$12			
Motorcycle	Motorcycle Parking	\$15	\$15	\$17			

	UC LOS ANG	ELES CAMI	PUS and ME	DICAL CENT	ΓER		
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 Proposed Rates	2009-10 Proposed Rates	2010- 11 (cap level)	2011- 12 (cap level)	2012- 13 (cap level)
Yellow (Commuter)	General Use Monthly Permit for Staff/Faculty/Student	\$61/mo	\$63/mo	\$63/mo			
Blue	Mobility Monthly Permit for Staff/Faculty	\$75/mo	\$79/mo	\$79/mo			
Х	Reserved Monthly Permit for Staff/Faculty	\$109/mo	\$115/mo	\$115/mo			
2Person Carpool (per person)	2 person Carpool Monthly Permit for Staff/Faculty/ Students	\$26 per person/mo	\$26 per person/mo	\$26 per person/mo			
3Person Carpool (per person)	3 person Carpool Monthly Permit for Staff/Faculty/ Students	\$11 per person/mo	\$11 per person/mo	\$11 person/mo	\$5	\$15	\$20
Disabled	Monthly Permit for Disabled Staff/Faculty/ Students	\$61/mo	\$63/mo	\$63/mo			
Night	Night (after 4:30) Monthly Permit for Staff/Faculty/ Students	\$35/mo	\$36/mo	\$36/mo			
Weekend	Weekend Monthly Permit for Staff/Faculty/Student	\$24/mo	\$25/mo	\$25/mo			
Clean Fuel Permit	Ultra Low Emissions Vehicle Monthly Permit for Staff/Faculty/ and Students	\$52/mo	\$52/mo	\$52/mo			

	UC LOS ANGELES – Santa Monica Hospital									
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 Proposed Rates	2009-10 Proposed Rates	2010-11 (cap level)	2011-12 (cap level)	2012-13 (cap level)			
Orange Tag	Arizona Lot Monthly Permit for Employees	\$61	\$63	\$63						
Blue Tag	Medical Office Monthly Permit for Employees	\$61	\$63	\$63	\$5	\$15	\$20			
Night/Weekend	Night / Weekend Permit for Employees	\$34	\$34	\$36						

	UC RIVERSIDE									
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 Proposed Rates	2009- 10 (cap level)	2010- 11 (cap level)	2011- 12 (cap level)	2012- 13 (cap level)			
Red Permit	Select lots - close to campus interior	\$49/mo	\$49	\$49						
Blue Permit	Most popular- convenient parking	\$35/mo	\$35	\$35						
Gold Permit Faculty and Staff	Remote, less convenient	\$28/mo	\$28	\$28						
Red Carpool	Red Lots	\$24.50/mo	\$24.50	\$24.50	\$10	\$10	\$10			
Blue Carpool	Blue lots	\$17.50/mo	\$17.50	\$17.50						
Motorcycle Permits	All lots	\$14/mo	\$14	\$14						
Night	All Faculty/Staff/Students	\$10/mo	\$10	\$10						
Disabled	All lots and disabled spaces	\$35/mo	\$35	\$35						

UC SAN	UC SAN DIEGO MEDICAL CENTER and CAMPUS – Agreement reached on 8-7-09 and implemented										
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 Proposed Rates	2009-10 Proposed Rates	2010-11 (cap level)	2011-12 (cap level)	2012-13 (cap level)				
B Staff	Main staff permit, deducted monthly	\$81/mo	\$81/mo	\$77/mo							
Occasional Use B	Occasional Use	\$47 each	\$47 each	\$47 each	\$10*	\$15	\$20				
М	Motorcycle	\$22/mo	\$22/mo	\$21/mo	ΨΙΟ	ΨΙΟ	ΨΖΟ				
N/W	Night/Weekend	\$14.33/mo	\$14.33/mo	\$14.33/mo							
Alternate Schedule	M-W-F or T- Th-F	\$111/qtr	\$111/qtr	\$111/qtr							
Lot Specific	Reduced-price	\$55/mo	\$55/mo	\$55/mo							

^{*}The \$10 cap listed for 2010-11 shall be based on the 2008-09 benchmark rates. For example, for the B Staff permit, which in 2008-09 was \$81/month, the rates in 2010-11 shall not exceed \$91/mo.

From proposed Article 27 – Parking: UCSD and UCSDMC shall derive its FY 2010-11 rate using FY 2008-09 as the benchmark for which the FY 2010-11 rate shall not exceed.

The decreased rates (where applicable) shall be effective on September 1, 2009 for monthly paid employees, and August 19, 2009 for bi-weekly paid employees, through June 30, 2010 at which point the new parking fees shall be determined in accordance with the schedule above.

Effective September 30, 2009, for biweekly paid employees, the parties agree that where parking deductions are currently deducted on a biweekly basis, the parking deductions will be made on a monthly basis. It is understood that parking deductions will be made in alternate pay periods to any health care insurance deductions.

	UC SANTA CRUZ									
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 Proposed Rates	2009-10 Proposed Rates	2010- 11 (cap level)	2011- 12 (cap level)	2012- 13 (cap level)			
A Permit	Close-In A Lots (All permit lots except Apts.)	\$66.00/mo.	\$66.0/mo.	\$66.00/mo.						
A Permit Quarterly	Close-In A Lots (All permit lots except Apts.)	\$226.50	\$226.50	\$226.50						
Night Permit	Staff who only need to park starting at 3:30PM or after	\$8.50/mo	\$8.50/mo	\$9.25/mo						
A Carpool	Close-In A Lots& Carpool Sps (All permit lots except Apts.)	\$39.50/mo	\$39.50/mo	\$43.25/mo						
A Scratchers w/A Carpool/Vanpool (packet of 50)	Close-In A Lots(All permit lots except Apts.)	\$131.25	\$144.00	\$158.00						
A Scratchers (1/2 packet of 25)	Close-In A Lots(All permit lots except Apts.)	\$86.25	\$90.00	\$99.00	10%	10%	10%			
A Scratchers (1 st Pkt of 50)	Close-In A Lots(All permit lots except Apts.)	\$165.00	\$180.00	\$198.00						
A Scratchers (2 nd Pkt of 50)	Close-In A Lots(All permit lots except Apts.)	\$221.00	\$240.00	\$198.00						
A Scratchers (3 rd Pkt of 50)	Close-In A Lots(All permit lots except Apts.)	\$247.50	\$270.00	\$198.00						
Daily R Packets (Scratchers) 1/2 Packet of 25 permits	NEW	NEW	\$90.00	\$90.00						
R Carpool	Remote Carpool Permit	\$39.50/mo	\$39.50/mo	\$39.50/mo						
Motorcycle Permits	All Motorcycle spaces	\$16.50/mo	\$16.50/mo	\$16.50/mo						

Quarterly A 1 Day Limited Permit	Staff that work a regular schedule of 1 day per week valid in all "A" and remote parking lots on campus.	\$43.50	\$43.50	\$43.50		
Quarterly A 2 Day Limited Permit	Staff that work a regular schedule of 2 days per week valid in all "A" and remote parking lots on campus.	\$87.00	\$87.00	\$87.00		
Quarterly A 3 Day Limited Permit	Staff that work a regular schedule of 3 days per week valid in all "A" and remote parking lots on campus.	\$130.50	\$130.50	\$130.50		
Quarterly A 4 Day Limited Permit	Staff that work a regular schedule of 4 days per week valid in all "A" and remote parking lots on campus.	\$174.00	\$174.00	\$174.00		

	UC SANTA BARBARA										
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 (cap level)	2009-10 (cap level)	2010- 11 (cap level)	2011- 12 (cap level)	2012- 13 (cap level)				
"S" Annual	Annual Staff Permit	\$36 mo	\$36 mo	\$36 mo							
"S" Qtrly (Fall/Winter/Spring/Summer)	Qtrly Staff Permit	\$36 mo	\$36 mo	\$36 mo		\$10					
Motorcycle "M"	Annual Motorcycle Permit	\$4 mo (but \$0 currently per pilot program)	\$4 mo (but \$0 currently per pilot program)	\$4 mo (but \$0 currently per pilot program)	\$10 \$10		\$10				
Carpool	Annual Carpool Permit	\$18 (pilot program)	\$18 (pilot program)	\$18 (pilot program)							
Night/Weekend	Monthly Permit for Nights and Weekends	\$10 mo	\$10 mo	\$10 mo							

	UC IRVINE MEDICAL CENTER									
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 (cap level)	2009-10 (cap level)	2010- 11 (cap level)	2011-12 (cap level)	2012-13 (cap level)			
"D" or "AP/A" permit	Fac/Staff (Annual, Monthly, Daily)	\$67/mo	\$67/mo	\$67/mo						
"B" Remote	Fac/Staff (Annual, Monthly, Daily)	\$36/mo	\$36/mo	\$36/mo	\$12	\$12	\$ 12			
"CP" Car Pool	Fac/Staff (Annual, Monthly)	\$24/mo	\$24/mo	\$24/mo	φιΖ	φιΖ	φιζ			
FHC	Family Health Center	\$36/mo	\$36/mo	\$36/mo						
Medical	Disabled	\$36/mo	\$36/mo	\$36/mo						
Motorcycle	Fac/Staff (Monthly)	\$14/mo	\$14/mo	\$14/mo						

	UC IRVINE CAMPUS											
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Eff 10/1/07	2008-09 Proposed Rates	2009-10 (cap level)	2010-11 (cap level)	2011- 12 (cap level)	2012-13 (cap level)					
Commuter	Two or more consecutive months	\$48/mo	\$50/mo									
Reserved	One or more consecutive months	\$66/mo	\$68/mo									
Evening	Two or more consecutive months	\$24/mo	\$26/mo									
Motorcycle	One or more consecutive months	\$27/mo	\$28/mo	\$10	\$10	\$15	\$20					
Carpool (2 – 3 people)	Two or more consecutive months	\$6/person/ month	\$6/person/ month									
Carpool C	Two or more consecutive months	\$48/mo	No longer available									
Remote Lot	Lots CT & AV1	\$40/mo	\$40/mo									

	UC Merced									
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 Proposed Rates	2009-10 Proposed Rates	2010-11 (cap level)	2011-12 (cap level)	2012-13 (cap level)			
Staff	12 months	\$25.00/mo	\$25.00/mo	\$25.00/mo						
Motorcycle	12 months	\$20.00/mo	\$20.00/mo	\$20.00/mo	\$5	\$5	\$5			
Carpool	12 months	\$20.00/mo	\$20.00/mo	\$20.00/mo						

UC Office of the President							
Permit Name	Permit Description	2007-08 Current Rates	2008-09 Proposed Rates	2009-10 Proposed Rates	2010-11 (cap level)	2011-12 (cap level)	2012-13 (cap level)
Kaiser / Oakland	Unlimited Mo.	\$205	\$205	\$205	TBD***	TBD***	TBD***
Kaiser / Oakland	Tandem**	\$140	\$140	\$140	TBD***	TBD***	TBD***
Franklin/Oakland	Unlimited Mo.	\$120	\$128	\$128	TBD***	TBD***	TBD***

^{**} Tandem parking spaces are no longer offered; this is only available for current tandem parking spaces.

TBD*** - Rates are unknown at this time. Kaiser / Oakland and Franklin / Oakland are parking lots that are neither owned nor operated by UCOP.

Appendix F 2009 Health Plans Employee Contributions

Medical Plan Costs - \$46,000 or Less

Plan	Self	Self + Child(ren)	Self + Adult	Self + Adult + Child(ren)
Anthem Blue Cross PLUS	\$29.47	\$53.05	\$102.26	\$125.82
Anthem Blue Cross PPO	\$88.61	\$159.50	\$226.45	\$297.33
CIGNA Choice Fund	\$86.61	\$155.89	\$222.25	\$291.53
Core	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Health Net	\$19.97	\$35.95	\$82.30	\$98.28
Kaiser Permanente California	\$6.84	\$12.31	\$14.36	\$19.84
Kaiser PermanenteMid- Atlantic	\$6.84	\$12.31	\$43.71	\$44.98
Kaiser Permanente Umbrella	\$218.87	\$393.96	\$499.99	\$675.09
Western Health Advantage	\$6.84	\$12.31	\$14.36	\$19.84

Medical Plan Costs - \$46,001 to \$92,000

Plan	Self	Self + Child(ren)	Self + Adult	Self + Adult + Child(ren)
Anthem Blue Cross PLUS	\$60.68	\$109.23	\$173.51	\$222.04
Anthem Blue Cross PPO	\$119.82	\$215.68	\$297.70	\$393.55
CIGNA Choice Fund	\$117.82	\$212.07	\$293.50	\$387.75
Core	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Health Net	\$51.18	\$92.13	\$153.55	\$194.50
Kaiser Permanente California	\$38.05	\$68.49	\$85.61	\$116.06
Kaiser PermanenteMid- Atlantic	\$38.05	\$68.49	\$114.96	\$141.20
Kaiser Permanente Umbrella	\$250.08	\$450.14	\$571.24	\$771.31
Western Health Advantage	\$38.05	\$68.49	\$85.61	\$116.06

Rates shown indicate only proposed rates for union-represented employees and are subject to ongoing collective bargaining as appropriate.

Medical Plan Costs - \$92,001 to 137,000

Plan	Self	Self + Child(ren)	Self + Adult	Self + Adult + Child(ren)
Anthem Blue Cross PLUS	\$92.71	\$166.88	\$237.37	\$311.52
Anthem Blue Cross PPO	\$151.85	\$273.33	\$361.56	\$483.03
CIGNA Choice Fund	\$149.85	\$269.72	\$357.36	\$477.23
Core	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Health Net	\$83.21	\$149.78	\$217.41	\$283.98
Kaiser Permanente California	\$70.08	\$126.14	\$149.47	\$205.54
Kaiser PermanenteMid- Atlantic	\$70.08	\$126.14	\$178.82	\$230.68
Kaiser Permanente Umbrella	\$282.11	\$507.79	\$653.10	\$860.79
Western Health Advantage	\$70.08	\$126.14	\$149.47	\$205.54

Medical Plan Costs - \$137,001 or More

Plan	Self	Self + Child(ren)	Self + Adult	Self + Adult + Child(ren)
Anthem Blue Cross PLUS	\$125.87	\$226.57	\$303.52	\$404.20
Anthem Blue Cross PPO	\$185.01	\$333.02	\$427.71	\$575.71
CIGNA Choice Fund	\$183.01	\$329.41	\$423.51	\$569.91
Core	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Health Net	\$116.37	\$209.47	\$283.56	\$376.66
Kaiser Permanente California	\$103.24	\$185.83	\$215.62	\$298.22
Kaiser PermanenteMid- Atlantic	\$103.24	\$185.83	\$244.97	\$323.36
Kaiser Permanente Umbrella	\$315.27	\$567.48	\$701.25	\$953.47
Western Health Advantage	\$103.24	\$185.83	\$215.62	\$298.22

SIDE LETTER Removal of Term "non-Grievable, non-Arbitrable" from Contract Language

The University and UPTE agree that the removal of the terms "non-grievable, non-arbitrable" in Section A.2., of the Layoff and Reduction in Time article, Section B.1. in the Probationary Period Article and *B.2.b.2 in the Health and Safety Article, and Transfer/Promotion/Reclassification Section D.2., does not change or reduce the University's exclusive right to make the determinations specified in these Articles. Therefore, there is no right to grieve or arbitrate the University's determinations in those referenced sections of the named Articles.

For the University:

For UPTE:

Alarcan Hayden
Sharon Hayden
Chief Negotiator

University of California

Jelger Kalmijn Chief Negotiator

^{*} The reference to the Health and Safety Article above is currently B.3.b.2

SIDELETTER

CAMPUS GRIEVANCE RESOLUTION COMMITTEE (CRC)

PROGRAM GUIDELINES

1. General

The parties agree that a Campus Grievance Resolution Committee Program ("CRC") may be implemented at campuses, where they do not already exist. Except for the general guidelines set forth in this sideletter, the particular elements governing the CRC will be negotiated at each participating campus.

The procedures to be used by each campus CRC shall be determined by agreement between the local parties. While the CRC is intended to be an informal process, individual campuses may agree to use a formal process of testimony including, but not limited to, examination of witnesses.

2. Obligations Of Parties

The parties at each campus may meet and confer separately over the specific terms of the CRC.

3. Subject Matter Excluded From CRC Review

The parties agree that the subject matter of the grievances suitable for the CRC shall be determined by the parties at each location. CRC is not suited for grievances involving complex contractual interpretations.

4. Composition Of The CRC

Upon submission of a written grievance to the CRC, a panel composed of four members, two chosen by each side, shall be convened. To foster an impartial panel, the parties shall not select panel members from the same control unit or individuals who are involved with or have a vested interest in the outcome of the grievance. The union may only select bargaining unit employees to serve on the CRC.

5. Decisions Of CRC

The CRC has final and binding authority to adjudicate a grievance only if it reaches a unanimous decision. Such unanimous decisions by the CRC will only address the specific issues and remedies stated on the grievance form. The CRC shall issue either a unanimous decision in a written statement that sets forth the reasoning behind their decision or a written decision that the CRC failed to reach unanimous consensus. The record and findings from the CRC may not be introduced as evidence in any other proceeding.

6. Limitations On CRC's Authority And Remedy

The CRC's authority and ability to fashion a remedy shall be subject to the same limits placed on an Arbitrator authority as set forth in Article 3, sections G(1) and G(1)

7. Return To Grievance Procedures

The CRC shall lose jurisdiction over any grievance following the issuance of its decision but no later than ten (10) days after the close of the CRC meeting.

TOTALIO OTHEOLOGIC

Date

SIDELETTER University Benefits

If the University and UPTE engage in the meet and confer process outlined in the last two sentences of Article 4 – University Benefits, Section A., with regard to 1) alterations which affect only bargaining unit employees and/or 2) alterations proposed by the University which reduce the UCRS retirement benefits of bargaining unit employees, the parties understand that the meet and confer process is pursuant to HEERA.

In order to effectuate this meet and confer process the University will provide written notice to UPTE as soon as is practicable but in no event later than ninety (90) calendar days prior to the effective date of the proposed changes. Both parties agree to commence the meet and confer process within thirty (30) calendar days of the written notice.

The parties further understand that upon the conclusion of the HEERA required impasse procedures for the meet and confer process the University may impose its changes and that the contractual prohibition against strikes and concerted activities provided for in the No Strikes article shall be waived.

For the University:

Shelley Nielsen Chief Negotiator

University of California

SI Mc Wen 1/13/06

7-/0-200% Rodney Orr Date UPTE

For UPTE:

SIDE LETTER LOCAL EQUITY – EXCEPT LBNL

1. Local Equities

- a. During FY 2010-2011, the parties shall engage in systemwide negotiations regarding Local Equity Wage Adjustments for the following classifications:
 - 1) Animal Health Technicians (UCD)
 - 2) Computer Resource Specialist I (UCSD)
 - 3) Computer Resource Specialist II (UCSD)
 - 4) Senior Studio Projectionist (UCLA)
 - 5) Remote Location Allowance for Seagoing Employees (UCSD)
- b. The parties may mutually agree to add additional titles to the above list for these meetings.
- c. The total amount of funds allocated to 2010-2011 equity adjustments will be at least \$1.7 million systemwide for the RX and the TX units combined (approximately 0.5%, or one-half-percent of the 08-09 payroll for these units).
- d. No location shall be required to spend over 0.75% (three-quarters of one percent) of that location's combined RX and TX payroll on equity increases.
- e. In the event the parties do not reach agreement or the University does not spend the entire amount noted in c. above, the remaining dollars shall be added to the next across the board increase.

SIDE LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: ARTICLE 4 – UNIVERSITY BENEFITS

This side letter of understanding shall provide for an additional circumstance under which the University must provide UPTE with notice and an opportunity to bargain under Article 4 – University Benefits during the term of this contract.

Article 4 – University Benefits provides that the University may make changes to its Health and Welfare Programs and Retirement Programs without bargaining except in those defined situations in which the University is obligated to provide UPTE notice and an opportunity to bargain over specific proposed changes to the Health and Welfare programs (See Article 4, Part I, Section A.1) and the Retirement System (Article 4, Part II, Section A. and B.). For the duration of this agreement, if the University proposes major structural changes to the Health and Welfare program, retiree health insurance, or the University of California Retirement Plan, the University would be obligated to notify UPTE and UPTE may demand to bargain or may accept the changes as proposed. Such notice and demand to bargain will be handled under the same language in the Duration article as it will be for the other potential bargaining obligations under Article 4 – University Benefits mentioned above. (See Section B. of the Duration Article.)

Kevin Rooney, Chief Negotiator

UPTE-CWA Local 9119

Renee Mayne, Senior University Negotiator
University of California Office of the President

AGREEMENT

BARGAINING RELATED REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

Given that the parties either received bargaining related requests for information or that they are no longer relevant to this set of negotiations, all bargaining related information requests are considered fulfilled for 2008/2009 successor bargaining.

Renée Mayne

UC Senior University Negotiator

March 4, 2010

Kevin Rooney

UPTE Chief Negotiator

March 4, 2010

SIDE LETTER: SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT – UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICE CHARGES

LBNL IS EXCEPTED FROM THIS SIDE LETTER

SF-CE-877-H

UPTE agrees to withdraw this ULP in exchange for the following:

- Effective the first pay period following sixty (60) days from the date of ratification or 7/1/10, whichever is later; a one-time payment of \$1000 will be paid to each full-time employee who is in the RX or TX unit on the date of ratification and on the date of payout. The \$1000 payment will be pro-rated based on the appointment percentage (pre-START appointment percentage), is not base building or covered compensation for retirement, etc.
- All TX and RX employees who would have been subject to the systemwide furlough/salary reduction plan and who have not yet been temporarily laid off in relation to this program in order to effectuate the State Budget shortfall for FY 09-10, will:
 - 1. Have the opportunity to enroll in the START Plan at their location to effectuate the savings required by the system-wide furlough/salary reduction plan.
 - 2. This understanding does not cover temporary layoffs of RX and TX unit employees for reasons other than the temporary budget shortfall.
 - 3. Employees who opt to do this will begin such START reduction on the pay period following the date of ratification through 12/31/10.
 - 4. As an example, if an employee would have received a 4% reduction in pay and 11 days of furlough then the employee would need to effectuate the annual equivalent of the 4% reduction in pay through the START program. (\$40k, 4% equal to \$1600 annual savings so this would need to be spread out among the months remaining from date of ratification to 12/31/10.)

SF-CE-896-H

UPTE agrees to withdraw the portion of this ULP related to Blue Cross health plan participants. The portion related to paybands will continue through the process.

SIDELETTER

LAYOFF AND REEMPLOYMENT LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The University and UPTE agree to establish a system-wide labor management committee within 60 days of ratification of the agreement. The Committee shall jointly identify best practices in employment opportunities, job search and development resources available throughout the UC system. The Committee shall make recommendations to enhance job placement and career services, access to available UC jobs and UC job training, where feasible, for laid off UC employees. Two bargaining unit representatives will be on paid release time to attend Committee meetings. The parties will share this information through UC and UPTE channels.

Renée Mayne

UC Senior Negotiator

Kevin Rooney

UPTE Chief Negotiator

MEMORANDUM OF NEGOTIATORS

The negotiators of this proposed Collective Bargaining Agreement affix their signatures to this Memorandum of Negotiators to indicate that they have reached a tentative agreement and have concluded negotiations on the development of the proposed Collective Bargaining Agreement. They are now referring it to their respective parties for decision concerning approval.

It is understood that the Agreement is not binding unless and until both parties have executed it. The process of approval with respect to the Union will be completed when the Agreement has been reviewed and ratified by the appropriate members of the Union. On behalf of the University, the Agreement must be reviewed and approved by appropriate staff of the Office of the President.

The parties agree that when the approval process has been completed, the Agreement will become effective when the document has been signed by the authorized representatives from both parties.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA:

FOR THE UNIVERSITY PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES:

Renee Mayne
Senior Negotiator
University of California

Athena A. Buenconsejo UCOP

Maurita Ploesch UCLA

Leslie Cobb LBNL

Kerry Nare UCSD

Eveyln Hidalgo UCSD

Chief Negotiator UPTE-CWA

Kevin Rooney

Dieskau Reed UCSC

Victor Dorsett LBNL

Edgardo Vasquez UCD

Ron Greene UCLA

Tanya Smith UCB

The foregoing Agreement between the University Professional and Technical Employees and The Regents of the University of California, having been duly approved by both parties, is hereby executed by the undersigned authorized representative(s) of each party.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY **OF CALIFORNIA**

FOR UNIVERSITY PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES

Kevin Rooney Chief Negotiator

UPTE-CWA Local 9149

Den 14 3-25-10

Human Resources

3-25-10

3-<u>23-1</u>0 Gayle \$axton

Interim Director

Date

Renée Mayne Senior Negotiator

3-23-10

ACCESS	1-4
General Provisions	
Access By the Union/Union Representatives — General Provisions	1
Patient Care Areas	1
Employee Representatives	
Meeting Rooms and Bulletin Boards	
Mail Delivery	3
Access to Employee Address and Telephone Numbers	
Lawrence Berkeley National LaboratoryPrinting and Distribution of Agreement	
Telephone	
E-Mail Use	
Campus-wide New Employee Orientation	
AGREEMENT	
Purpose	
Exclusive Representative	
Employee Defined Creation of New Classifications	
Reclassification from Unit to Non-Unit Positions	
Abolition of Classifications	
7 BOILLOTT OF CIGOSITION CONTROL CONTR	
ARBITRATION	7-14
General Conditions	7-8
Time Limits	7
Initial Filing	
University Acknowledgment Of Receipt	7
Scheduling of the Hearing Date	
UPTE Request that A Grievance Be Placed In Abeyance Definitions	
"Grievant"	
"Witness"	
"Employee Representative"	
"UPTE Representative"	
"The Parties"	8
Employee Representation	
Selection of Arbitrator	
Scope of Arbitration	
Arbitration Proceeding	
Authority of the Arbitrator	
Cost of Arbitration	
Pay Status	
Expedited Arbitration	
Arbitration Panel	
Lists of Arbitrators	13-14
UNIVERSITY BENEFITS	
Health & Welfare General Conditions-Part 1	
Effect of Absences from Work On Benefits Temporary Layoff/Temporary Reduction In Time/Furlough	
Military Leave	
Leaves Of Absence Without Pay	
Enumeration of University Benefits	
Joint Benefits Committee	
Reduced Fee Enrollments	
Retirement Benefits General Conditions-Part II	
Contributions to the University of California Retirement Plan (UCRP)	
Effects of Absences From Work	
Leaves Of Absence Without Pay	
Enumeration of University Benefits	17
CAMPUS/LABORATORY CLOSURE	17 ₋ 12
General Provisions	
Pay Status	
Unpaid Status	
•	
COMPENSATION	
General Provisions	
Effective Date of Salary Increases	18

Appendix A	
Range Adjustment	
Ranges with Steps	
Ranges without Steps	
Merit Increases	
Order of Increase	
Fiscal Year 2010-2011 (except LBNL)Fiscal Year 2011-2012 (except LBNL)	
Fiscal Year 2012-2013 (except LBNL)	
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory	
Location Specific Salary Range Adjustments	
Other Increases	
Remote Location/ Sea Pay	
Incentive Award Program	
RX FY09 Salary Increase Matrix	
CORRECTIVE ACTION / DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL	22-23
General Provision	
Type of Discipline	
Investigatory Leave	
Notice of Disciplinary Actions	
Employee Response	
University Response	
DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING	
General Conditions	
Release Time and Scheduling	
Pilot Program	
Disputes	
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory	25-26
DURATION OF AGREEMENT	29
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
General Conditions	
Filing Terms/Definitions	29-30
"Grievant"	
"Other Grievance Representative"	30
"UPTE-designated Employee Representative"	31
"UPTE Representative"	31
"The Parties"	
"Witness"	31
Employee Representation	31
Time Limits	
Grievants Who Have Resigned	
Grievance Procedure - Informal Review	
Grievance Procedure - Formal Review	
Step 1	32
University ReviewSexual Harassment Complaint Resolution Procedures	
Step 2	
Step 3	
Appeals to Arbitration	
Union Grievances	
Group Grievances	
Consolidation of Grievances	
Offers of Settlement	34
Retroactivity	
Exclusive Procedure	34
Release Time and Pay Status for Grievants, Employee	04.0-
	-2/1 /2/2
Representatives, and/or Witnesses	34-30
University Convened Meetings	34-35
University Convened Meetings Exclusion of Limited Appointment Employees and Probationary Employees	34-35
University Convened Meetings Exclusion of Limited Appointment Employees and Probationary Employees Other Representation	34-35 35 35
University Convened Meetings	34-35 35 35
University Convened Meetings Exclusion of Limited Appointment Employees and Probationary Employees Other Representation	34-35 35 35
University Convened Meetings	34-35 35 35 35-36

Assignment	
Information and Tests	
Protective Clothing and Safety Equipment	
General Provisions	
Replacement	
Tools and Equipment	38
Complaints, Disputes, And Grievances	38
Compliance	38
HOLIDAYS	39-41
University Holidays	
Eligibility	39
Holiday Time / Pay	
Compensation for Holidays Not Worked	
Compensation for Holidays Worked	
Religious Observance	
Restrictions	
Major Holidays	
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory	
HOURS OF WORK	41-47
Exempt Employees	
Non-Exempt Employees	
Standard Workweek	
Standard Work Schedules	
Schedules	
Alternate Work Schedules	
Meal Periods	
Rest Periods	
Changing and Clean-up Time	
Assignment Of Overtime	
Overtime Definition	
Overtime Compensation	
Call-Back	
On-Call	
Travel Time	
General Provisions	
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory	
Lawrence Derkeley National Laboratory	44-47
INDEMNIFICATION	47
INDEMINI ICATION	
LABOR - MANAGEMENT MEETINGS	/7_/Q
Local Labor – Management Meetings	
Lipivoroity wide Labor Management Meetings	41 -4 0
University-wide Labor – Management Meetings	
Release Time	48
LAVOEE AND DEDUCTION IN TIME	40 FC
LAYOFF AND REDUCTION IN TIME	49-56
O = = = = 1 O = = = 1!#! = = =	40
General Conditions	
Definitions	49
Definitions Temporary Layoff	49 49
Definitions Temporary Layoff	49 49-50
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff	49 49-50 50
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff Indefinite Layoff	49 49-50 50
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff	49 49-50 50 50
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff. Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff Notice	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff. Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff Notice Recall	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff. Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire Preferential Rehire Termination	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff. Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire Preference and Recall)	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff. Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire Preferential Rehire Termination Reduced Severance (with Preference and Recall) Continuity of Service upon Reemployment.	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff. Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire Preference and Recall)	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire Preferential Rehire Termination Reduced Severance (with Preference and Recall) Continuity of Service upon Reemployment Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff. Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire Preferential Rehire Termination Reduced Severance (with Preference and Recall) Continuity of Service upon Reemployment. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory LEAVES FOR UNION BUSINESS General Provisions	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff. Indefinite Layoff. Alternatives to Layoff. Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire Preferential Rehire Termination Reduced Severance (with Preference and Recall) Continuity of Service upon Reemployment. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. LEAVES FOR UNION BUSINESS General Provisions. Employee Eligibility for Leave	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff. Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff. Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire Preferential Rehire Termination Reduced Severance (with Preference and Recall) Continuity of Service upon Reemployment Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory LEAVES FOR UNION BUSINESS General Provisions. Employee Eligibility for Leave Pay Status	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire Preferential Rehire Termination Reduced Severance (with Preference and Recall) Continuity of Service upon Reemployment Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory LEAVES FOR UNION BUSINESS General Provisions Employee Eligibility for Leave Pay Status Union Reimbursement	
Definitions Temporary Layoff Notice Conversion of Temporary to Indefinite Layoff. Indefinite Layoff Alternatives to Layoff. Selection for Layoff Notice Recall Preferential Rehire Preferential Rehire Termination Reduced Severance (with Preference and Recall) Continuity of Service upon Reemployment Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory LEAVES FOR UNION BUSINESS General Provisions. Employee Eligibility for Leave Pay Status	

	Reduction in Time	
	Attendance at Local Union Meetings	
	Return from Leave	58
LEAVE	ES OF ABSENCE	
	General Provisions	
	Definitions	59
	Use of Family Care and Medical Leave Entitlement	59
	Benefit Eligibility while On Leave without Pay	
	Requests for Leave	59
	Duration	
	Return to Work	
	Family Care and Medical Leave	
	Definitions	
	Parental Leave	
	Family Illness Leave	
	Family Member	60
	A Serious Health Condition For The Purposes	
	Of Family Illness Leave	
	Medical Leave	61
	An Employee's Own Serious Health Condition	61
	A Health Care Provider	61
	"1,250 Hours of Actual Service"	61
	Eligibility Criteria and Duration	
	Family Care/Medical Leave	
	Notification	
	Certification	
	For The Employee's Own Serious Health Condition	
	For The Employee's Family Member	
	Confirmation of Family Relationship	
	Questioned Medical Opinions	
	Additional Certification and/or Recertification	63-64
	Failure to Provide Complete Certification	
	and/or Recertification	64
	Return From Family Care/Medical Leave For	
	Own Health Condition	64
	Use Of Accrued Paid Leave	
	Duration	
	Hourly Conversion for Part-time Or	
	Alternatively Scheduled Employees	65
	Employee Requests for Reduced Work Schedules	65
	Alternate Assignments to Accommodate	
	Intermittent Leave or Reduced Work Schedule	G.E.
	Parental Leave	
	Requests for Parental Leave	
	Duration	
	Continuation of Health Benefits	
	Return to Work	
	Pregnancy Disability Leave	66-67
	Duration	66-67
	Duration	67
	Pregnancy Disability Leave	
	Additional Family Care Leave in the Leave Year	
	As An Alternative to Or In Addition To Pregnancy Disability Leave	
	. Reduced Work Schedule	
	Return To Work	
	Continuation of Health Benefits	
	Disability Leaves Other than FMLA/CFRA/Pregnancy	07-00
		60
	Disability Entitlement	
	Eligibility	
	Duration	
	Return To Work	
	Military Caregiver Leave	68-69
	Eligibility Criteria and Duration	
	Definitions	69
	Leave Entitlement	70
	Documentation and Certification	
	Use of Accrued Paid Leave	
	Advance Notice	
	Reinstatement	
		<i>,</i> 0

Continuation of Health Benefits	
Qualifying Exigency Leave	
Definitions	
Eligibility Leave Entitlement	
Documentation and Certification	
Use of Accrued Paid Leave	
Notice	
Reinstatement	
Continuation of Health Benefits	
Military Spouse/Domestic Partner Leave	
Eligibility	
Definitions	
Substitution of Paid Leave	
Personal Leave Of Absence Without Pay	
Leaves of Absence With Pay	
Jury Duty/Grand Jury DutyVoting	
Blood Donations	
Administrative Or Legal Proceedings	
Emergencies	
University Functions	
·	
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	75
MEDICAL SEPARATION	
General Conditions	
Proof of Disability or Other Medical Condition	
Notice of Intent to Medically Separate Employee Notice	
Re-Employment	
The Employment	
MILITARY LEAVES	77-79
General Provisions	77
Eligibility for Pay and Benefits	77-78
General Provisions	
Part-time Employee	
Ineligible Employee	
Service Credit and Benefits	/8
Temporary Military Leave For Active-Duty Training Extended Military Leave	70 70 70
Period of Leave	
Service Credit and Benefits	
Sick Leave Credit	
Probationary Employee	
Emergency National Guard Leave	
Eligibility for Pay	79
Benefits	
Physical Examination	
Reinstatement	79
MOVING EVDENCES	00
MOVING EXPENSES Policy	
Expenses To Be Paid	
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory	
Edwichoo Borkoley National Edboratory	
MULTIPLE APPOINTMENTS	80
General Provisions	
Benefits	80
NO STRIKES	80-81
NONDISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT	
General Provisions	
Sexual Harassment Defined	
Grievances Sexual Harassment Complaint Resolution Procedure	
Sexual Harassment Complaint Nesolution Procedure	62
OUT OF CLASS PAY / TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS	82

PARKING	
General Provisions	82
Local Parking Meetings	82
Parking and Transportation Rates for Fiscal Year	82-83
Parking Enforcement at LBNL	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
PAYROLL DEDUCTION	83-85
General Conditions	
Dues and Fees	
Union Dues	
Agency Fees	
Processing Payroll Deductions for Dues and Fees	
Correction of Errors	84
Other Deductions	85
Indemnification	85
PERFORMANCE EVALUATION	85-86
Definition	
Evaluation of Employees	
·	
Disputes	85-86
PERSONNEL FILES	
General Provisions	
Location of Personnel Files	86
Information in the Files	86
Employee and/or Representative Review of Personnel File(s)	86-87
Protected Information	
Grievance-Related Files	
Duplication Costs	
Dupilcation Costs	
DOOLTION O /A DROINTMENTO	07.00
POSITIONS/APPOINTMENTS	
Career Appointments	
Limited Appointments	87-88
Reassignment	88
Partial-Year Appointments	88
General Provisions	88
Pay	
Benefits	
Rehired Retirees	
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory	89
PROBATIONARY PERIOD	
General Conditions	
Transfer from Non-Career to Career Positions	90
Extension of the Probationary Period	90
Release During Probationary Period	
Disputes	
Dioputos	
REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION	04.00
General Provisions	
The Interactive Process	
Medical Documentation	
Special Selection for Other Positions	
Trial Employment	92
RELEASE TIME FOR BARGAINING	92-93
RESIGNATION/JOB ABANDONMENT	93-94
Resignation	
Final Paycheck	
Job Abandonment	94
RESPECTFUL AND FAIR TREATMENT	94
SEVERABILITY	94
SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL	95
General Provisions	
Evening and Night Shifts	
Temporary Assignment to Shift without A Differential	
remporary Assignment to Smit without A Differential	

Shift Differential When On Paid Leave	
Shift Assignments to Titles without Established Shift Differential Rates	95
SICK LEAVE	
Accumulation of Sick Leave Credit	
Sick Leave Credit Table	
Eligibility and Use of Accumulated Sick Leave	
General Provisions	
Pregnancy	
Care Of Others	
Bereavement	
Illness while On Vacation	
Sick Leave Pay	
Sick Leave Notification and Verification	
Transfer and Reinstatement of Sick Leave	98-99
Transfer/Promotion/Demotion to Positions	00
Covered By This Agreement	
Reemployment In Positions Covered By This Agreement	98-99
Transfer/Promotion/Demotion to Positions	00
Not Covered By This Agreement	
Conversion of Sick Leave on Retirement	
Catastrophic Leave	
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory	99
SUBCONTRACTING	
General Provisions	
Displacement of Employees	
Effect of Contract on Employees	100-101
TRANSFER/PROMOTION/RECLASSIFICATION	
General Provisions	
Release Time for University Interviews	
Filling Vacant Positions	
Employee Transfers/Promotions	
Movement between Positions/Reassignment and Requests for Reclassific	
Request for Classification Review	102
Salary Adjustments	103
TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT	
General Provisions	
Reimbursements	
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory	103
VACATION	
Vacation Accruals/Credit	
Eligibility	
Vacation Scheduling	
Vacation Credit Use	
Vacation Maximums	
Vacation Pay	
Transfer of Vacation Credit	
Donations for Catastrophic Leave	
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory	106
WAIVER	106
WORK-INCURRED INJURY OR ILLNESS	
General Provisions	
Extensions of Work-Incurred Injury or Illness Leave	
Return from Work-Incurred Injury or Illness Leave	
Supplemental Sick Leave and Vacation	
Extended Sick Leave	
Effect on Pay Status	
Supplemental Leave	
Extended Sick Leave	
Leave Without Pay	
Separation	
Light Duty	109

WORK RULES		109
General Provisions		109
Notice		109
Application and Grievability		
	·	
UNIFORMS		
General Provisions		
	asing and Reimbursement	
Laund	ering	110
APPENDICES	S	111-155
Λ	Dates	444 404
Appendix A:	Rates	
Appendix B: Appendix C:	LBNL Rates	
Appendix C. Appendix D:	Enumeration of Benefits	
Appendix E:	Parking	
Appendix F:	2009 Health Plans Employee Contributions	
	1 - 1, - 1	
SIDELETTERS		
Re	moval of Term "Non-Grievable, non-Arbitrable"	157
Ca	mpus Resolution Committee	158
University Benefits		159
	cal Equity Except LBNL	
	le Letter of Understanding: Article 4-University Benefits	
	reement-Bargaining Related Requests for Information	
	ttlement Agreement-Unfair Labor Practice Charges	
La	yoff and Reemployment Labor Management Committee	164
MEMORANDUM OF NEGOTIATORS		165
CONTRACT E	EXECUTION	164
INDEX		165-172